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Chairman and CEO Statement

I am pleased to announce Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s results for the full year
2023. As with all businesses, these results were achieved in a challenging
macroeconomic and geopolitical environment. Despite this external
context, at Zhaoke Ophthalmology we have remained diligently committed
to our mission and successfully achieved numerous milestones across our
focus areas.

In 2023 we began our commercialization journey and established solid
groundwork for the future launch of our blockbuster products. With
significant opportunities still on the table for eye disease treatments, we're
poised to capitalize on the insights gained from our early commercial
efforts. Our focus is to amplify our commercial capabilities across the
whole spectrum of channels, ensuring we’re at the forefront of the market.

Turning to our R&D programs, we further refined our priorities and made
solid progress with our core assets. We achieved exciting results from our
low-dose atropine clinical trial and strengthened our position in the low-
dose atropine race in China. We also finished patient enrolment for our
TABO14 Phase Il trial and completed ANDA submissions for almost all
of our glaucoma franchise as well as for Epinastine. At the same time,
our global partners continued advancing their own clinical programs,
with Vyluma, Inc.’s atropine program under FDA NDA review and Visus
Therapeutics, Inc. announcing positive results from the first Phase 111
study of its presbyopia product.
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Chairman and CEO Statement
FERITHBR RS

In addition to these accomplishments, it would be remiss of me not to
record the hurdle we encountered in the NDA process for CsA Ophthalmic
Gel. Following a series of productive consultations, the regulatory
authorities requested we provide additional supporting information. Given
the strict timetable of the NDA process, and after prudent consideration,
we decided to voluntarily withdraw our application and will resubmit
the NDA once this supplementary documentation is complete to our
satisfaction.

While inevitably disappointing, this experience has sharpened our abilities
in this critical area. The Chinese ophthalmology space has seen few NDA
applications for innovative drugs and far fewer approvals. | am confident
that our work on CsA will give Zhaoke Ophthalmology a tremendous
competitive advantage in all our future regulatory activities in China. The
enhanced, specialist capabilities we gain from it, on top of our preexisting
strength in CMC and clinical execution, will add a new strength to our
overall franchise.

Summarized below are some of the key progress we made in R&D during
2023:

- NVKOO2: Successful completion of Phase 11l Mini-CHAMP
clinical trial in China; momentum building for NDA submission
In October 2023 we announced positive top-line results from our
China-based, one-year phase Il clinical trial of NVK0O02 (Mini-
CHAMP). The results demonstrate strong safety and efficacy for
NVKOO2 as a potential treatment for the progression of myopia in
children. China CHAMP, our two-year phase Ill clinical study, is
now well progressed through the study period with good patient
compliance. NVKO0OO2 displays strong potential to improve the
quality of life for the hundreds of millions of children in China
currently suffering from myopia. Our US partner, Vyluma, continues
to progress its NDA with the US FDA. We have submitted NDA
documents to NMPA. Due to the issuance of new policies and
regulations regarding the relevant registration classification by the
relevant regulator in China, we are currently awaiting the detailed
rules of relevant acceptance and registration guidelines.

- Cyclosporine A (CsA) Ophthalmic Gel: Progressing China NDA
and overseas efforts
In January 2023 we announced that CsA, an innovative gel we are
developing to treat DED, had passed on-site regulatory and clinical
trial inspections and GMP review. As described above, we later took
the decision to temporarily withdraw the NDA in order to make some
adjustments and address questions that surfaced during the CDE
review process. We plan to re-file an updated submission later this
year. Simultaneously, we continued our efforts to explore overseas
opportunities for CsA. We had both the type C meetings and type
D meetings with FDA during the year that has resulted in a clear
clinical pathway for registration in US. Meanwhile, we have been
exploring regulatory pathways for adjacent Asian markets.
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Chairman and CEO Statement

- BRIMOCHOL: Positive top-line data from US trial announced;
successful IND application to NMPA
Just after the Reporting Period, in January 2024, our IND application
for BRIMOCHOL for the treatment of presbyopia in China was
approved by the NMPA. It follows the announcement in April from
our US partner, Visus Therapeutics, of positive topline results from
its Phase |11 pivotal BRIO-I trial.

- TABO14: Completion of patient recruitment for the ongoing
Phase 111 trial
In September 2023, we completed patient enrolment ahead of
schedule for the Phase Il clinical trial of TABO14, designed for the
treatment of wAMD. TABO14 is our first innovative drug focusing on
back-of-the-eye disease to have entered Phase 11l trial. Last patient
out is on track to happen in the early fall of 2024.

- ZKYO0O01: Completion of Phase 11 clinical trials; selection of
indication for Phase 111 clinical trials
ZKYO0O01 is an in-house developed drug with broad applications in
corneal wound healing. Following promising results from Phase 11
trials which finished in 2022, the Company selected the indication of
transepithelial photorefractive keratectomy (“TPRK”) to enter Phase
111 trials. This will focus on the treatment of CED after eye surgery.

- Generics: Filed ANDA submissions for seven generic drugs for
glaucoma as well as for Epinastine
In 2023, we filed ANDA applications for Bimatoprost, Travoprost,
Travoprost Timolol, Latanoprost and Latanoprost Timolol. We also
filed ANDA application for Epinastine targeting allergic conjunctivitis
in February 2024. Now our focus will turn to regulatory engagement
and targeted ANDA approvals.

In 2023, Zhaoke Ophthalmology transformed from a pure R&D
organization to a commercial pharmaceutical company. Sales
of Bimatoprost Timolol, our first approved drug, helped Zhaoke
Ophthalmology record its first meaningful revenue, as did its 21541®-series
eye patches sold on the Company’s flagship Tmall and JD stores. We also
acquired Eyprotor, an ophthalmic drug, from Lee’s Pharm during the year
to enrich our commercial portfolio.

During 2023, we improved and refined our digital engagement. We
continued to promote our online sales on Tmall and JD Health, and to
amplify our presence on social media. Channels such as Little Red Book
provide us with a firm foundation to increase direct consumer engagement
and enhance brand awareness. Our WeChat account, Zhaoke Boshi, is
proving itself a highly influential online ophthalmologist community that
allows us to build relationships with KOLs and ophthalmologists in China.
Its follower base now numbers over 15,000, representing close to half of
the ophthalmologist community in China.
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Chairman and CEO Statement
FERITHBR RS

In 2023, we made the first, critical steps in developing a global presence.
We announced three distribution deals to bring our drugs to South Korea
and Malaysia, in addition to continuing our dialog with the FDA regarding
CsA, as mentioned earlier. We also started to establish a presence in
Thailand via select partnership and development. Globally, awareness of
eye disease is increasing and the lack of suitable treatments is becoming
more and more apparent in many countries. At the same time, we are
more convinced than ever of the quality of our asset portfolio and the
broad potential it holds. As a result, we intend to accelerate our efforts in
2024.

Looking forwards, 2024 will be a critical year for Zhaoke Ophthalmology
with important milestones expected across our key focus areas.

In particular, we look forward to reporting progress on the following during
2024:

- NVKOO2: We expect to make progress with our NDA submissions
for both 0.01% and 0.02% doses in China. Meanwhile, our China
CHAMP study is expected to achieve last person out this summer.
We continue to position ourselves to be a leader in the China
market.

- CsA Ophthalmic Gel: We are targeting a resubmission date for our
NDA later this year.

- BRIMOCHOL PF: We anticipate starting Phase | and Phase Il
trials in China. The completion of Brio-Il, the second pivotal Phase
111 study being conducted in the U.S. by our partner Visus, is also
expected this year.

- TABO14: Last patient out is expected in the early fall with an NDA
submission thereafter.

- Glaucoma: The components of our glaucoma franchise,
currently comprising seven drugs and one device for home-use
IOP measurement, are all now either in ANDA review or at the
commercial stage. We expect Bimatoprost to receive approval during
this year.

- Epinastine: With the completion of the Phase Il clinical trial
and ANDA filing for Epinastine, an antihistamine targeting allergic
conjunctivitis with anti-inflammatory and mast cell stabilization
properties, we now turn our focus to the regulatory review process
for this asset.

During 2024, we will also continue making significant progress in our
commercial activities. In addition to building sales volume, this year we
will continue preparations for future blockbuster product launches by
enhancing Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s brand equity and refining our omni-
channel approach.
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Chairman and CEO Statement

At the same time, we are allocating resources to accelerate our efforts
in overseas markets. Having established partnerships in South Korea
in 2023, we intend to continue our efforts in building our presence in
Southeast Asia and assess the potential for activities in Australia.

Operationally, we will continue to exercise rigorous control over our cash
expenditures, optimize resource allocation, and take all prudent steps
to mitigate any financial and business risks presented by the external
business environment. At the end of 2023, we have a cash balance of
approximately RMB1.5 billion, which affords us a comfortable runway to
complete our key programs and reach the key inflection point of positive
cashflow.

The year of 2023 has proven our resilience whilst giving us much valuable
experience. We are excited about the possibilities that lie ahead and stand
better prepared than ever to face whatever challenges await us. With a
steadfast commitment to tackling eye disease globally, we will continue
to diligently execute our proven strategies while actively adapting to the
ever-changing market landscape. Thank you to all our Shareholders and
employees for being a part of our journey. | look forward to sharing with
you all the important progress we will make in the coming year.
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Operation Highlights
SERE

OVERVIEW

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is a leading ophthalmic pharmaceutical
company dedicated to the research, development, manufacture and
commercialization of therapies that address significant unmet medical
needs.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s portfolio of innovative and generic assets
spans major diseases affecting both the front- and back-of-the-eye. In
constructing this portfolio, our goal has been to strike a delicate balance
between serving as a comprehensive “one-stop solution provider” for
physicians, and concentrating resources on areas with the most substantial
unmet needs and commercial opportunities. Notably, we stand as the sole
ophthalmology company in China with advanced programs (Phase 11l or
later) addressing all three of the most prevalent front-of-the-eye diseases:
DED, myopia, and presbyopia.

Our primary emphasis is on delivering high-quality products to fulfill
the unmet needs of patients and ophthalmologists. Additionally, we are
dedicated to fostering innovation through a multi-faceted and digitally-
enabled business model. Whilst Greater China remains as our primary
focus in terms of geography, we have started expanding our footprint in
selected country markets beyond. Recognizing our social responsibilities,
we also strive to address the pressing need for increased public awareness
of eye disease, its detection and treatment solutions.

With a firm commitment to becoming a leader in ophthalmology, both

in China and on a global scale, we have made substantial strides in
advancing our key clinical programs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

-~

\S 2023 was the year in which we recognized sales revenue for
the first time: In 2023, we recorded total revenue of RMB18.8
million, of which RMB4.7 million was derived from sales of
ophthalmic drugs (including Bimatoprost Timolol and Eyprotor), and
RMB8.4 million was from sales of OTC ophthalmic products (f&f3{®
series heat compress eyepatches). In addition, we recorded revenue
of RMB5.6 million in payments from our distribution deal outside of
China.

We successfully launched our first pharmaceutical product,
Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop, in China: We launched
Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop #4 Ul % ® upon obtaining regulatory
approval in February 2023. Since it is not covered by National
Reimbursement Drug List (NDRL), the primary focus for us with this
product has been to get it into as many private hospitals as possible.
In addition to traditional offline channels, the eye drop is available
on JD Health, an e-commerce healthcare platform.

@)

Our NVKOO2 treatment for myopia successfully concluded its
first Phase 111 clinical trial in China while the second Phase
111 clinical trial is ongoing: In August 2023, the one-year Phase
111 clinical trial for both 0.01% and 0.02% concentration of NVK0O02
in China (“Mini-CHAMP”) completed its last patient last visit. In
October, we announced the positive top-line results from Mini-
CHAMP, which successfully met its primary efficacy endpoint with
both doses of 0.01% and 0.02%. NVKO0OO2 achieving statistically and
clinically meaningful differences versus placebo in terms of slowing
myopia progress in the study population. We have submitted
NDA documents to NMPA. Due to the issuance of new policies and
regulations regarding the relevant registration classification by the
relevant regulator in China, we are currently awaiting the detailed
rules of relevant acceptance and registration guidelines.

@)

BRIMOCHOL PF and Carbachol PF obtained regulatory
approval to initiate clinical trials in China: Just after the
Reporting Period, in January 2024, we received approval from the
NMPA to start clinical trials for BRIMOCHOL PF and Carbachol PF
in China. BRIMOCHOL PF and Carbachol PF are innovative drugs
for presbyopia that we jointly develop with our U.S. partner Visus
Therapeutics Inc. (“Visus”), a clinical-stage U.S. pharmaceutical
company focused on developing innovative ophthalmic therapies.
In April 2023, Visus announced positive topline results from its first
Phase 111 pivotal BRIO-I trial.

@)

The patient recruitment process for the Phase 111 clinical
trial of TABO14 was successfully completed: In September
2023, we announced the completion, ahead of schedule, of patient
recruitment to the trial of our innovative drug for wWAMD. As a result,
TABO14 became our first innovative drug focusing on back-of-the-
eye diseases to enter Phase Il trial.

@)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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@ We filed six more ANDA submissions for our generic drugs,
including five addressing glaucoma and one for Epinastine: In
2023, we successfully submitted ANDAs for five more drugs in our
generic glaucoma franchise: Bimatoprost, Travoprost, Travoprost
Timolol, Latanoprost and Latanoprost Timolol. After the Reporting
Period, in February 2024, we submitted ANDA for Epinastine
targeting allergic conjunctivitis.

.‘\

\;/ Strategic partnerships were established in South Korea,

Malaysia and Thailand, further expanding our global
presence: In March 2023, we started building our presence in other
parts of Asia by entering into a distribution and supply agreement
for NVKOO2 with Kwangdong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“KDP”), a
leading Korean pharmaceutical company. We then deepened our
relationship with KDP by reaching another distribution and supply
agreement for BRIMOCHOL PF, as we announced in January 2024. In
early March 2024, we extended our footprint to Malaysia by reaching
a distribution and supply agreement with the leading Malaysian
pharmaceutical group, Pharmaniaga Logistics Sdn. Bhd., for
Bimatoprost Timolol. Also in March 2024, we finalized a distribution
agreement with TRB Chemedica (Thailand) Ltd. (“TRB Thailand”),
an affiliate of TRB Chemedica, a Swiss pharma and biotechnology
company, to distribute one of our Company’s products in Thailand.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Pipeline Strategy

Zhaoke Ophthalmology has established a comprehensive asset portfolio
of innovative and generic drugs that address major eye diseases across
both the front- and back-of-the-eye including DED, myopia, presbyopia,
WAMD/DME and glaucoma. In some areas, we have chosen multiple drug
candidates to address these diseases, as we believe this is the best way to
treat their multiple and complex underlying causes.

Innovative Drugs
Our Company has a number of key, and potentially blockbuster, innovative

drugs which we expect to move through the pipeline during the next few
years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

NVKOOZ (low dose atropine) for Myopia (partnered with
Vyluma)

Overview

To date, low concentration atropine has been widely studied and
demonstrated to be effective in myopia progression control among
children and adolescents. Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s NVKOO2 is currently
positioned as a second-to-market clinically-proven pharmaceutical
products for treating the progression of myopia in China, potentially with
two concentrations: 0.01% and 0.02%.

- This treatment has a proprietary formulation that successfully
addresses the instability of low-concentration atropine. It has patent
protection in both the U.S. and China, and is preservative-free with
an expected shelf life of over 24 months.

- Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s licensing partner for NVK0OO2 is Vyluma
Inc. (“Vyluma”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of U.S.-based Nevakar,
Inc., a pharmaceutical company focused on developing innovative
products in injectable and ophthalmic space and one of our licensing
partners. Vyluma has successfully completed its Phase 11l clinical
trial for NVKOO2 across the U.S. and Europe. This involved nearly
600 children and adolescents over a three-year study and one year
observation period.

- Zhaoke Ophthalmology has two Phase 111 clinical trials for NVKOO2 in
China: the Mini-CHAMP, and a two-year Phase 111 clinical trial (“China
CHAMP”).

- The Mini-CHAMP trial involved 16 centers and 526 patients, and
was led by Principal Investigators Professor Qu Xiao Mei, from the
Eye and ENT Hospital of Fudan University, and Professor Yang Xiao,
from the Zhongshan Ophthalmic Center of Sun Yat-Sen University.
The China CHAMP trial involves 18 centers and 777 patients, and is
led by Professor Wang Ning Li from Beijing Tongren Hospital as the
Principal Investigator.

Updates during the Reporting Period

- Our Company completed the last patient last visit for Mini-CHAMP on
August 3, 2023 and announced positive topline results from the trial
in October 2023. These demonstrate strong safety and efficacy for
NVKOO2 as a potential treatment for the progression of myopia in
children. The trial successfully met its primary efficacy endpoint with
doses of both 0.01% and 0.02%.

- In March 2023, we entered into a distribution and supply agreement
for NVKOO2 with KDP, a leading Korean pharmaceutical company.

- Under the terms of the agreement, KDP was granted exclusive
rights to import, promote, distribute, market and sell NVK002
in South Korea.
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- We have submitted NDA documents to NMPA. Due to the issuance
of new policies and regulations regarding the relevant registration
classification by the relevant regulator in China, we are currently
awaiting the detailed rules of relevant acceptance and registration
guidelines.

- Meanwhile, following FDA’s acceptance of an NDA for NVKOO2 in
June 2023, our partner Vyluma continued to progress the regulatory
approval process in the U.S.

CsA Ophthalmic Gel for DED (self-developed)
Overview

CsA Ophthalmic Gel is an innovative drug being developed by Zhaoke
Ophthalmology for the treatment of DED.

- It is a single, daily dose hydrogel which eliminates daytime
administration and the associated discomfort and inconvenience. As
such, it aims to dramatically improve patients’ treatment compliance
and quality of life.

- The proprietary hydrogel formulation is protected by patent approval
in China and internationally. This novel formulation enhances the
pharmacokinetic profiles of CsA on the ocular surface, allowing
efficacy similar to that of Cyclosporine A products currently available
for DED. However, unlike current treatments, CsA Ophthalmic Gel’'s
unique formulation stays on the eye for longer, requiring only once-
a-day dosing, compared with twice-a-day dosing for traditional
products.

- In our Phase Ill clinical trial, the treatment also showed faster onset
of action by demonstrating efficacy at around the two-week time
period. By contrast, other CsA drugs often take around seven to
eight weeks to display onset of action.

Updates during the Reporting Period

- On January 31, 2023, Zhaoke Ophthalmology announced that CsA
Ophthalmic Gel had passed the NMPA’s on-site regulatory and
clinical trial inspections, as well as the GMP assessment conducted
by the Guangdong Medical Products Administration.

- However, following several rounds of communication, the CDE
requested additional information to support our NDA. It was
apparent to us that we would require more time to complete this
request than available through the statutory supplementary material
process. As a result, and acting out of an abundance of caution, we
took the prudent decision to voluntarily withdraw our NDA, in order
to focus on compiling the required documentation in as complete a
way as possible. We anticipate resubmitting the NDA in later 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

- Simultaneously, we continued our efforts to explore overseas
opportunities for CsA Ophthalmic Gel, including ongoing discussions
with the FDA regarding an IND filing. We had both the type C
meetings and type D meetings with FDA during 2023 that has
resulted in a clear clinical pathway for registration in U.S. Meanwhile,
we have been exploring regulatory pathways for adjacent Asian
markets.

BRIMOCHOL PF and Carbachol PF (partnered with Visus)

Overview

BRIMOCHOL PF and Carbachol PF are pupil-modulating eye drops designed
to be once-daily, preservative-free therapeutics to correct the loss of near
vision associated with presbyopia.

- BRIMOCHOL PF is a fixed-dose combination of carbachol (a
cholinergic agent) and brimonidine tartrate (an alpha-2 agonist).
Carbachol PF is a proprietary, preservative-free formulation of
carbachol monotherapy. Both investigational therapies reduce the
size of the pupil resulting in a “pinhole effect” so that only centrally-
focused light rays are able to enter the eye, thereby sharpening both
near and intermediate images.

- Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s licensing partner for BRIMOCHOL PF and
Carbachol PF is Visus. Visus is currently conducting Phase 111 pivotal
trials.

Updates during and after the Reporting Period

- In April 2023, Visus announced positive topline results from its
Phase 111 pivotal BRIO-I trial. BRIMOCHOL PF successfully met the
pre-specified visual acuity primary endpoints for both the U.S. and
EU/UK against its active comparators carbachol and brimonidine. In
the trial, BRIMOCHOL PF demonstrated significant results in near
and distance binocular visual acuity at multiple timepoints over
carbachol and brimonidine.

- Over eight hours, BRIMOCHOL PF achieved highly statistically
significant near vision improvements and was well-tolerated.

- An additional Phase 11l safety and efficacy trial, BRIO-II, is
currently in progress, with the results expected to be disclosed
in 2024.

- On January 24, 2024, we announced that the IND applications of

BRIMOCHOL PF and Carbachol PF had been approved by the NMPA.

- On January 29, 2024, we announced that Zhaoke Ophthalmology
entered into a distribution and supply agreement with KDP.
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. Under the terms of the agreement, KDP was granted exclusive
distribution rights for BRIMOCHOL PF in South Korea. These
include obtaining the relevant local drug registrations, as well
as importing, promoting, distributing, marketing and selling
the drug on an exclusive basis.

- In February 2024, we signed an amendment to our previous
agreement with Visus to expand our licensed territories to Hong
Kong, Macau, Taiwan, Australia, New Zealand, Saudi Arabia, the
United Arab Emirates, Qatar, Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman, in addition
to mainland China, South Korea and the ASEAN countries (Brunei,
Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines,
Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam).

TABO14 (Bevacizumab) for wAMD (partnered with TOT
BIOPHARM)

Overview

TABO14 is the first clinical-stage bevacizumab-based antibody indicated
for wAMD in China. Bevacizumab is a clinically-validated, anti-VEGF
drug. Globally, bevacizumab is approved for oncology treatment through
intravenous infusion. However, there has been increasing off-label usage
of bevacizumab via intravitreal injection for the treatment of wAMD.

- The Phase I11 clinical trial of TABO14 is a randomized, double-blind,
and non-inferiority study. The main objective of the study is to
evaluate the change from baseline in best corrected visual acuity
(BCVA) at week 52 in a TABOl1l4-treated subject group compared
with the Lucentis®-treated subject group.

- The study involves up to approximately 60 centers and a total of
488 patients and is led by Professor Chen Youxin from Peking Union
Medical College Hospital as the Principal Investigator.

Updates during the Reporting Period

- On September 16, 2023, we completed patient recruitment for the
Phase 111 clinical trial of TABO14, ahead of schedule.

ZKY001 (self-developed)

Overview

ZKYO001 is a seven-amino acid peptide derived from the functional
fragment of Thymosin B4 that binds actin, a type of protein that plays a

central role in cell structure and movement.

- ZKYO0O01 has broad applications in the healing of corneal wounds and
can potentially be used in multiple corneal repair indications.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

- Zhaoke Ophthalmology has conducted Phase Il clinical trials and
an investigator-initiated trial of ZKY0O01 for multiple potential
indications, including CED, TPRK, pterygium (a growth in the cornea
or the conjunctiva), and NK.

Updates during the Reporting Period

- Following analysis of the results across these studies, our research
and clinical teams chose to focus on TPRK, specifically the treatment
of CEDs after eye surgery, as the indication for ZKYOO1 to advance
into Phase 111 trials.

- Once approved for a first indication, we believe the adoption of
ZKYO0O01 will expand quickly into other corneal repair applications.

Generic drugs

We follow a balanced approach in designing our drug pipeline,
encompassing both innovative drugs and generic drugs. The market
potential for the management and treatment of ocular disease in China is
unmatched globally. Generic drugs address a substantial portion of current
ophthalmic medical needs in China. From a market demand perspective,
our generic pipeline complements our innovative pipeline and positions us
to provide total solutions to ophthalmologists and patients.

- Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop #Jl=® is a drug researched, developed
and manufactured by Zhaoke Ophthalmology for the treatment of
glaucoma. In February 2023 it obtained marketing approval from
the NMPA, and as a result became our first drug approved for
commercialization. The first prescription was written on March 8,
2023 in Guangzhou.

- In May 2023, we also launched Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop &l =®
on the JD Health ecommerce platform to extend its customer reach.

- The launch of Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop & Il =® signifies not just
the commencement of a new phase for Zhaoke Ophthalmology as a
business entity, but also enhances our Company’s brand presence in
the Chinese ophthalmic market.

. Throughout the Reporting Period, we also filed ANDA submissions
for five of our generic drugs addressing glaucoma: Bimatoprost,
Travoprost, Travoprost Timolol, Latanoprost and Latanoprost
Timolol. We anticipate obtaining approvals sequentially from the
CDE over the next two years.

- The last patient last visit for Epinastine HCl was completed on
September 28, 2023. Following completion of the trial, we submitted
an ANDA for Epinastine HCI in China in February 2024.
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WARNING UNDER RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING RULES: WE
MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP AND MARKET OUR
DRUG CANDIDATES SUCCESSFULLY.

Manufacturing

Zhaoke Ophthalmology’s facility in Guangdong provides our Company
with the strategic advantage of a fully in-house manufacturing capability.
State-of-the-art equipment and machinery sourced from leading global
manufacturers are utilized for processes such as production, dosing,
filling, and packaging, at all times following stringent quality assurance
measures. The facility, which spans approximately 7,600 sq.m., adheres
to the highest international standards and complies with the requirements
of major global regulators, including the NMPA, FDA and the EMA.

Currently equipped with four manufacturing lines, the facility is ready
for mass production. Following the NMPA marketing approval granted in
February 2023, we manufacture our Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop & I #4E®
there.

Commercialization

The year of 2023 marked the beginning of a new chapter for Zhaoke
Ophthalmology with the launch of our first approved drug in February
2023, Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop &JIZ=®. In November 2023, we also
acquired the commercial rights to Eyprotor from Lee’s Pharm, as we
believe in the complementary nature of this product with our pipeline
in tissue healing, as well as its potential for improving our commercial
capabilities in preparation for the planned growth in commercialization
activities. As our R&D organization works tirelessly to advance our
products through late-stage clinical trials and regulatory approvals, the
sales and marketing organization’s focus has been to initiate sales ramp
up and expand hospital coverage while keeping the size of the team
relatively small. By the close of 2023, our sales and marketing team had
a total of 71 individuals. This team now has direct coverage of over 1,200
hospitals, including most top tier public and private hospitals.

At the same time, our comprehensive omni-channel approach continues
to drive sales growth and strengthen our brand reputation in the Chinese
ophthalmic market. In particular, we focused on a number of new digital
initiatives during 2023. These include the launch of our Bimatoprost
Timolol eye drop & Jl % ® on JD Health in May 2023, an e-commerce
healthcare platform for pharmaceutical products. This complements our
Tmall flagship store, launched in August 2022 as a sales venue for our
21341® series eye patches. This series consists of a £/51® heat compress
eyepatch, an approved Class Il medical device for people with mild DED,
and a #/51® far infrared eye heat compress, a Class 1l medical device to
improve pseudo myopia and visual fatigue in adolescents and children.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

We also expanded our social media activities to include Little Red Book,
using this high-profile platform to promote understanding of eye health
issues. Initiatives such as this enable our Company to build awareness
of eye disease and the Zhaoke Ophthalmology brand directly amongst
consumers, laying a solid foundation for the future launch of our major
drugs.

Complementing these commercial efforts is Zhaoke Boshi ( Jk & 1& 18 ),
our innovative, content-driven platform on WeChat targeting medical
professionals. During 2023, it continued to serve as a preferred
space for prominent ophthalmology KOLs to share insights and foster
discussions within the broader Chinese ophthalmic community. It has
expanded continuously since launch and now has over 15,000 followers,
representing nearly half the ophthalmologist community in China. Zhaoke
Boshi’s success strengthens our position as a trusted partner for Chinese
ophthalmologists and reinforces our leadership in this specialized field.

Additionally, we established a strategic partnership in August 2023 with
Eyebright Medical, a Beijing-based pharmaceutical company focused on
the R&D, manufacturing and commercialization of ophthalmic medical
devices. We will have comprehensive collaborations in the ophthalmology
field and explore opportunities to R&D and commercialize ophthalmic
products together, as well as promote our products in eye hospitals,
ophthalmic clinics, vision centers, and other terminal channels, in order to
achieve a mutually beneficial goal by leveraging both companies’ edges
and strengths.

R&D

As a pharmaceutical company, R&D remains center to our growth. During
the Reporting Period, we made significant R&D progress across our asset
portfolio.

In August 2023, NVK002, our innovative treatment for myopia progression
control, completed the last patient last visit for its one-year Phase III
clinical trial, Mini-CHAMP. In October 2023, we announced the positive
topline results from Mini-CHAMP. Mini-CHAMP successfully met its primary
efficacy endpoint with both doses of 0.01% and 0.02%. NVKO002 achieving
statistically and clinically meaningful differences versus placebo in terms
of slowing myopia progress in the study population, demonstrating strong
safety and efficacy for NVKOO2 as a potential treatment for the progression
of myopia in children.

In September 2023, we also announced the completion of patient
recruitment for the Phase Il trials of TABO14, our innovative drug for
WAMD, and Epinastine HCI, our epinastine eye drop for the treatment of
allergic conjunctivitis. The last patient last visit in the Epinastine HCI trial
was completed the same month, following which we submitted an ANDA
for the drug in China in February 2024.
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Throughout the Reporting Period, we also filed ANDA submissions for five
generic drugs addressing glaucoma, including Bimatoprost, Travoprost,
Travoprost Timolol, Latanoprost and Latanoprost Timolol. In January 2024,
our IND applications for BRIMOCHOL PF and Carbachol PF, innovative eye
drops for presbyopia, were approved by the NMPA.

Our R&D team boasts a proven track record and is led by an international
management team with decades of collective industry experience in
global biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. As at the end
of the Reporting Period, our R&D team comprised approximately 100
professionals.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our R&D expenses were
RMB333.1 million, an increase of approximately 12.4% from RMB296.4
million in the year ended December 31, 2022.

Partnerships and Globalization Efforts

Throughout 2023 and after the Reporting Period, Zhaoke Ophthalmology
continued to explore partnership and collaboration opportunities with
leading domestic and international pharmaceutical firms and research
institutions.

We have made critical strides towards establishing a global presence and
taking our products outside China. In March 2023, we signed a distribution
and supply agreement with KDP. Under the terms of the agreement,
Zhaoke Ophthalmology grants KDP exclusive rights to import, promote,
distribute, market and sell NVK0OO2 in South Korea.

Just after the Reporting Period, in the first quarter of 2024, we concluded
a number of additional licensing partnerships in South Korea, Malaysia and
Thailand.

On January 29, 2024, Zhaoke Ophthalmology announced Zhaoke
Ophthalmology entered into a second strategic partnership with KDP for
BRIMOCHOL PF. Under the terms of the agreement, Zhaoke Ophthalmology
is entitled to grant exclusive distribution rights for BRIMOCHOL PF to KDP
in South Korea. Also under the terms, KDP will obtain, on behalf of Zhaoke
Ophthalmology, the relevant local drug registrations, as well as import,
promote, distribute, market and sell the product on an exclusive basis.

On March 5, 2024, we announced our expansion into Malaysia through
a distribution and supply agreement for Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop
g2 Ul = ®, with Pharmaniaga Logistics Sdn. Bhd. (“Pharmaniaga”), one
of Malaysia’s largest integrated pharmaceutical groups. Under the terms
of the agreement, Pharmaniaga is granted the non-exclusive right to
register, import, promote, market, sell and distribute Bimatoprost Timolol
eye drop &Vl =® in Malaysia. This is our first overseas distribution deal for

an in-house developed drug.
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On March 15, 2024, our Company finalized a distribution agreement with
TRB Thailand. The agreement grants TRB Thailand the right to distribute,
promote, market and sell EyeGiene® reusable eyemasks in Thailand. Its
agreement with TRB Thailand represents further growth of our Company’s
footprint in the strategically important Southeast Asian market.

Furthermore, we have been actively seeking collaborations with
excellent companies to enrich our product portfolio and establish more
comprehensive and efficient sales channels. In June 2023, our Company
entered into an exclusive license, supply and distribution agreement
with Eyedetec Medical, Inc. (“Eyedetec Medical”), a leading U.S.-based
company specializing in medical devices for the treatment of DED and
meibomian gland dysfunction. Under the terms of the agreement, Eyedetec
Medical grants Zhaoke Ophthalmology exclusive rights to register, import,
promote, distribute, market and sell the Eye Lipid Mobilizer™, a medical
device that is designed to treat DED and meibomian gland dysfunction, in
Greater China, South Korea and the ASEAN countries.

Separately in August 2023, Zhaoke Ophthalmology established a strategic
partnership with Eyebright Medical (Beijing) Co., Ltd, a Beijing-based
pharmaceutical company focusing on the R&D, manufacturing and
commercialization of ophthalmic medical devices. Our Company and
Eyebright Medical will jointly explore opportunities to research, develop
and commercialize ophthalmic products, including promotion of some of
our products in eye hospitals, ophthalmic clinics, vision centers and other
channels.

Environment, Social and Governance (“ESG”)

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is dedicated to fostering the development of a
sustainable healthcare industry in China. We conscientiously monitor
the environmental and social impact of our operations, implementing
measures to enhance the sustainability of our business.

Our overarching mission is to enhance global visual health, aligning with
our broader social responsibilities. In 2023, we continued our efforts to
promote educational activities aimed at increasing public awareness of eye
disease, through our Zhaoke Boshi WeChat account as well as through
specific campaigns.

For example, in March 2023 during World Glaucoma Awareness Week,
we engaged well-known ophthalmologists in online education programs
designed to enhance public awareness of glaucoma screening and
treatment. Subsequently, in celebration of China’s National Eye Care Day
on June 6, 2023, we conducted in-person educational seminars. These
seminars focused on public education about eye health and included the
distribution of eye patches to consumers, receiving positive feedback from
the audience.
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Our commitment to our community is paralleled by our dedication to our
people. Recognizing that our vision can only be realized by supporting
our colleagues in their personal development, we place great emphasis
on creating a diverse, supportive, and rewarding work environment. Over
the past 12 months, we expanded our HR initiatives, introducing a tiered
mentorship scheme, an apprenticeship program, and a rotational program
to provide high-performing individuals the opportunity to gain insights into
different aspects of the business. In addition, our HR and IT departments
are collaborating to produce a large amount of digital educational content
for the benefit of our employees.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology is committed to transparency and compliance,
and discloses our ESG performance annually in our ESG report. In April
2023, we published our third ESG report to enhance our stakeholders’
understanding of our current strategy regarding socially responsible
practices.

FUTURE AND OUTLOOK

In the face of ongoing macroeconomic uncertainties, Zhaoke
Ophthalmology is steadfastly committed to our focused areas and expects
to achieve significant progress in our key programs over 2024.

We expect to complete the last patient last visit of China CHAMP in
the summer of 2024. This is the two-year Phase Ill clinical trial for
our innovative myopia drug NVKO0OO2. Its completion will mark another
milestone for this potential blockbuster drug. We also anticipate the
completion of the last patient visit in the Phase Il study for the wAMD-
targeted TABO14 in early fall of 2024. An NDA submission is expected to
follow thereafter.

Meanwhile, having received regulatory approval in January 2024, we
will initiate a clinical trial for BRIMOCHOL PF and Carbachol PF, potential
innovative treatments for presbyopia, later in 2024 in China. We also plan
to re-file the NDA submission in 2024 for our self-developed innovative
drug for DED, CsA Ophthalmic Gel.

Turning to our generic franchise, where we have submitted ANDAs for
the majority of our generic drugs for glaucoma, we expect to receive
regulatory approvals sequentially in the next couple of years, with
Bimatoprost expected first in 2024.

We have substantially strengthened our commercialization capabilities
through refining our omni-channel approach and enhancing our brand
equity. Both will be critical in supporting successful launches of our
potential blockbuster drugs in China and globally.

We are focused on building a sustainable business with operations
in China, the wider Asian region and elsewhere in the world. Having
successfully secured out-licensing agreements in South Korea, Malaysia
and Thailand, we are actively exploring other opportunities in Southeast
Asia and evaluating potential activities in Australia. At the same time,
we continue to actively assess the potential for an IND filing for CsA
Ophthalmic Gel in the U.S.
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Operationally, we will continue to exercise rigorous control over our cash
expenditures, optimize resource allocation, and take all prudent steps
to mitigate any financial and business risks presented by the external
business environment. At the end of 2023, we have a cash balance of
approximately RMB1.5 billion, which affords us a comfortable runway to
complete our key programs and reach the key inflection point of positive
cashflow.

2023 marked the beginning of a new chapter for Zhaoke Ophthalmology,
proving our resilience whilst providing us with invaluable experience
through program advances as well as temporary setbacks. Looking
forward to the rest of 2024, we are excited about the opportunities in
the ophthalmology field both in China and globally, despite challenging
external macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions. We have a strong
team comprised of world-class talent from the pharmaceutical, sales and
marketing disciplines. Together, we are well-positioned to navigate the
complexities of the external environment and pursue excellence in the
R&D, registration, manufacturing, and commercialization of our therapies.
We will continue to dedicate ourselves to addressing significant unmet
medical needs and helping improve the visual health of patients in China
and around the world.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
information and financial statements is set out below:
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20207 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AREBFT AREBFT ARBFIT AREFT
Results ES
Revenue Was 18,750 — — — —
Gross profit EH 14,247 — — — —
Loss before taxation FREL A1 (384,488) (407,317) (2,129,780) (726,981) (122,077)
Income tax Pt (550) - - — —
Loss for the year FNERER (385,038) (407,317) (2,129,780) (726,981) (122,077)
Total comprehensive income FRAZ AL
for the year (323,931) (196,415) (2,180,971) (670,861) (117,544)
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Total assets BEMAE 2,420,338 2,570,623 2,605,407 1,226,586 554,214
Total liabilities BERE (372,020) (222,250) (109,920) (1,972,554) (579,746)
Total equity/(deficit) (B BE 2,048,318 2,348,373 2,495,487 (745,968) (25,532)
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BT M DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

gy E)]

Revenue Wz

Cost of sales SHERA
Gross profit EF

Other income HUgA
Other net loss HAhESEFRE
R&D expenses e
General and administrative expenses —MRITHER
Selling and distribution expenses HERD X
Finance costs ISR AR

Loss before taxation KRB 18
Income tax Fris%t

Loss for the year FRER
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMZERES

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial

Higrge B o EEREMIAR ¢

BEDGEERAIEARBNER

statements of entities with functional currencies WS SRERAEN Z5E
other than RMB
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZEREEE
Non-HKFRS Measures FEBMBREENFELR
Adjusted loss for the year LB ERER

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHRRIGRE AT

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLFE

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETR

18,750
(4,503)

14,247
82,044
(3,515)
(333,050)
(84,404)
(51,889)
(7,921)

(384,488)
(550)

(385,038)

61,107
(323,931)

(363,015)

2022
20224
RMB’000
AREFIT

38,041
(29,731)
(296,430)
(86,109)
(29,946)
(3,142)
(407,317)

(407,317)

210,902
(196,415)

(360,633)
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Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded total loss of
approximately RMB385.0 million, as compared with approximately
RMB407.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The total loss
in 2023 narrowed, mainly due to that sales revenue was recorded for the
first time in 2023, together with additional interest income received during
2023 which benefited from higher deposit interest rates; the income
increment was partially net off with the increase in R&D expenses led by
the advancement of the development process of our clinical trials for our
key innovative products, and increased investments in our ongoing R&D
projects. Our selling and distribution expenses also increased accordingly
since the introduction of our new product during 2023.

Our R&D expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 were
approximately RMB333.1 million, representing an increase of
approximately 12.4% from approximately RMB296.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, primarily led by continuous investment over
several late stage clinical trial projects which included, Phase Il clinical
trial for TABO14 and China CHAMP and Mini-CHAMP for NVKO0O02, both of
which projects commenced in mid 2022.

Following NMPA approval for our Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop (&/l=E®),
our sales and marketing team is rapidly expanding our coverage of key
hospitals and launching different marketing promotion campaign to
increase our Company’s brand awareness in the market.

Revenue

Our Group recorded its first year of revenue with RMB18.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, which was mainly derived from
sales of our first commercialized drug addressing glaucoma (Bimatoprost
Timolol) and Type Il medical device for mild DED (£1541® heat compress
eyepatch).

We also generated revenue of RMB5.6 million from granting the exclusive
distribution right to our business partner, KDP, for the distribution of our
innovative drug candidate (2022: nil). As at December 31, 2023, the
aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under our Group’s existing contracts was
around RMB14.1 million. This amount represents revenue expected to be
recognized in the future from distribution and supply contracts entered
into between the customer and our Group. We will recognize the expected
revenue in future throughout the contract period.
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Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BILEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT

Point in time: RE R
Sales of ophthalmic drugs SHE IR
Sales of ophthalmic products HERTIED
Over time: BERFf
Income from exclusive distribution rights R D HHEMA

4,736 -
8,414 -

5,600 -

18,750 —

Other Income

Our Group’s other income primarily consists of bank interest income and
government grants received, which represent one-off subsidies we have
received from government authorities for our R&D activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our Group’s other income
increased to approximately RMB82.0 million, compared to approximately
RMB38.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was
primarily attributable to the growth of approximately RMB47.0 million in
bank interest income received from fixed deposits in 2023, benefiting from
rapid increase of deposit interest rate in HKD and USD since the end of
2022, which was partially offset by a decrease of approximately RMB4.1
million in government grants.

At A

REENEMPATZBECHKRTH EWARBTHE
By (BN ERPIBLAT 358D B BRTHE BRI IS 0y — IR IERERE ) »

HZE2023F12A31AILFE - AEBENHEMUABE
F2022F12A31H EFEHAREKEIB.0EETLLINE
HARKES2.08E T - EMtRABINEZREAZER
2022 F RARB L R ETLFHFI RS + 2023FHE
EEFHARITA WA MO AREA7.068TT > I
AR HOAREA 1B BT oK o

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31H8LFE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
Bank interest income ERITRLBUA 77,399 30,415
Government grants DN 3,387 7,479
Others Hith 1,258 147
Total #Et 82,044 38,041

Other Net Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded approximately
RMB3.5 million of other net loss, compared to approximately RMB29.7
million of other net loss for the year ended December 31, 2022. Such net
loss primarily consists of net foreign exchange loss incurred during the
translation of liabilities denominated in other foreign currency for example
USD and HKD. A significant loss was noted when there was a great
depreciation pressure on RMB against USD in 2022, but the loss amount
was narrowed down when RMB exchange rate was more stable in 2023.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHRRIGRE AT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R&D Expenses

Our Group’s R&D expenses primarily consisted of: (i) clinical trial
professional service fees, primarily including payments to CROs, hospitals
and other medical institutions and testing fees incurred for preclinical
studies and clinical trials; (ii) depreciation and amortization in relation to
our R&D equipment and facilities; (iii) staff costs, including salaries, bonus
and welfare payments for R&D personnel; (iv) costs of raw materials and
consumables used for R&D of our drug candidates; (v) equity-settled
share-based payment for R&D personnel; and (vi) utilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our R&D expenses increased by
approximately RMB36.7 million, or 12.4%, to approximately RMB333.1
million from approximately RMB296.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2022. The increase was mainly due to (i) the continuous advancement
of our clinical trials and increased investments in the ongoing R&D projects
(i.e. Phase Il clinical trial for NVKOO2 and three Phase Il clinical trials of
ZKYO0O01 for CED, TPRK and pterygium and an investigator initiated trial for
NK, a rare degenerative corneal disease during the Reporting Period); and
(ii) the increase in headcount of R&D personnel.

The following table sets forth the components of our Group’s R&D
expenses for the years indicated:

B E & am M

&G

REENHERL T REO)HRRAREEREER
TEBERCRO - Bt K E M B BB A K FhER R
RIFRIE S B AR AR R ORI B A (i) B AT PIAF B R
NGRS ¢ (I B ITRA - BREMEASR
BE S - FEARBAR © (V) RFOIREEDIAER
R ROBREREIBA © (V)T A B ST AR S
HARAD REFBOR  R(VI)KEE -

HZE2023F12A31HILFE - BRMIOAER L AE
Z£2022F12A31H IEFENARK296.48 Big
MARBI6.7TAETHI2.4%EHAREI33.18E
7T FEARG)BRMOBRASRBRISEIGERRETP
KA 2518 B (BER S HAANVKOO02 8 5 11 ARG IR 356 &2
ZKYOO1(BRAE LRI - TPRKEFIMBR) M =18
FNHBRABARNK(—EERARRKR)HEE
BREHEBR)IE LN R (i) A BRI AZIE AT

SRR EE R PR FE R B AR

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31HLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Clinical trial professional service fee RARABREEREER 160,966 155,631
Staff costs BIKAK 57,206 49,391
Depreciation and amortization e R 37,624 31,625
Cost of raw materials and consumables used FIT AR R R R S FE G BB AR 16,538 21,662
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses A G AR BEMRN L 1,942 10,697
Utilities KEE 4,861 5,668
Professional and consultation fee HENERER 40,717 14,579
Testing fee %82 2,286 2,077
Traveling expenses ZEHRF X 2,679 961
Others® Hh® 8,231 4,139
Total #ast 333,050 296,430
Note: FfsE -
@ Represent repair and maintenance expenses and other miscellaneous expenses @ TRHEIE R B AU R AR MRS S8 EIE R

in relation to our R&D activities.

%o
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B E s am M

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses primarily consisted of: staff
costs, professional service fees for legal, consulting and auditing services,
general operating expenses, depreciation in relation to our office
equipment and equity-settled share-based payment expenses for those
other than R&D personnel and commercialization team.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our general and administrative
expenses were approximately RMB84.4 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB1.7 million from approximately RMB86.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022, which is primarily attributable
to the decrease in equity-settled share-based payment expenses, which
was partially offset by the effect of the increase in amortization of digital
foundation and system digitization for internal business model and
management system with its first application during 2023.

The following table sets forth the components of our general and
administrative expenses for the years indicated:

—BRRITEEH

ﬁff"iﬁ’ﬂ*ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬂl%ﬁi%@?ﬁéiﬁizﬁ 7 @‘
REABRBSEERBER  —RELEHX B
1%%)?%L/(&ﬁﬁﬁ§§)\E&Fﬁ%ﬂ:l%%ﬁ\\/\aiﬁ
sRAAE AR AERR N R o

1
&
ARE

HH} BY

HE2023F12 A318EFE - B —BRITHER
HAANRE8A 4B ETT WEZE2022F12A31HIEF
EHARKSEIEETRINVARBL7IEE L £ 2
AR AR EE AR AERNN KA DR -
BWOWABEBEA L EERZXRNBBEREIR RS
L (FR2023F & X fEA ) B S8 A S 2 FTiR sy o

TREFIBPIRPIRFEN—RRITRE BAKES

Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31HLEFE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Staff costs (include Directors’ fee) BINAKN(BREESHESR) 33,725 31,931
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses AR A E LA AEEA NS 18,200 33,317
Professional service fees BERBER 12,733 13,994
Depreciation and amortization ?ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ 9,331 2,717
General operating expenses BE LR 3,574 2,429
Others® H® 6,841 1,721
Total 5t 84,404 86,109
Note: B & -
@ Represent certain tax expenses and other miscellaneous expenses. @ FeE FRIERM S M E IR

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of staff costs for
our commercialization team and marketing & conference expenses.

Our selling and distribution expenses increased from RMB29.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022 to approximately RMB51.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily attributable to an increase
in the headcount of our commercialization team and building-up of
omnichannel marketing platform, together with market launch activities
and campaigns to increase brand awareness for our first pharmaceutical
product, Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop, carried out during 2023.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHRRIGRE AT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The following table sets forth the components of our selling and
distribution expenses for the years indicated:

B E & am M

TREFIHPIRPURFERHE R0 SR ARED

Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31ALEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Staff costs BIRA 28,404 20,835
Marketing & conference expenses gk EEMAX 15,030 2,074
Depreciation e 1,592 731
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  LARER4E B AN AR M REIZ 1,881 2,670
Others Hith 4,982 3,636
Total et 51,889 29,946

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased from approximately RMB3.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022 to approximately RMB7.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, which was primarily attributable to the
increased interest expenses on bank loan related to cross boarder funding
arrangement during 2023.

Income Tax

The income tax recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023
represented provision for withholding tax incurred from granting of
exclusive distribution rights in Korea for the year.

BVI and Cayman Islands

We were incorporated in the BVI in January 2017 and redomiciled to the
Cayman lIslands in April 2020. Pursuant to the laws and regulations of
the BVI, we were not subject to any income tax there before we were
redomiciled to the Cayman Islands. We are an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and
accordingly are exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong

We did not make any provision for Hong Kong profits tax, because our
Hong Kong subsidiary, Zhaoke HK, did not have any assessable profits in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period.

The PRC

We did not make any provision for the PRC income tax, which is at the
rate of 25% pursuant to relevant PRC laws and regulations, because our
PRC subsidiaries did not have any assessable profits in the PRC during the
Reporting Period.

RIBREA

HE2023F12A31AIEFE - HPINHEKAREE
2022F 12 A31HIEFEHNARKEILIEETEINELD
ARE79BEL  TEHNR2023F BB RESTH
RISRITE IR SRS E NATER -

Frie#

#HZE2023F12 A31H L FERROASRIEFARE
HEERER S HEEENTENBHENEE -
KBERZHERHMERS
BMR2017F1AEEBELHES MK - TR
2020F4 ABMEHSHE - REMFSHEN  RIE
RBRZESEO AR - RPIBERE M TR AT
B - REMSHEARE  BMARREARAR -
AMEREHAMASEEEH -

58

HARRMHEENE R RKRIEERBREHANEEL
EERTFE - MR R R SRS TR -

s

F R B AP 9 R B B JB A R A 3R A P R AP B 4 B RR R

A - ML EREERE T AR AR IZ25% M
TEHE BPTSHELE -
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ERETHRANT

Withholding Tax

The Group is subject to withholding tax on income from exclusive
distribution rights granted to a customer based on a withholding tax rate
of 10% under the tax law in Korea.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the above factors, for the year ended December 31, 2023,
we recorded a loss of approximately RMB385.0 million, as compared to a
loss of approximately RMB407.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2022.

Non-HKFRS Measure

To supplement the Financial Statements, which are presented in
accordance with the HKFRS, our Company also uses adjusted loss for
the year as an additional financial measure, which is not required by, or
presented in accordance with, the HKFRS. Our Company believes that this
adjusted measure will provide useful information to its Shareholders and
potential investors in understanding and evaluating our Group’s annual
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help our
Company’s management.

Adjusted loss for the year represents the loss for the year excluding the
effect of equity-settled share-based payment expenses. The term adjusted
loss for the year is not defined under the HKFRS. However, our Company
believes that this non-HKFRS measure is a reflection of our Group’s
normal operating results by eliminating the potential impact of items that
the management do not consider to be indicative of our Group’s operating
performance. The adjusted loss for the year, as the management of our
Group believes, is adopted in the industry where our Group is operating.
However, the presentation of the adjusted loss for the year is not intended
to be (and should not be) considered in isolation or as a substitute for
the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with the
HKFRS. Shareholders and potential investors of our Company should not
view this non-HKFRS measure on a stand-alone basis or as a substitute
for results under the HKFRS, or as being comparable to results reported or
forecasted by other companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S am o

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the loss for the year to  T&REFIPFIREE K4 A 18 B L E R E R Y

adjusted loss for the year during the years indicated: R -
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFT
Loss for the year FAEE (385,038) (407,317)
Add: /I
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  LAMEZ4E B AN AR MR 22,023 46,684
Non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the year® FEEBUMBMEESABFAEEO (363,015) (360,633)
Note: Bt &
(1) Non-HKFRS Measures (1) FEBUBEREEAFESR
Non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the year is defined as loss for the year adjusted EEB RS RHABRFNEEBNES AR RS
by adding back equity-settled share-based payment expenses. The above table ANEE - EPME N EREE RN AEROMN KA
reconciles our non-HKFRS adjusted loss for the year with our loss for the year. Yo FRAFEBUERELNCARFRBERFA

ERAEIRR -
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BT M DT

Selected Data from Statement of Financial

Position

RIBIRRZ A EEHE

As at December 31,

A12A31H

2023

2023%F
RMB’000
AR¥T T

1,794,569
625,769

2,420,338

336,451
35,569

372,020

Total current assets MBEEMRE

Total non-current assets IERMBEELE
Total assets BAEME

Total current liabilities V=N FGEE]

Total non-current liabilities SEnRBEERE
Total liabilities B ELEE

Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8

Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A fEYKRIE
Pledged bank balances BIERRITAER

Time deposits with original maturity over three
months

[REIEA A 3B =18 A &9 BifF K

6,141
61,147

265,658

1,461,623

1,794,569

116,637
1,179
2,473

206,577
9,585

336,451

Cash and cash equivalents ReERBLEED
Total current assets REBEELE
Current liabilities REAE

Trade and other payables B 5 REAMENTKIE
Contract liabilities AanaE

Amounts due to related companies FE A A RIFA
Bank loans RITER

Lease liabilities HEARE

Total current liabilities FRENEERE

Net current assets MBVEEFE

1,458,118

Liquidity and Source of Funding and

Borrowing

Our primary uses of cash are to fund our clinical trials, manufacturing,
purchase of equipment and raw materials and other expenses. During the
Reporting Period, we primarily funded our working capital requirements
through net proceeds from the Global Offering. We closely monitor uses of
cash and cash balances and strive to maintain a healthy liquidity for our

operations.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHRRIAGE D

A

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARETT

1,972,747
597,876

2,570,623

194,540
27,710

222,250

75,457
172,066

8,873
1,716,351

1,972,747

83,418

6,897
94,500
9,725

194,540
1,778,207

RBELTREZTHKFURBES

BAMOREEEANR/RMVERDER - £  RER
R EEREBIA R KR T E S - REBEHA - 5
TEFBEMBEENMERAFRENRMNEELES
FE - BMEIERREMASEROERER - B
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at December 31, 2023, the current assets of our Group were
approximately RMB1,794.6 million, including cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB1,461.6 million, pledged bank balance of approximately
RMB265.7 million and other current assets of approximately RMB67.3
million. As at December 31, 2023, the current liabilities of our Group were
approximately RMB336.5 million, including trade and other payables of
approximately RMB116.6 million, amounts due to related companies of
approximately RMB2.5 million, bank loans of approximately RMB206.6
million and other current liabilities of approximately RMB10.8 million.

Amounts due to related companies composed of payable for CROs services
and are unsecured, interest-free and repayable with maximum credit
terms of 30 days or on demand.

As of December 31, 2023, our Group had secured bank loans of RMB206.6
million which was repayable within one year or on demand.

Our Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. To achieve better risk control and minimize the cost of
funds, our Group’s treasury is centralized. Cash is generally placed in
deposits mostly denominated in US$, HK$ and RMB. Our Group’s liquidity
and financing requirements are reviewed regularly.

Pledge of Bank Balance

Our pledged bank balances were approximately RMB265.7 million as
of December 31, 2023 (2022: RMB172.1 million), representing bank
balances we pledged with a bank required for the issue of a letter of credit
for importing certain machines and equipment, and banking facility.

Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets forth the components of our key financial ratios
for the dates indicated:

B E & am M

M2023F12A31H  AEBENRHEENAAR
B1,794.6EB L BERESERESZEEMOARYE
1,461.6EET - CHEABTEHBOARKE265.78 8
TREMTRBEENAREE7.3EET - K2023412
A318  AEENRBABENAARE336.58ET
PRESREMERFEHARELI6.6EET - BT
BEARFBHARE2 558  fRITEROARE
206.6E & Tk EMABEBENARKL10.8EET °

FEAS B A BRSNS CROMRIS FIE - R -
®E - EEHRRIOKNAEEREE -

M2023F12A31H * AEEMNBEIFETEFAAR
¥206.6EBIT '+ AR —FANHEEREE -
AEBMERFEMBBRETRSRVBEE - BRL
MEHIER RESREESKAE AEBMNMBRERY
FRRER - REe—MEETER - KEHUET - BT
BPAREE - AEBEHRTERBDESRBETE -
RITHEEIEIF

M2023F12A311H  HMWEEIRRITEBROAAR
#265.7AEBTL(20224F : ARKL172.1HET) ' R
MEREERERARE DS THERREURARITH
AREMABLEIRFIRITABRITEL o
FEHBLEE

NREIIT PR B EAFRAPIRY = B R ROMERCEE S -

As at December 31,

W12A31R
2023 2022

2023%F 20224
Current ratio® B RO 5.3 10.1
Gearing ratio® BAEREBHRE® N/ATER® N/ATEA®
Notes: MizE
@ Current ratio represents current assets divided by current liabilities as of the @ mEILE R BB EERIEBAGHE -

same date.

@ Gearing ratio represents interest-bearing borrowings less cash and cash @ BEABLXRERANIBEZFRASRASEEYR

equivalents and time deposits with original maturity over three months, divided
by total equity and multiplied by 100% as of the same date.

@ As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, we were in a net cash position and thus
gearing ratio is not applicable.

[REIH A BB =18 A & fF K -
A1009% °

BRAREZRAREE - B

@ R2022F % 2023512 A31H * HIIENFEEMN
EtEEA B R EA -
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BIRE ST am oA

Contingent Liabilities gAREE

As at December 31, 2023, our Group did not have any significant #2023%12A31H ' REBWETREANAEE -
contingent liabilities.

Capital Commitment BXAE

The capital commitment of our Group as at December 31, 2023 was #20239412A310 ' AEENE R EKEHNAARE
approximately RMB58.3 million, representing a decrease of approximately  58.3F&7T © 52022612 A31BH ARE277.2H &
RMB218.9 million as compared with approximately RMB277.2 million as at TRV HOARKE218.9F BT © £ Z RN AEE X H
December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the completion in phase of EHIRIIEES)TK -

our construction of manufacturing facilities and R&D activities.

Significant Investments EARE

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we did not have any significant  E{Z2023412 A31 8 IFFE » H I3 8 F (0 E A%
investment. & o

Future Plans for Material Investments or BEARENELEZEH ARG E
Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2023, we did not have any plans for material  »2023%12A31H @ MW ETAEHEEARENE
investments and capital assets. REEMETE -

Material Acquisitions and Disposals BAWBEBRHE

We did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, #Z2023%12A31H L4 @ MW EETTH EH B
associates or joint ventures for the year ended December 31, 2023. NAE - B QRS E P ENEMERKEREE -
Employees and Remuneration VA=A

As at December 31, 2023, our Group had a total of 313 employees. The  #2023%F12A31H ' AEEBEE A HX3I3EEE - T
following table sets forth the total number of employees by function as of  &#5IA2023F12 A31 B RS DA(ES LS
December 31, 2023:

Number of %o of

employees the total

EEHAE hHEEEHI

Management EIR 6 2.0
R&D i 102 32.5
Manufacturing HE 61 19.5
Quality control B2 35 11.2
Sales and marketing SHE KAt 71 22.7
Environmental, health and safety RIE - BRAELTE 1 0.3
Administrative 1T 37 11.8
Total HET 313 100.0
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The remuneration of the employees of our Group comprises salaries,
bonuses, employees provident fund and social security contributions, other
welfare payments and equity-settled share-based payment.

The total staff cost incurred by our Group for the year ended December
31, 2023 was approximately RMB126.8 million, as compared to
approximately RMB132.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease of equity-settled
share-based payment expenses of approximately RMB21.0 million, which
was partially net off by an increase of approximately RMB15.7 million in
employee salaries and benefits in line with the expansion in headcount.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the year ended December 31, 2023, our Group mainly operated in
China and a majority of its transactions was settled in RMB, the functional
currency of our Company’s principal subsidiaries. As at December 31,
2023, a significant amount of our Group’s cash and cash equivalents
was denominated in US$. Except for certain cash and cash equivalents,
prepayments on purchases of property, plant and equipment and other
payables denominated in foreign currencies, our Group did not have
significant foreign currency exposure from its operations as at December
31, 2023. Our Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of our net foreign exchange exposures and seeks to
minimize these exposures whenever possible. We currently do not adopt
any long-term contracts, currency borrowings or other means to hedge
our foreign currency exposure.

B E & am M

FEEREHFMEEFS T4 EEAEERMER
Bk - MR AIN SRR IA s A AR () R AT

BN
N

HZE2023F12A318ILFE - AEBEAHNEIHA
WA B ARY126.8EE T © MEIE2022F 12 A31
ALFEANAARELS2.AEET - BALEZRAMU
R EE D AERONKBESROHOARE21.08
B HEBMYEWREEH S REMNEEE AFIE MmN
FHANRELS.7E BB

SHEE E iR

KRB ZE2023F12A31AEFE - AEEFEZRFPEE
B HAHXDIRGUARELEE  MARBARNARE
BB ATMINEEEE - B20234F12A31H © K&EEH
MRS MRS EEBMAI D AEITTFHE - K2023F 12
A318 BETR:LRESESEY  BEVE  BERL
AR TEAT BB DA K E A FE S SRIBLASMESHE SN - A&
EXfEREEEENEAIINERR - AEEBBTHE
FUFINERBEEINER - MEEREEERR -
BB AT ERAERREEL EEERSEMRT
HRINE R o
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

BEENSHNEEERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi, aged 61, was appointed as the chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the CEO on January 20, 2017. He is mainly
responsible for the formulation of the corporate development strategies
and direction for our Group as well as overall day-to-day management of
our business and operations. Dr. Li Xiaoyi also holds directorship at each
subsidiary of our Group since its establishment.

Dr. Li has over 26 years of experience in pharmaceutical R&D as well as
management and strategic planning for pharmaceutical companies. Dr. Li
founded Lee’s Pharm in 1994 and has been the chief technical officer since
then. Dr. Li was appointed as an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Lee’s Pharm in September 2003, where he is responsible for
the overall operations and management and R&D of Lee’s Pharm and Dr.
Li resigned as the chief executive officer and the chief technical officer
and has been re-designed from an executive director to a non-executive
director of Lee’s Pharm since April 29, 2021.

In addition to his roles in Lee’s Pharm, Dr. Li also has multiple experience
in the management and strategic planning for many other pharmaceutical
institutions. Since 2014, he has been serving as the vice president of Hong
Kong Biotechnology Organization, mainly responsible for developing the
biotech industry in Hong Kong. Since March 2016, he has been serving
as the president of Guangzhou Pharmaceutical Association* (&) Z2g),
an academic and non-profit social organization formed by pharmaceutical
researchers in Guangzhou, where he is mainly responsible for providing
industrial insights for developing the pharmaceutical industry in
Guangzhou. Dr. Li is also a member of the review committee of Innovation
and Technology Fund of Hong Kong Government, a fund supported by the
government of Hong Kong to promote and facilitate technology companies.
Dr. Li obtained his Ph.D. in pharmacology from the medicine college of the
University of lllinois in the United States in May 1992.

Dr. Li has earned multiple awards and esteemed recognitions. He has
been an adjunct professor at the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology since November 2013 and an honorary fellow since June
2016. In August 2018, he was awarded the leading innovation talent*
(E M Al % %8 E A 7 ) by the Guangzhou government. In January 2018,
Dr. Li was appointed as a member of the People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Anhui Province in the PRC, and was honored with the 16th
World Outstanding Chinese Award (it f4EH2E A #%) by the World Chinese
Business Investment Foundation (R EEHEESE) in August 2018.

* For identification purposes only
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Mr. Dai Xiangrong, aged 44, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as an executive Director on October 23, 2020. He is mainly
responsible for overseeing R&D and daily operation of our Group.

As a licensed pharmacist, Mr. Dai has over 15 years of extensive
experience in preclinical studies, clinical research and registration of new
drugs. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Dai had worked in Lee’s Pharm since
July 2007, where he was responsible for various new drug development
programs and succeeded in bringing the programs to the clinical trial
stage, and was further promoted to senior director of the R&D centre in
February 2016. Prior to the Listing Date, Mr. Dai resigned as the senior
director of the R&D center and ceased to hold any management position in
the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group.

Mr. Dai obtained both his bachelor’s degree in horticulture and his
master’s degree in biochemistry from Anhui Agricultural University (Z#/2
% KXZ) in Anhui Province, China, in July 2003 and June 2007, respectively.

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, aged 70, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on February 20, 2017 and is primarily responsible for
providing guidance and advice on the corporate and business strategies of
our Group.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun is an entrepreneur and had established and run
several companies since the 1990s. Prior to joining our Group, she joined
Lee’s Pharm in April 1997. She has been appointed as an executive
director and managing director of Lee’s Pharm since December 2001,
and further as the chief marketing and sales officer of Lee’s Pharm since
September 2003, where she was responsible for the sales and marketing
activities of Lee’s Pharm.

Ms. Tiantian Zhang, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on February 5, 2021 and is primarily responsible for providing guidance
and advice on the corporate and business strategies of our Group.

Ms. Zhang has over 11 years of management and investment experience
in healthcare industry. From January 2009 to April 2012, Ms. Zhang
worked as a manager of business development at Hutchison MediPharma
Limited, which is a subsidiary of Hutchison China MediTech Limited, a
company whose shares are traded on the NASDAQ (ticker symbol: HCM),
where she was responsible for drug out-licensing and project management.
From July 2014 to December 2015, Ms. Zhang worked as an associate
manager at Zimmer Biomet Holdings, Inc., a company whose shares are
traded on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: ZBH), where she
was responsible for management of strategic initiatives. In January 2016,
Ms. Zhang joined Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers China GUEERTEHES)
as a vice president, focusing on the firm’s life science investment practice
and portfolio management. Ms. Zhang joined Panacea Venture since
January 2018 and is now a partner; Panacea Venture is a venture capital
firm focusing on investments in innovative and transformative early and
growth stage healthcare and life sciences companies worldwide, where she
involves in the firm’s life science practice, portfolio management and fund-
raising.

EENSREERBEE

HMMEEEE 4458 0 K2016F6 AMALREE LA
2020F10A23REZ T AHITES - FEEAFEE
AEENHERATEE -

77

I

VBB — B EEEA - BLERERATE - BARFRER
MEFMATEHEERISFNEETLH - RIAREE
AT BB 200797 AR —ERF KA SRR -
B EZEHN MR AN S Z ST B AR R
BBEE 0 RR2016F2 A — S EAABMEP LR
4RES o N ETTAHART - B ARAHBEFR LS REE—
B B THARB TR ANEERSERE LR EEBRAL o

LD RIN2003F7 A K2007F6 A EFRALHAL
HEEABREESEBEBS BN K AYYEE T B4 -

FHITEE

R LZ L 0 705% 0 R2017F2 A20 8 EZ T AIEH
TEF  FZABRAEENRAREBHREIRMEES
R o

FEELLTADER - A L0 FR LA - BT K&
LEZERR] o RIMAKRSEER] - HR1997F4 A A
KEER - % 82001F12 A BEE(E A3 K ALER
WITESHREFRLIE - WH2003F9 AR — SR
TATKAERMSHERESELE  BETRALEMB
RISHE RIS HERETIE -

REMEIML L - 4158 0 H2021F2 A5 BEZ T AIENTT
FE FZEERAEENQRREBREBIRMEIESI R
BE o

RZTHEABLIFEETEESERIZEELR - B2009
F1AZE2012F48  RETEENEPEBEREE
RARN(—RRGORMETES EMHAF - BRERE :
HCM) B —FIM B A R M ZIHE 4 ( H8) BRARK
RIS BERYHINERERBEERIF-
MR2014F7 AE 201512 A © KL+ HE(T Zimmer
Biomet Holdings, Inc.(—fERNHNALIBHZ S L
THAT - RERS : ZBH)BIKIE - B EBTEE
2 o A2016F 18 @ REEMASNBERTRES BT
BlaE  ERZARNEGRNEREEERKREMES
EIE - 5k 2+ E 20184 1 A #E il APanacea Venture
(—REBEEES IR KAGAFMERFAANNE
WU EA RAEREREGREQRINEE)  BAEE
A BEZATNEGRIEEE  KWEESEHERAE

Annual Report 2023 F3§

37



38

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

£ EREEEER

Ms. Zhang graduated from the University of Texas at Austin, the United
States with a bachelor of science degree in biochemistry in December
2006. She obtained a master degree in biotechnology from the Graduate
School of Arts and Sciences of Columbia University, the United States in
October 2008, and a master of business administration degree from the
Fuqua School of Business of Duke University, the United States, in May
2014.

Non-executive Directors Resigned during
the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date

Ms. Cai Li, aged 40, was a non-executive Director from October 23,
2020 to November 27, 2023 and was primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on the corporate and business strategies of our Group
during her tenure.

From 2007 through 2008, Ms. Cai worked as a research analyst at Credit
Suisse AG (New York), where she was responsible for equity research for
large cap of medical supplies and devices companies. From March 2009
to July 2011, Ms. Cai worked as an investment associate at HAO Capital
(Haotian Jinsheng Investment Management (Beijing) Limited), focusing on
growth stage healthcare investments. Ms. Cai joined TPG Capital, a leading
global alternative asset firm, in August 2011 and is latest serving as a
managing director of TPG Capital, responsible for TPG Capital’s healthcare
investments in Greater China. Mr. Cai also served as a non-executive
director at Shanghai Bio-heart Biological Technology Co., Ltd. (EF/&AL%
EYEAMTAR D AR A F]), a company whose H shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2185) from September 2020 to
November 2022.

Ms. Cai also concurrently holds the following positions outside our Group:

- a supervisor at Shanghai Deyu Deqi Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd. (L8 ESRE L XEEFHABR Q) since
November 2016;

- a non-executive director at Kangji Medical Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 9997), since March 2020;

- a non-executive director at Dingdang Health Technology Group Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 9886), since May 2021.

Ms. Cai obtained her bachelor’s degree in biomedical engineering and
economics from Yale University in Connecticut, the United States in May
2007.

Mr. Chen Yu, aged 42, was a non-executive Director from October 23,
2020 to April 8, 2024 and was primarily responsible for providing guidance
and advice on the corporate and business strategies of our Group during
his tenure.
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Mr. Chen has over 15 years of experience in investment. From June 2007
to September 2007 and from January 2008 to September 2010, he was an
analyst in the investment banking department of Bank of America Merrill
Lynch. From September 2010 to June 2011, he served as an associate
of the China investment banking department at Citigroup Global Markets
Asia Limited. From January 2012 to July 2015, he was a senior investment
manager of Shanghai Panxin Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd. (&
HEEREREEEAMRAT). From August 2015 to June 2023, he was an
executive director of Hillhouse.

Mr. Chen served as a director of JHBP (CY) Holdings Limited, a
pharmaceutical company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6998), from December 2018 to January
2024.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’ degree in electrical engineering (information
and communication engineering) from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in November 2003, a master’ degree in electrical
engineering from Yale University in Connecticut, the United States in May
2005 and a master’ degree in management science and engineering from
Stanford University in California, the United States in January 2008.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 1, 2021 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Wong holds a master’'s degree in executive business administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the
Chartered Governance Institute. He is also a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a chartered member of the
Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment. Mr. Wong was awarded
the Medal of Honor by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.

Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director at each
of C CHENG HOLDINGS LIMITED (a public company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1486)), YNBY International Limited (a public
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 30)), Kingmaker
Footwear Holdings Limited (a public company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1170)), and Jiangxi Bank Co., Ltd. (a public company with
H shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1916)). Mr. Wong
served as an independent non-executive director of CRCC High-Tech
Equipment Corporation Limited (a public company with H shares listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1786)) from November 2015 to October
2022, an independent non-executive director of Wine’s Link International
Holdings Limited (a public company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8509)) from December 2017 to March 2023, an independent non-
executive director of Guangzhou Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical Holdings
Company Limited (a public company with A shares listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600332) and H shares listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 874)) from June 2017 to May 2023 and an
independent non-executive director of Inner Mongolia Yitai Coal Co., Ltd. (a
public company with B shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 900948) and H shares listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3948)) from May 2017 to May 2023.
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Mr. Wong is a member of the Anhui Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, a panel member of Accounting
and Financial Reporting Review Tribunal, the Betting and Lotteries
Commission, the Medical Council of Hong Kong, Advisory Committee on
Enhancing Self-Reliance Through District Partnership (ESR) Programme
and the board member of Ocean Park Corporation.

Mr. Wong is the managing partner and responsible officer of Hermitage
Capital HK Limited, a private equity firm licensed under the SFO. Prior
to this, he had worked with an international audit firm for four years
and then a listed company as chief financial officer for seven years, after
which he co-founded Silk Road International Capital Limited (a licensed
corporation formerly known as Legend Capital Partners Inc.) and led the
company as the executive director and responsible officer for twenty-three
years. Overall, he has over three decades of solid experience in corporate
management and governance, investment management and advisory,
accounting and finance.

Prof. Lo Yuk Lam, aged 75, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 1, 2021 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prof. Lo has extensive experience in biotechnology industry, corporate
management, academic research and community service. Since July
2019, he has been serving as the chairman of GT Healthcare Capital
Partners, a private investment partnership specializing in healthcare
investments. From July 2007 to June 2009, he was a member of the
Hong Kong Government Research Grants Council. He was the chairman
of the Advisory Council on Food and Environmental Hygiene of the Hong
Kong Government from April 2015 to March 2021 and he has been the
president for HK Bio-Med Innotech Association. He also serves as the
honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Biotechnology Organisation. Since
February 2019, he has been serving as the partner of Hongsen Investment
Management Ltd, an investment company focusing on growing biotech
companies. He is now appointed as the strategic advisor to the President
and Adjunct Professor to the Division of Life Science of Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology.

Prof. Lo also holds or ever held the following positions outside our Group:

- an independent director of Sinovac Biotech Ltd., a company whose
shares are listed on NASDAQ Global Select Market (ticker symbol:
SVA), since March 2006;

- an independent non-executive director of Luye Pharma Group Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2186), since June 2014; and

- an independent non-executive director of CSPC Pharmaceutical
Group Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1093), from June 2014 to
January 2021.
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In recognition of his leadership in the community and dedication to his
field, Prof. Lo has received many awards. In 2000, he was the first to be
bestowed with the title of honorary fellow by the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology for his role in establishing Hong Kong’s
biotechnology industry. He was awarded China’s “Top Ten Financial and
Intelligent Persons” in 2007 in recognition of his outstanding contribution
to economic development and business innovation in China. He was
honored with the World Outstanding Chinese Award (it 57 £ i 3 A #2) by
the World Chinese Business Investment Foundation (ttt R E & & & &
€ ) in June 2008, the Pericles International Prize 2019 by the Alcmaeon
International Academy in June 2019, and the HKSAR Bronze Bauhinia Star
by the government of Hong Kong in October 2020.

Mr. Liew Fui Kiang, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on June 6, 2022 and is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Liew is currently an independent non-executive director of (i)
Shandong Gold Mining Co., Ltd., a company dually listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1787) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600547); (ii) China Apex Group Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2011); (iii)) Zhengye International Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3363); and (iv) Zhongchang International Holdings Group Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 859).

Mr. Liew currently serves as an independent member of the board of
supervisors for Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China Limited,
a company dually listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2318) and
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601318), a Fortune Global 500
corporation.

Mr. Liew previously served as (i) the chairman of the board of directors
and an executive director of PacRay International Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1010) from 2017
to 2019; (ii) a non-executive director of Amber Hill Financial Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 33) in
December 2019; and (iii) an independent non-executive director of
Baoshan Iron & Steel Company Limited (Z LHERHDERAF]), a company
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600019), a Fortune Global
500 corporation, from 2000 to 2006.

Mr. Liew is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a solicitor
of England and Wales, and a solicitor of Hong Kong. He graduated from
the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom with a Bachelor of Laws
as a Tetley & Lupton scholar, and he graduated from the Hull University
Business School in the United Kingdom with a master of business
administration.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Lau Lit Fui, aged 61, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as president and chief operating officer of our Group on April
1, 2019 and reassigned as CSO on January 18, 2022. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall scientific functions of our Group,
including basic and applied research projects, as well as the development
of new processes, technologies or projects. He is also responsible for
promoting the efficiency, profitability and competitive position of our
Group.

Dr. Lau has 25 years of extensive experience in operation management
and R&D of new drugs. From August 1998 to January 2008, he worked
in the global R&D department of Pfizer Inc., a worldwide leading
pharmaceutical company, where his last position was senior principal
scientist heading a biology laboratory and supervising technicians in testing
drug candidates. From January 2008 to August 2012, Dr. Lau worked
as the associate director of the new product and alliance development
department of GlaxoSmithKline (China) R&D Co., Ltd., a science-led
global healthcare company, where he was responsible for department
management and R&D of new drugs treating neurodegenerative diseases.
Dr. Lau joined Lee’s Pharm in October 2012 and had been managing the
operation and R&D of Lee’s Pharm until April 2016.

Dr. Lau obtained both his bachelor’s degree in science and master degree
of philosophy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December
1985 and December 1987, respectively, where he was awarded the
Wong Siew Chan Scholarship. In December 1993, he obtained his Ph.D.
in biochemical science from the University of Connecticut in the United
States. He completed his research fellowship in neuroscience at the School
of Medicine of John Hopkins University in the United States in August
1998.

Dr. Lau’s outstanding performances have been recognized by several
leading corporations. In February 1991, he was granted SmithKline
Beecham Student Pharmacology Award by SmithKline Beecham
Pharmaceuticals, a company focused on pharmaceuticals, biologics,
vaccines, and consumer healthcare. During his employment with Pfizer,
Inc., he was granted several awards by the global research & development
department of the company, for his leadership, team work spirit and
contribution in R&D. In 2014, he was awarded the Medicines for Life
Award by UTASIA Inc., a subsidiary of United Therapeutics Corporation,
a company mainly focusing on pharmaceutical preparations business.
In 2018, Dr. Lau received an award from CVie Therapeutics Co. Ltd., a
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm, for his sustained contribution and commitment.
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Ms. Feng Xinyan, aged 48, was appointed as the CFO of our Group on
December 7, 2020 and appointed for another dual role as the CBO on
January 18, 2022. She is primarily responsible for financial planning and
initiatives and investor relations management, and also oversees the
overall operation of our Group.

From 2000 to 2002, she worked as an analyst at McKinsey & Company.
From August 2004 to July 2012, she worked at Goldman Sachs (Asia)
L.L.C. and successively held various positions, including the executive
director. From July 2012 to September 2014, she served as a managing
director and head of China equity capital markets at Standard Chartered
Bank. From September 2014 to August 2018, she served as an executive
director of strategic business development and investor relations at Global
Brands Group Holding Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0787). She served as
the chief financial officer at ACEA Therapeutics, Inc, a company engaged
in developing and delivering innovative treatments to life-threatening
diseases from April 2019 to November 2019.

Ms. Feng obtained her bachelor’s degree in computer appliance from
Fudan University (8B X% in Shanghai, China in July 1998. She obtained
a master’s degree in computer science from University of Virginia in the
United States in August 2000, and a master of business administration
degree from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business in the
United States in March 2004.

Dr. Albert Tsai Jr., aged 50, was appointed as the CMO of our Group on
June 1, 2021. He is primarily responsible for leading our Group to advance
its assets through the clinical development process as well as supporting
the post-approval medical affairs for our Group’s commercial products (e.g.
safety, risk management, thought leader relationships).

Dr. Tsai has 21 years of healthcare experience across the spectrum of
pharmaceuticals, biotech, medical devices and healthcare consulting,
as well as in various country markets including China, U.S., Japan and
Southeast Asia. From 2019 to 2021, he served as the vice president,
regional medical officer of the Asia-Pacific region at PPD Inc., a leading
global CRO, responsible for business development and providing medical/
scientific product development advisory to biotech companies in Asia.
Prior to that, he served as the vice president, Asia Pacific at The Medicines
Company Hong Kong, a company listed on the NASDAQ (stock code:
MDCO) from 2014 to 2019, where he developed and implemented the Asia
expansion strategy for The Medicines Company Hong Kong with a primary
focus on establishing their presence in China and Japan. From 1997 to
2014, he worked in various leading global pharmaceutical companies
including Bayer Schering Pharma AG, Merck Sharp & Dohme (Asia) Ltd.,
Amgen Inc. and GE Healthcare Inc. in senior medical positions.

Dr. Tsai obtained his doctor of medicine from Northwestern University and
master of business administration in strategy and finance from University
of Southern California.

EENSREERBEE

BHELL 485 M2020F 12 A7HEZ T AASE
EEFEIBE - HER202241 818 EZ#TEE
BT  FBIZAEAREBENIERERBEUREE
EREEE  RINEREEEE-

M 2000F £20024F * HREFH A REESITE o B
20048 AE2012F7H « HAEBAR = (M) BR
EERQE WEABREFRITESSZ ERM - 52012
FT7TAZE201459A » HRBETRITETESALER
FEIREEAMISZHEE - R2014F9 A £20184F8
B ERAIEREERA R (— R DR AT ER T
ZAR  BRORE 0787 BT BMES TR IEES
BEEITES » #/42019F4 B E2019411 AT
ACEA Therapeutics, Inc(—[#tEAEREGHER
% RIRHAIFTEEN AR NEEIMHBE

BT N1998F 7 A+ E HGEB KBRS EHIE
BT - HHR2000F8 A B XM HELAERNE
STEHMRIEELTEA - WHR2004538 BEEE A
BT ER ES TR B IR A T 241 -

BRFHEE 505 0 N2021F6 ALEEZEAKEE
MEFESE REIZAERGAKEHERTHEE
mAYERRFE TIE - URSREREFRLRNBESEH
(Pl e - EREEREE RAMNRRK) -

EREHR2IFNERERELSR  REPE - £ - A
ARRMOEZETIBHES  EMRHE - BEERER
BRREEAEAE - N2019F £20214 K @ HHE
2 IRESLHCRO—PPD Inc. W ARBBH LES2E
B BEEBER  URADMNGESNEVER QTR
HER R 2E A EFERRS o LAl - #H2014F 5
2019 HEThe Medicines Company Hong Kong
(—MRHETESR ey R A - RIS - MDCO)) B
K@ E|#E - FANAThe Medicines Company Hong
Kong fll T W #1T H BN R KR - FHRFERAR
N REE 0 1997 F E2014F M - KB EBN Z M
SERFESMBEE N F] - B EBayer Schering Pharma
AG - EBIBRD R Em AR 2T « Amgen Inc. X GE
Healthcare Inc. * #EESRE BB -

FERIRGEALASHNBEEL REIMNASZHNIEE
(R k2w R B -

Annual Report 2023 F3§

43



44

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

£ EREEEER

Mr. Zhang Guohui, aged 49, joined our Group in June 2016 and was
appointed as deputy general manager of our Group on July 1, 2016. He is
mainly responsible for overseeing manufacturing and logistics function of
our Group.

Mr. Zhang has over 24 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry.
Since his graduation in July 1997 and until June 2016, Mr. Zhang had been
working in Lee’s Pharm for more than 18 years. He was first responsible
for the R&D of new drugs, quality control and GMP management
and further promoted as the head of R&D of the company, where he
accumulated extensive experience in the R&D and registration of new
drugs, as well as project management.

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in biochemical engineering from
the Beijing Institute of Light Industry (At & T 2287), currently known as
Beijing Technology and Business University (3t TEAZ) in Beijing, China
in July 1997. He obtained his master’s degree in business administration
from Asia International Open University (Macau) in January 2009.

Mr. Jiang Su, aged 43, joined our Group in January 2018 and was
appointed as the clinical operations director of our Group on June 1, 2019.
He is mainly responsible for conducting and organizing clinical trials.

Mr. Jiang has over 19 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry.
Since his graduation in July 2003 and until January 2018, Mr. Jiang had
been working in Lee’s Pharm for almost 15 years. He was first responsible
for carrying out clinical trials and further promoted to the head of clinical
quality in charge of quality control of clinical trials.

Mr. Jiang obtained his bachelor’s degree in maternal and child health from
the Anhui Medical University (% & & £} X 2) in Anhui Province, China in
June 2003.

Mr. Ma Jian, aged 37, joined our Group in January 2017. He was
appointed as assistant manager of quality assurance and quality control
on September 1, 2018, and was further promoted as the vice president of
quality control of our Group in 2021. He is mainly responsible for devising
procedures to inspect and report quality assurance issues, identifying
critical control points and preventive measures.

From 2007 to 2012, Mr. Ma had been working in the R&D department of
various pharmaceutical companies. From March 2012 to January 2017,
Mr. Ma had been working at Lee’s Pharm where he was first the leader of
document quality assurance group and further promoted as the leader of
onsite quality assurance.

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor’'s degree in medicine from Anhui Medical
University (Z#&®}X2) in Anhui Province, China in June 2007.
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Mr. Mauro Bove, aged 68, was appointed as the business development
director of our Group on January 1, 2019. He is mainly responsible for
overseeing business development activities and identifying new business
opportunities and finalizing the relevant negotiations on a global basis.

Mr. Bove has almost 41 years of business and management experience
within the pharmaceutical industry working in Europe, North America and
Asia. Mr. Bove led for many years until March 2014 the corporate and
business development of Sigma-Tau Finanziaria S.p.A.. From May 2005
to December 2014, he served as a non-executive director of Lee’s Pharm.
From December 2014 to December 2018, he served as the senior vice
president of corporate and business development department of Lee’s
Pharm, overseeing the business development activities and identifying
new business opportunities for the group.

In addition to the above, Mr. Bove has also served as a director of
many other private or listed pharmaceutical companies. He serves as
a director at RegeneRx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical
company listed on the OTCQB market under the ticker symbol “RGRX”
in the United States; KATO Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a privately held
U.S. bio-pharmaceutical company dedicated to the development of
novel therapies for pathologies of the eye with an emphasis on unmet
medical needs; Adastra Pharmaceuticals Inc., a private U.S. clinical-
stage biopharmaceutical company focused on providing novel solutions
to advance patient care in oncology; and Eyesense AG, an European
company focusing on the scientific R&D in the area of medical devices
applied to the diabetes segment.

Mr. Bove obtained his law degree from the University of Parma in Italy
in July 1980. In 1985, he attended the Academy of American and
International Law at International and Comparative Law Center in Texas,
the United States.

Mr. Feng Jiang, aged 48, was appointed as sales and marketing
director of our Group on October 1, 2020. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the branding, sales and marketing activities of our Group.

From 2000 to 2006, Mr. Feng served at various China offices of
multinational pharmaceutical companies as sales or medical representative.
From January 2007 to April 2010, he worked for Eli Lilly Asia, Inc., where
he was responsible for the promotion and sales of products in Guangdong
Province and his last position was regional manager. From April 2010
to September 2020, he served successively as the regional manager
and deputy director of the ophthalmic business department of Allergan
Information Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, where he was responsible
for the sales and marketing of the company’s ophthalmic pharmaceutical
products and was granted several awards by the company in recognition
of his great performance.

Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor’s degree in biotechnology from South China
Agricultural University (ZEf &% A2) in Guangdong Province, China in July
1999.
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Ms. Yau Suk Yan, aged 41, was appointed as the financial controller and
the company secretary of our Company on September 9, 2019. She is
responsible for management and supervision of auditing, report analysis
and budget control of our Group.

From September 2004 to January 2010, Ms. Yau served as a manager at
KPMG. From February 2010 to July 2015, she was the financial controller
and company secretary of Active Group Holdings Limited, currently known
as Sino Energy International Limited (R gEBIFZ IR EEBRRAF]), a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1096), where she was in charge of finance management and audit
of the group. From July 2015 to September 2019, Ms. Yau served as
the financial controller and company secretary of Uni-Bio Science Group
Limited (BB AR E£E AR A7), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 690), where she was
responsible for finance management and audit of the group.

Ms. Yau obtained her bachelor’s degree of arts (with honors) in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November
2004 and completed the CPA qualification programme and passed the
professional examination for membership admission and was issued with a
practicing certificate by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in August 2006. She has been a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2008 and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since March 2016.

Ms. Carol Liu, aged 40, joined our Group as head of regulatory affairs
on January 4, 2021. She is responsible for overseeing industry specific
practices and ensuring all government and regulations are being met
throughout drug registration of our Group.

Ms. Liu has worked for GlaxoSmithKline plc (GSK) and Lee’s Pharm from
2007 to 2021. In the past 14 years of professional career, she focused
on the area of regulatory affairs, especially for innovative drugs including
biological products and chemical drugs. She obtained her master of
science degree in the School of Pharmacy of Peking University (1t R K£).

Ms. Yang Lei, aged 43, joined our Group as general counsel on October
11, 2021. She is responsible for overseeing legal and compliance functions
of our Group.

Ms. Yang started her career at Shanghai Xuhui District Government’s
Supervision Commission (L#TRIER ARBITHAZE) in 2003. Since 2006
she worked for General Electronics after her graduation from the master
program in Germany. She joined Roche China as legal manager since 2011
and since then she focused on healthcare industry and had accumulated
rich experience in legal and compliance practice. Starting from 2015, she
joined USP China (BIZ:82% E @ ¥ @48 50) as director of legal, compliance
and ethics.
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Ms. Yang is pursuing PhD. in philosophy at Chinese Academy of Social
Science (FFEI&%IEFt). She obtained a master’s degree in European and
international law from Bremen University, Germany. She also obtained a
bachelor’s degree in civil and commercial law from East China University
of Law and Politics GERBEAE).

EXTERNAL CONSULTANT

Dr. Samir Chandrakant Patel, aged 63, was engaged by our Company
as strategy consultant of our Group on April 9, 2020, to provide our Group
with consulting services in relation to, among others, planning business
strategies, sourcing business development opportunities, and providing
protocol inputs and clinical development integration inputs.

Dr. Patel has over 30 years of extensive experience in ophthalmology,
including 10 years in academic medicine and 20 years in the ophthalmic
pharmaceutical industry. He obtained his degree of doctor of medicine
from the medical school of University of Massachusetts in the United States
in 1985 and completed his residency in ophthalmology at the University of
Chicago in 1990. Further, Dr. Patel completed his clinical retinal fellowship
at the Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary at the Harvard Medical School,
being the primary teaching hospital of Harvard Ophthalmology. Dr. Patel
was duly elected as a fellow by the American Academy of Ophthalmology
in 1992. Dr. Patel commenced his practice in academic ophthalmology
at the University of Chicago in 1992 where he eventually served as an
associate professor of ophthalmology and the director of retina service,
until July 2000.

Dr. Patel further gained valuable insights and experience in the
management and operation of pharmaceutical companies since 2000 when
he first started his own business by co-founding Eyetech Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., a biopharmaceutical company specializing in novel therapeutics to
treat eye diseases, where he served as a director and chief of clinical
and commercial strategy. In 2007, Dr. Patel co-founded Ophthotech
Corporation, a biopharmaceutical company listed on the NASDAQ under
the ticker symbol “OPHT” and specializing in the development of novel
therapeutics to treat ophthalmic diseases (currently known as IVERIC
bio, Inc. and listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the ticker
symbol “ISEE”), and served as the company’s founding chief executive
officer, president and vice chairman of its board of directors.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Yau Suk Yan, our company secretary, was appointed on September 9,

2019. Ms. Yau is also our financial controller. For details of her biography,
please see “— Senior Management.”

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no information is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report of our
Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND VALUE

As a leading ophthalmic pharmaceutical company dedicated to the R&D,
manufacturing and commercialization of therapies that address significant
unmet medical needs in the world, Zhaoke Ophthalmology lives up to
this purpose by instilling a culture that is embodied by the outstanding
capabilities of its employees and management’s desire to constantly
challenge themselves in a collaborative, transparent and mutually
supportive manner. These cultural attributes are critical to consistently
delivering the best outcomes.

Guided by our Group’s core values, and its corporate belief of “Better
Vision, Better Living” (£ R 8 ¢ - ¥ % A &), the Board, together with
senior management, are instrumental in defining the purpose and
strategic direction of our Group, set the tone and shape the corporate
culture of our Company to ensure all businesses across our Group are
aligned with the same purpose. Alongside our Group’s robust corporate
governance framework and effective risk management and internal control
systems, the desired culture is developed and reflected consistently in
the operating practices and policies of our Group, as well as its relations
with stakeholders, through active collaboration, effective engagement
and regular training at all levels. Board oversight of the culture of the
organization encompasses a range of measures and tools, including
employee engagement, retention and training, robust financial reporting,
whistleblowing, data privacy and security and legal and regulatory
compliance (including compliance with the Code of Ethics and other
policies of our Group), as well as staff safety, wellbeing and support. From
the Board performance evaluation conducted, the Directors are satisfied
with the performance of the Board and acknowledged that the Board plays
an effective role in the development and determination of our Group’s
culture, strategy and overall commercial objective. Taking into account
the corporate culture in a range of contexts, the Board considers that the
culture, purpose, values and strategy of our Group are aligned.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability. Our Company has adopted the CG Code. During the
Reporting Period, two Audit Committee meetings, three Remuneration
Committee meetings and two Nomination Committee meetings were held.
Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and not be performed
by the same individual. Dr. Li Xiaoyi currently serves as both the chairman
of the Board and the CEO. Dr. Li Xiaoyi has been operating and managing
our Group since its establishment, and the Directors consider that the
present arrangement is beneficial to and in the interests of our Company
and our Shareholders as a whole and the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance. For
details, see “— The Board — (6) Chairman and CEO”. On November 27,
2023, Ms. Cai Li resigned as a non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee in order to devote more time to her other work
arrangements. Concurrent with Ms. Cai Li's departure, Ms. Tiantian Zhang
was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee to take her place. On
April 8, 2024, Mr. Chen Yu resigned as a non-executive Director in order
to devote more time to his other work arrangements.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that our Company has
complied with applicable principles and code provisions of the CG Code as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

THE BOARD
(1) Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of our Group,
overseeing our Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of our
Group to the senior management of our Group. To oversee particular
aspects of our Company’s affairs, the Board has established five
Board committees including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Investment Committee
and the Executive Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board
committees’ responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference. All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to perform their duties.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole at all times.
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(2) Directors’ and Senior Management’s

Liability Insurance and Indemnity

Our Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of our Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

(3) Board Composition

During the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, the Board composition is set out below:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee

Ms. Tiantian Zhang

Ms. Cai Li (resigned on November 27, 2023)
Mr. Chen Yu (resigned on April 8, 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee is Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s sister. Save for this,
there is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the Board members.

Under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, at least one independent
non-executive Director should possess appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Mr. Wong Hin Wing, one of the independent non-
executive Directors, has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required by
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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(4) Confirmation of Independence by the
Independent Non-executive Directors

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation in writing of his/her
independence. Our Company considers that, during the Reporting
Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date, all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

(5) Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of our Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi,
Mr. Dai Xiangrong, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Tiantian
Zhang, Ms. Cai Li®¥, Mr. Chen Yu®, Mr. Wong Hin Wing, Prof.
Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang, were regularly briefed on
the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations. Internally-facilitated briefings for the Directors would be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be provided
to the Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at our Company’s expense.

Notes:

(€D} On November 27, 2023, Ms. Cai Li resigned as a non-executive Director.

) On April 8, 2024, Mr. Chen Yu resigned as a non-executive Director.
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(6) Chairman and CEO

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and not be
performed by the same individual. Dr. Li Xiaoyi currently serves as
both the chairman of the Board and the CEO. Dr. Li Xiaoyi has been
operating and managing our Group since its establishment. Our
Board believes that vesting the roles of both CEO and chairman of
the Board in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership and efficient discharge of executive functions within our
Group. We consider that the balance of power and authority of the
present arrangement will not be impaired as the Board comprises
eight other experienced and high-calibre individuals who would be
able to offer advice from various perspectives. In addition, for major
decisions of our Group, our Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.

Therefore, our Directors consider that the present arrangement
is beneficial to and in the interests of our Company and our
Shareholders as a whole and the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.
The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of our Group in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of chairman of the Board and CEO is
necessary.

We are committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance (which is of critical importance to our development) to
protect the interest of the Shareholders. Save as disclosed above,
our Directors consider that our Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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(7) Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company. The initial term of their respective service
contracts shall commence from the Listing Date and continue for a
period of three years until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the service contract or by our executive Directors
giving to us not less than 30 days’ prior notice in writing.

Each of the non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Hin Wing (an
independent non-executive Director) and Prof. Lo Yuk Lam (an
independent non-executive Director) entered into an appointment
letter with our Company. The initial term for their appointment
letters shall commence from the Listing Date and continue for a
period of three years until terminated in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving
to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing. Mr.
Liew Fui Kiang entered into an appointment letter with our Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from June 6, 2022
subject to termination by either party with three month’s written
notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of our Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of our Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of our Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from
office and be eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting,
provided that every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall retain office
until the close of the meeting at which he/she retires and shall be
eligible for re-election thereat.
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(8) Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and (8) EE2E%  ZE522FRKF

General Meeting AE

We adopt the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at REMEARES  EFggRcHRT 8F
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. ELBRTER - HEGFEH—R - FHEEES
Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once every year and FELBIT-REE  MEZRZESEFELE
the Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Due notice ﬂﬁﬁ//?’;u% FEEEQeREETROMNBA
should be given for all Board meetings to provide all Directors with CHEBEEAEHS R REWREEEUAAT
an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for a ,HHE%E%& c BHELHBATIMNESHBAEEZ
regular meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company B FAZENWERT XN ERESS
secretary or the duly appointed secretary of the relevant Board FEFZESEN  UHHELER KRGS -

committees with copies circulated to relevant Board or Board
committee for comments and records.

The Board has established the Investment Committee and Executive EEQENUREZEGRWITEES  BER
Committee to handle affairs relating to the investment aspects of BERAARARREGERBNER  NBREEEE
our Company, further regulate the governance structure of the MERZEE - URIRMEIR R -

Board and safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, eight Board meetings, two Audit RIREHR - RATIEEITREZTEYHE - 28
Committee meetings, three Remuneration Committee meetings, EREZEEEE INTHEES SR - 2XIER
two Nomination Committee meetings, three Investment Committee ZE®®H  3KKRAZE E’SE§&12/'X$M?§
meetings and twelve Executive Committee meetings were held. BEggz - TRIJEFNEFEEE LB
A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board FRABRRRGHHFLHEHE
meetings, committee meetings and general meeting is set out in the
table below:
Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Executive General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Director f £33 Ezg ENZES ¥MzES REZEE REZEE HZER REAE
Executive Directors: HTES
Dr. Li Xiaoyi EXE h 8 - - 2 3 12 1
Mr. Dai Xiangrong mREE 8 - - - - 12 1
Non-executive Directors: FHTES:
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee — Z (it 7 - - - - - -
Ms. Tiantian Zhang Rt 8 - 3 - - - 1
Ms. Cai Li (resigned Bilnt(x2023%
on November 27, 2023) 1152788H) 6 2 - - - - 1
Mr. Chen Yu (resigned R (R2024%
on April 8, 2024) 458AFT) 4 - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BI¥HTEE
Directors:
Mr. Wong Hin Wing BEAEE 8 2 3 2 3 - 1
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam BEHAR 8 - 3 2 3 - 1
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang YRk 8 2 - - - - 1
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During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board has also held
a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of the other Directors in accordance with the code
provision C.2.7 in part 2 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the contribution required from each Director
to perform their responsibilities to our Company and is satisfied that
each of Directors has been spending sufficient time in performing
their responsibilities during the Reporting Period.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

We have adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as its securities code to regulate the dealing by the
Directors in securities of our Company.

Having made specific inquiry of all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the
Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees who are
likely to be in possession of inside information of our Company was
noted by our Company.

(10) Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
our Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at our Company’s expense and
are encouraged to access and to consult with our Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of our Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure
that they remain appropriate to our Company’s needs. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management on our Company’s behalf.
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(11) Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and has delegated the corporate
governance duties to the Audit Committee which include:

(a) to develop and review our Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of our
Company;

(c) to review and monitor our Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors of
our Company; and

(e) to review our Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in this corporate governance report.

(12) Board Independence

The Board established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board, including, among others, (i)
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to actively
participate in the Board meetings; (ii) the number of independent
non-executive Directors must comply with the requirement under
the Listing Rules; (iii) sufficient resources shall be provided to the
Board if it thinks necessary to seek independent professional advice
from Independent Third Parties; and (iv) the independent non-
executive Directors shall devote sufficient time to discharge their
duties as a Director.

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms on an annual basis, which have been reviewed and
considered effective by the Board for the year ended December 31,
2023.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

(1) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Wong Hin
Wing. Dr. Li Xiaoyi is the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, diversity, size and composition of the Board, assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to
make recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of
Directors and Board succession. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the respective website
of the Stock Exchange and our Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee meetings
were held on March 27, 2023 and August 23, 2023. The attendance
record of the committee members is set out in the section headed “—
The Board — (8) Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General
Meeting” of this corporate governance report. The following is a
summary of key work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the Reporting Period:

. assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

- reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

. reviewed the revised board diversity policy of our Company (the

“Board Diversity Policy”) and Directors nomination policy
(the “Nomination Policy”) and made recommendations to
the Board for approval; and

. made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting held in 2023.

The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent
on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision.
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(2) Nomination Policy

We have adopted a Nomination Policy for evaluating and appointing
any candidate for directorship. The Nomination Committee will
review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness. A summary of the Nomination Policy is set out below:

Purpose

Selection Criteria

Nomination Procedure

The Nomination Policy sets out the
approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors.

The Nomination Committee would
consider the following criteria, including,
among other things, character and
integrity, qualifications (cultural and
educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under
the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of qualifications,
skills, experience, independence and
diversity, and willingness and ability
to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board or
Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee will
recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance
with the following procedures and
processes as set out in the Nomination
Policy:

- the Nomination Committee will,
giving consideration to the current
composition and size of the Board,
develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at
the outset to focus the search
effort on suitable candidates,
where necessary;
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the Nomination Committee may
consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or
selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing
Directors, advertisements,
recommendations from an
independent agency firm and
proposals from Shareholders
with due consideration given
to the criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy;

the Nomination Committee may
adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the
suitability of the candidates,
such as conducting interviews,
background checks, presentations
and third-party reference checks;

upon considering a candidate
suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold
a meeting or by way of written
resolutions to, if thought fit,
approve the recommendation to
the Board for appointment;

the Nomination Committee
will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board
in relation to the proposed
appointment and the proposed
remuneration package; and

the Board will have the final
authority in determining the
selection of nominees and all
appointment of Directors will
be confirmed by the filing of
the consent to act as Director
of the relevant Director (or any
other similar filings requiring the
relevant Director to acknowledge
or accept the appointment as
Director, as the case may be).
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In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regard to the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

Board Diversity Policy

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy for achieving and
maintaining diversity on the Board. Our Company recognizes and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level, including gender diversity, as an essential
element in maintaining our Company’s competitive advantage and
enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate employees from
the widest possible pool of available talent. A summary of the Board
Diversity Policy is set out below:

Purpose The Board Diversity Policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board and enable the Board to
comply with the CG Code.

Policy Statement Our Company considers increasing
diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. All
Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background,
industry experience, technical capabilities,
professional qualifications and skills,
knowledge and length of service. The
Board should also take into account
factors relating to its own business model
and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Measurable Objectives
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Progress on Achieving The Board will take the opportunity
the Objectives to increase the proportion of female
members over time when selecting and

making recommendation on suitable

candidates for Board appointments. The

Board will ensure that appropriate balance

of gender diversity is achieved with

reference to stakeholders’ expectation

and international and local recommended

best practices, with the ultimate goal

of bringing the Board to gender parity.

The Board also aspires to having an

appropriate proportion of Directors who

have direct experience in our Group’s

core markets, with different ethnic

backgrounds, and reflecting our strategy.

The Nomination Committee and the Board have reviewed the
diversity of the Board and the Board Diversity Policy for the
Reporting Period. As of December 31, 2023, the diversity profile of
the Board is analyzed as follows:

- the Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
overall management, business development, R&D, quality
control, public relationships, regulatory affairs and corporate
finance;

- the Board members also consist of six males and two females,
with two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors, of ages
ranging from 41 to 75; and

- the education background of the Directors includes pharmacology,
biochemistry, business administration, management science
and engineering, finance and accountancy, with degrees
awarded by education institutions in the PRC, Hong Kong and
the United States.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, the composition of the Board is REEERAITRE  E5gERKERE5E
five males and two females (namely Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee RmE (DR AT AR+ RARF#E 2 1) ©
and Ms. Tiantian Zhang). The diversity of the Board is illustrated as EEENLZTCBMMIT - EFEFEREHHE
below. Further details on the bios and experience of the Directors — BN A FREI6EA8E ©
are set out on pages 36 to 48 of this annual report.
U.S.
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?,{re‘fif‘?;! Thailand
7 ailan
Ee
60 or above
I;/IHale GO%EEJZD/{L 1 Chinese
Non-Executive Stk H
Z8 Director
EMITES
Chinese
Hong Kong)
Independent -
Non-Executive 40-59 E%% )
Director 40572 595% !
BIUFHTES Female
7k
Position Gender Age Group Nationality
B B F#ra R EI%E
As of December 31, 2023, the gender ratio of the workforce R2023F12A31H @ AEEAE(BEHITE
(including executive Directors and senior management) of our Group EREAEERE)NMERIL G4 B162%
is approximately 162 female per 151 male, and the gender ratio 15153 MASESRERE(RERTE
of the senior management (including executive Directors) of our E)HMERILL BB BREZ L ERNZ BN - AN
Group is approximately five female per nine male. The diversity of RIABMZTERBMmMT o

workforce of our Company is illustrated as below.
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After evaluating various factors, the Company has set a goal of
having at least two directors of different genders. As of December
31, 2023, the Board has two female Directors, which meets the goal
of Board gender diversity, and the number of female Directors
represent 25.0% of the Board, which is slightly higher than the
industry average.

Considering gender diversity, the Nomination Committee recognized
that our Company has been sufficiently diverse at both the Board
and workforce levels. Considering the structure diversity, the
Nomination Committee was also of the opinion that the structure
of Board is reasonable, equipping a balanced mix of skill-set,
experience, expertise, and diversity which enhances decision-making
capability and the overall effectiveness of the Board in achieving
sustainable business operation and enhancing Shareholder value.

The Board is also satisfied with the gender diversity of the
Company’s employees (including senior management). The Board
is not aware of any factors or circumstances that would make it
more challenging or less relevant for the Group to achieve gender
diversity among its employees.

Going forward, our Company will engage more resources in
training female staff who have long and relevant experience in the
ophthalmology industry, with the aim of promoting them to the
senior management or directorship of our Group. We expect to have
more female members who would be qualified to sit on the Board
in the future. We also welcome all gender to join. The recruitment
strategy is to employ a right staff for a right position regardless of
gender. Our Company commits to providing equal opportunities to
our staff in respect of recruitment, training and development, job
advancement, and remuneration and benefits.

The Board and Nomination Committee will continue to consider
setting measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and review such objectives from time to time to ensure
their appropriateness and ascertain continuous compliance by our
Company with the board diversity requirement under the Listing
Rules, including gender diversity.

(3) Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, the Remuneration Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
and Mr. Wong Hin Wing, and one non-executive Director, namely Ms.
Tiantian Zhang. Prof. Lo Yuk Lam is the chairman of the committee.
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) assessing performance of
executive Directors; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing the policy on such remuneration; (iii)
determining the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and
senior management; (iv) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time; and (v) reviewing and
approving matters relating to share schemes in accordance with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee meetings
were held on March 27, 2023, July 21, 2023 and August 23, 2023.
The attendance record of the committee members is set out in the
section headed “— The Board — (8) Board Meetings, Committee
Meetings and General Meeting” of this corporate governance
report. The following is a summary of key work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the Reporting Period:

- made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of the individual executive Directors and senior
management;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on our

Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management;

. reviewed and revised the terms of reference of Remuneration
Committee and made recommendation to the Board for
approval; and

. reviewed the performance of duties of Directors and senior
management of our Company and conducted annual
performance appraisals on them.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the second model
described in code provision E.1.2(c) in Part 2 of the CG Code (i.e.
make recommendation to our Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of our Company).

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries and
allowances, performance-based bonuses, share-based payments
and retirement benefit scheme contributions of the relevant
Directors) payable to the Directors for the year ended December
31, 2023 was approximately RMB21.3 million. The remuneration
of the Directors is determined with reference to salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors and performance of our Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors and the senior management of our Company are set
out in Note 9 to the Financial Statements.

TEERRSE

FMEZE SN I EREBEENRNATRE
OFZRTESORE  (DRRMEREEL
BREEABNFHBRERE - RRERIER
i EBRENEFHIRIHFMEBER - AERERN
B (INET2REFRSREEAENER
S (V2REFETRIANEEER
BE RAUERIBESAHE - R(v)IZR ETRAIE
TEEEHRIERRBROFENEER -

RIEER - HFHEE S B MN2023F3/27H »
2023%7H21HM202348 8230 L7 °
ZESRENEELEHNACEET ARE —ZF
FE-B)EFLgH  ZEZeEMRERE]
—f o LT AFINZEeNREHANEE T
e

- AESERREHNDTETRSREEA
BMFINGE

. BRI ARRNEREERSRERASN
FNER R R - WA BBER RRER
EEEROER

. e REFTHNE R e BiEsE - X E
EEQRHESUMREL &

. BERERERARASREEABRBITRG
BB - W ETTFE R

THZE e M EEATRE —H o< h
BXE.L2(c)FimE —EiE (A2 BEE
RARRSHEIRA BB EHIEE RAER
ERSRHER) -

HE2023F12A318 L F/E « ENESBOZHMH
BEE(BIEEREENNS « Foloeah - KRBT
AL~ DA BERE R R RE R BT 4
BARE21.3EETT - EEHMHBBRAE LK
AR ANFS EBRBNNBEEEENET
URAEENKBEE - EERAQADHRER
B H BN IS E A M IR R M RO ©

Annual Report 2023 F3§

65



66

Corporate Governance Report

PR

EEawmE

Remuneration by band of the senior management (including two
executive Directors) of our Group for the year ended December 31,
2023 are set out below:

HZE2023F12 A31 A L FEEFTMEE S H 0
AEESRERAB(BEMBRITES) HoIR
T

Number of senior

Remuneration band (HK$) management
HNEsE () BREEABAY
0-5,000,000 12
5,000,001-10,000,000 2

(4) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Board with its written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hin Wing
and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang, and one non-executive Director, namely
Ms. Tiantian Zhang. Mr. Wong Hin Wing, being the chairman of the
committee, is appropriately qualified as required under Rules 3.10(2)
and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal controls system of our Group, review the financial
information of our Company, review the effectiveness of the internal
audit function, consider issues relating to the external auditors
and their appointment, review and approve connected transactions
and advise the Board. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
integrity audit and inspection in accordance with the whistleblowing
policy, which provides proper arrangements for employees, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control and other matters. The whistleblowing
policy aims to provide reporting channels and guidance on reporting
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other
matters, and reassurance to persons reporting their concerns under
this policy of the protection that our Company will extend to them
against unfair disciplinary action or victimization for any genuine
reports made.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee met twice with
the auditors to review, among others, the annual results for the year
ended December 31, 2022 and the interim results for the six months
ended June 30, 2023 in accordance to code provisions of the CG
Code and the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee meetings were
held on March 27, 2023 and August 23, 2023. The attendance record
of the committee members is set out in “— The Board — (8) Board
Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meeting.” The following
is a summary of key work performed by the Audit Committee during
the Reporting Period:

- reviewed together with the management the accounting
principles and policies adopted by us, and the accuracy and
fairness of the consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended December 31, 2022 and for the six
months ended June 30, 2023, respectively;

. reviewed the risk management and internal control systems
and the effectiveness of internal audit function and discussed
with the management and internal audit on their findings. For
details, please refer to the section headed “— Risk Management
and Internal Control” of this corporate governance report;

- performed annual review of the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions of our Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022;

. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of external
auditor at the annual general meeting held in 2023; and

- approved the audit plan for the financial year ended December
31, 2023, reviewed the independence of external auditor and
approved its engagement.

(5) Investment Committee

The Investment Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Investment Committee comprises
one Executive Director, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hin Wing and Prof. Lo
Yuk Lam. Mr. Wong Hin Wing is the chairman of the committee.

The primary duties of the Investment Committee are to review
proposed investments, make recommendations to the Board of
Directors, make subsequent assessments of investments, and review
and consider the overall investment strategy, direction and business
development of our Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Investment Committee meetings
were held on June 12, 2023, October 6, 2023 and October 27, 2023.
The attendance record of the committee members is set out in “—
The Board — (8) Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General
Meeting.” The following is a summary of key work performed by the
Investment Committee during the Reporting Period:

- reviewed, evaluated and proposed to the Board for approval
any investment project;

- reviewed and set the annual investment plan of our Company;
and
. determined whether the proposed investment project is in the

interests of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

(6) Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established by the Board with its
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Executive Committee comprises
two executive Directors, namely Dr. Li Xiaoyi and Mr. Dai Xiangrong,
Company’s CSO, Dr. Lau Lit Fui, Company’s CBO and CFO, Ms. Feng
Xinyan and Company’s CMO, Dr. Albert Tsai Jr. The chairman of the
committee is Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee are to manage the
day-to-day activities of our business through (i) developing and
implementing strategy, operational plans, policies, procedures
and budgets; (ii) deriving and monitoring operating and financial
performance; (iii) assessing and controlling risks; and (iv)
prioritizing and allocating resources.

During the Reporting Period, the Executive Committee meetings
were held on the last working day of each month. The attendance
record of the committee members is set out in “— The Board — (8)
Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meeting.” The
following is a summary of key work performed by the Executive
Committee during the Reporting Period:

- developed and implemented strategy, operational plans,
policies, procedures and budgets of our Group as a whole;

- drove and monitored operating and financial performance on
monthly bases; and

- prioritized and allocated resources on daily operation and each
R&D project.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 which give a true and
fair view of the affairs of our Company and our Group and of our Group’s
results and cash flows.

The management of our Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the Financial Statements, which are put to
the Board for approval. We provide all members of the Board with monthly
updates on our performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon our Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the external auditor of our Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges it is responsible for our Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG risk), it is willing to
take in achieving our Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design and implementation, and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.
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Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses
or fraud, we have developed and adopted various risk management
procedures, which comprised the following steps:

- Risk identification: Identify major and significant risks that could
affect the achievement of goals of our Group;

- Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk according
to its likely impact and the likelihood of occurrence; and

- Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the
risks.

In addition, we developed guidelines with defined authority for
implementation by key business processes and office functions. All
departments conducted internal control assessments regularly to identify
risks that potentially impact the business of our Group and various aspects,
including key operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance
and information security.

The management, in coordination with department heads, assessed the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provided treatment plans, monitored the
risk management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems. Through our
current risk management and the newly established ESG risk management
statement, we could therefore cover various types of risks more
comprehensively. We are devoted to maximizing Shareholders value while
ensuring the risk is at an acceptable level. We provide various training
programs to keep our employees updated on relevant laws, regulations
and policies. Our new employees are required to attend compliance
training programs soon after on-boarding, and must pass tests that
examine their understanding of the compliance issues addressed by the
training programs. Our employees are also required to regularly attend
further onsite and online training sessions to keep them informed of the
recent updates in the relevant laws and regulations.

We have formulated an information disclosure management system to
clarify the relevant obligations of insiders, reporting procedures and
information disclosure responsibilities of relevant personnel, and arrange
self-inspection in a timely manner. Our Group monitors possible inside
information and organizes intermediary agencies to determine whether the
information is inside information or whether needs to be disclosed.

We have formulated the whistleblowing policy for employees to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in operation,
financial reporting or other matters. Such arrangement will be reviewed
by the Audit Committee which ensures that proper arrangement is in place
for fair and independent investigation of the matters.

We also issued prevention of bribery and corruption policy to ensure

employees are aware of anti-corruption laws and regulations and
regulatory obligations.
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Our Company reviews risk management and internal control systems once
a year. Our Group’s internal control and risk management reports for the
year ended December 31, 2023 were submitted to the Audit Committee
and the Board of Directors for review in March 2024. The Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee as well as the management, reviewed
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year
ended December 31, 2023, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and
internal audit function, qualifications, experiences, training programmes
and relevant resources.

Also, the Board engaged KPMG to assess the effectiveness of our Group’s
risk management and internal control systems once a year, which covered
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management functions during the year ended
December 31, 2023. The assessment report was reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Board. No major issue was raised for improvement.
The Board is satisfied with the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems of our Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Audit fees of our Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 payable to
the external auditors were approximately RMB2.2 million and our Group
incurred approximately RMB1.1 million in 2023 for non-audit services
related to review of interim financial information and other advisory and
other non-assurance services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Yau Suk Yan
undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update her skills and knowledge during the Reporting Period.

GENERAL MEETING

The AGM is scheduled to be held on May 17, 2024. A notice convening the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders of our Company
in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

We consider that effective communication with the Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the Shareholders
and potential investors on our business, performance and strategies.
We also recognize the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure
of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make
informed investment decisions.

We have adopted the Shareholders communication policy with the
objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential investors
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about our Company. To promote effective
communication, we have established several channels to communicate
with the Shareholders as follows:

- both English and Chinese versions of corporate communications
(as defined in the Listing Rules) such as annual reports, interim
reports and circulars are issued in printed form (if request) and
electronic form are available on the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk and our Company’s website at zkoph.com;

- periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective website of the Stock Exchange and our
Company, where up-to-date information on our Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public

access;
- corporate information is made available on our Company’s website;
- annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for

the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management. The chairman of the Board will
attend the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions; and

- the Hong Kong branch share registrar of our Company serves the
Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment and
related matters.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the Reporting Period
regularly and considered that it is effective and adequately implemented.
The Board will continue to review the Shareholders’ communication policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

We keep on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication
with the current Shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes
suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. Inquires to
the Board or our Company may be sent by post to our principal place of
business in Hong Kong.
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To preserve environment and increase efficiency in communication
with the Shareholders, the Company made arrangement pursuant to
Rule 2.07A and 2.07B of the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
for the Shareholders to elect to receive corporate communication in
printed form or by electronic means through the Company’s website.
Shareholders have the right to change their choice of receipt of its
corporate communications (as defined in the Listing Rules) at any time
by giving reasonable notice to the Company. The change request form
may be downloaded from the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Company will send the actionable corporate communication
(as defined in the Listing Rules) to the Shareholders individually in
electronic form by email or in printed form (if requested or if the Company
does not possess the functional email address of the Shareholders).

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each substantially
separate issue at Shareholder meetings, including nomination and election
of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholder meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of our Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after
each Shareholder meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting

In accordance with Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of our Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by our Company.
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(2) Procedures for putting forward proposals
at general meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman lIslands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association for
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of
Article 64 are set out above.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of our Company.

(3) Enquires to the Board

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests
to our Company as follows:

Address: Unit 716, 7/F, Building 12W, Phase 3,
Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong
Email: info@zkoph.com

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company was incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and
continued in the Cayman Islands. We have never declared or paid any
dividends during the Reporting Period. We may need dividends and other
distributions on equity from our PRC subsidiaries to satisfy our liquidity
requirements. Current PRC regulations permit our PRC subsidiaries to pay
dividends to us only out of their accumulated profits, if any, determined
in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. In addition,
our PRC subsidiaries are required to set aside at least 10% of their
respective accumulated profits each year, if any, to fund certain reserve
funds until the total amount set aside reaches 50% of their respective
registered capital. Our PRC subsidiaries may also allocate a portion of its
after-tax profits based on PRC accounting standards to employee welfare
and bonus funds at their discretion. These reserves are not distributable
as cash dividends. Furthermore, if our PRC subsidiaries incur debt on their
own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict
their ability to pay dividends or make other payments to us. In addition,
the PRC tax authorities may require us to adjust our taxable income under
the contractual arrangements we currently have in place in a manner that
would materially and adversely affect our PRC subsidiaries’ ability to pay
dividends and other distributions to us.
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Our Company currently intends to retain all available funds and any
future earnings, if any, to fund the R&D of our drug candidates and we do
not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any
declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to our constitutional documents and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. The declaration and payment of any dividends in the future will be
determined by our Board of Directors, in its discretion, and will depend on
a number of factors, including our earnings, capital requirements, overall
financial conditions and contractual restrictions. Our Shareholders in a
general meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must
not exceed the amount recommended by our Board. As advised by our
Cayman lIslands counsel, under the Cayman Islands law a company may
declare and pay a dividend out of either profits or share premium account,
provided that in no circumstances may a dividend be declared or paid if
this would result in the company being unable to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. Investors should not purchase our
Shares with the expectation of receiving cash dividends.

If we pay dividends in the future, in order for us to distribute dividends
to our Shareholders, we will rely to some extent on any dividends
distributed by our PRC subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from
our PRC subsidiaries to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In
addition, regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends
of a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax profits
as determined in accordance with its articles of association and the
accounting standards and regulations in China. For details, please refer to
the paragraphs headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Doing Business in
China — We may rely on dividends and other distributions on equity paid
by our PRC subsidiary to fund any cash and financing requirements we
may have, and any limitation on the ability of our PRC subsidiary to make
payments to us could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to
conduct our business” of the Prospectus.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There is no change in constitutional documents of our Company during the
Reporting Period.
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The Board is pleased to present this report of Directors together with the
Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board composition is set
out below:

Executive Directors

Dr. Li Xiaoyi (Chairman of the Board and CEO)
Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun

Ms. Tiantian Zhang

Ms. Cai Li (resigned on November 27, 2023)
Mr. Chen Yu (resigned on April 8, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hin Wing
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang

Save for the resignation of Ms. Cai Li as a non-executive Director which
took effect from November 27, 2023 and the resignation of Mr. Chen Yu
as a non-executive Director which took effective from April 8, 2024, all the
abovenamed Directors remained as Directors of the Company up to our
Latest Practicable Date.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company was incorporated in the BVI on January 20, 2017 with
limited liability and continued in the Cayman Islands on April 29, 2021 as
an exempted company with limited liability. Our Company’s Shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on April 29, 2021.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are an ophthalmic pharmaceutical company dedicated to the research,
development and commercialization of therapies that address significant
unmet medical needs in China. Leveraging our deep domain expertise,
we have built a comprehensive ophthalmic drug pipeline that covers
most major ocular indications affecting the front and the back of the
eye, through either in-house development or in-licensing. We have
also established an advanced ophthalmic manufacturing facility and are
assembling an experienced marketing team in anticipation of near-term
product launch.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of our Group during the year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including a discussion and analysis on our Group’s future business
development and the financial and operational key performance indicators
employed by the Directors in measuring the performance of our Group’s
business is set out in the sections headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 11 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties
faced by our Group, some of which are beyond our control:

- Our business and financial prospects depend substantially on the
success of our drug candidates, most of which are in preclinical
or clinical development. If we are unable to successfully develop
and commercialize our drug candidates, or experience significant
delays in doing any of the foregoing, our business may be materially
harmed.

- We may not be able to identify, discover or in-license new drug
candidates, and may allocate our limited resources to pursue a
particular drug candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on drug
candidates or indications that may later prove to be more profitable,
or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

- The R&D of our drug candidates involves a lengthy and expensive
process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies
and trials may not be predictive of future trial results.

- If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our
clinical trials and the commercialization of our drug candidates could
be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

- We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing,
or may ultimately be unable to complete, the development and
commercialization of our drug candidates.
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- We may be unable to obtain, or experience delays in obtaining,
required regulatory approvals for our drug candidates in our target
markets.

- Our drug candidates, if and when approved, will be subject to

ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review,
which may result in significant additional expenses and we
may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements.

- Our future approved drugs may fail to achieve the degree of market
acceptance by ophthalmologists, patients, third-party payers and
others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

- We have limited experience in launching and marketing drug
candidates, and we may not be able to successfully create or
increase market awareness of our products or sell our products,
which will materially affect our ability to generate product sales
revenue.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment and
giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.

Our Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be
prepared together with this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, we have complied in
all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of our Group. During the
year ended December 31, 2023, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by our Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

A review of the employees and remuneration policies of our Group for the
Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on page 34 of this annual report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Our Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and not previously covered by the
defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the PRC, our Group
in the PRC participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the “RBS Schemes”) organized by the local government authorities
whereby our Company and its subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
make contributions to the RBS Schemes based on certain percentages
of the eligible employee’s salaries. The local government authorities
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no forfeited
contributions under the RBS Schemes. Accordingly, no forfeited
contribution was utilized during the year, and there was no forfeited
contribution available as of December 31, 2023, to reduce the level of
contributions.

Details of the pension contributions of our Company are set out in Note 7
to the Financial Statements in this annual report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our Group’s suppliers primarily
consisted of (i) CROs, who provided contracting services for R&D; and (ii)
suppliers of raw materials, reference drugs, machinery and equipment used
in the R&D and manufacturing activities.

We maintained good and stable relationship with our existing suppliers.
When procurement of raw materials or services or procurement from new
suppliers is necessary, we would strictly follow our internal procurement
policy to select suppliers, raw materials or services. For selecting
CRO service providers, our procurement team normally requests the
potential supplier to provide, among others, its industrial background
and credentials, an initial service plan designed by the CRO service
provider and the quotations with breakdown of detailed components
of the CRO services and procedures involved. Furthermore, our
procurement department routinely monitors market price for procurement
of raw materials and relevant services necessary for our business, for
benchmarking and cost control purposes.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, purchases from our Group’s
five largest suppliers in the aggregate amounted to RMB42.1 million,
accounted for 32.7% of our Group’s total purchases for the same year.
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Lee’s Pharm Hefei was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm,
our Substantial Shareholder, and our Group’s largest supplier during
the Reporting Period. Purchases from Lee’s Pharm Hefei for the year
ended December 31, 2023 amounted to RMB20.9 million, accounting for
approximately 14.6% of our Group’s total purchase amount for the same
year.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates, or any Shareholder of our Company who, to the knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of our Company’s issued capital, has
any interest in any of our Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, our Group did not experience
any significant disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, our Group derived revenues from (i) the
sale of Bimatoprost Timolol eye drop (f&J1Z=®); and (ii) the sale of &15®
series of eyepatches.

We had established a broad customer base, including patients, hospitals
and medical products trade company. We maintain an outstanding
sales and marketing team, which is responsible for the promotion of
our products to patients, hospitals and medical products trade company
through omnichannel marketing activities, such as academic activities and
other new digital initiatives, to interact with KOLs as well as other industry
professionals.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, revenue generated from our
Group’s five largest customers in the aggregate amounted to RMB11.7
million, accounted for 66.7% of our Group’s total revenue for the same
year. For the year ended December 31, 2023, revenue generated from our
Group’s single largest customer amounted to RMB5.6 million, accounted
for 29.9% of our Group’s total revenue for the same year.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholder who, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5%
of our Company’s issued capital, has any interest in any of our Group’s
five largest customers.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we did not experience any
significant disputes with our customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH
STAKEHOLDERS

Our Group recognizes that various stakeholders including suppliers,
customers, employees, Shareholders and other business associates are
key to our success. Our Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with
them.
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Relationship with Our Suppliers

Details of relationship with our suppliers are provided in “Major Suppliers”
in this report of Directors.

Relationship with Our Customers

Details of relationship with our customers are provided in “Major
Customers” in this report of Directors.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating our
employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We conduct new employee
training, as well as professional and compliance training programs for
employees. We enter into employment contracts with our employees to
cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. The
remuneration package of our employees usually includes salary, bonus
and share option incentives, which are generally determined by their
qualifications, industry experience, position and performance. We make
contributions to social insurance and housing provident funds as required
by the applicable laws and regulations.

Relationship with Our Licensing Partners and
Business Partners

We maintain long-term relationships and effective communication with
our licensing partners and business partners to better achieve corporate
goals, through leveraging their resources and established capabilities. We
believe that licensing arrangements and business partnerships are in the
interests of our Shareholders as a whole.

Relationship with Shareholders

We recognize the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them. We
believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way process
and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information
disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the Shareholders and listen
carefully to the views and feedback from the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
our Company are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 36 to 48 of this annual report.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
our Company. The initial term of their respective service contracts shall
commence for a period of three years until terminated in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the service contract or by our executive
Directors giving to us not less than 30 days’ prior notice in writing.

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall commence for a period of
three years until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by the Shareholders at the first general meeting of our
Company after appointment and any new Director appointed as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the
Shareholders at the next following annual general meeting of our Company
after appointment.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract with our Company or any member of our Group which
is not determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
December 31, 2023 was our Company or any of our subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, our Company or any
other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of our Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised
any such right.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code, our
Company has established the Remuneration Committee to formulate
remuneration policies. The remuneration is determined and recommended
based on each Director’s and senior management personnel’s qualification,
position and seniority. As for the independent non-executive Directors,
their remuneration is determined by the Board upon recommendation from
the Remuneration Committee. The Directors and the senior management
personnel are eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and the Post-1PO Share Option Scheme.
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors, CEO and the five highest
paid individuals for the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 9 and 10
to the Financial Statements. During the Reporting Period, none of the
Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there was no
emoluments paid by our Group to any of the Directors as an inducement
to join, or upon joining our Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in “Connected Transactions” in the report of Directors
of this annual report, none of the Directors nor any entity connected with
the Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, whether for the
provision of services or otherwise, to our Group to which our Company,
its holding company, or any of our subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended December 31,
2023.

INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Since the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we did not
have a Controlling Shareholder.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Each of Dr. Li Xiaoyi and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun currently serves as a
director in Lee’s Pharm. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the remaining
business of the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group includes an ophthalmic
drug, namely Eyprotor, which is indicated for healing of tissue without
angiogenesis effect, while our product candidates include adapalene/
clindamycin hydrochloride compound gel (“ACCG”), a dermatological
drug candidate for the treatment of moderate acne vulgaris. Each of Lee’s
Pharm and our Company considers that the existence of Eyprotor and
ACCG will not affect the business delineation and give rise to any material
competition between our Group and the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group for
the reasons set out in the section headed “Relationship with Lee’s Pharm —
Delineation of Business between the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group and our
Group — Delineation of Businesses” of the Prospectus.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi resigned from all his executive positions in Lee’s Pharm
prior to Listing and currently only serves as a non-executive director in
Lee’s Pharm. Although Ms. Leelalertsuphakun currently still serves as an
executive director and managing director in Lee’s Pharm, she only takes a
non-executive role in our Company and will not hold any executive senior
management position within our Group. Our Directors are of the view that
our Group will be managed and will operate independently of Lee’s Pharm
in the interests of our Shareholders as a whole. For further details about
the independence of our Company from the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group,
please see the section headed “Relationship with Lee’s Pharm” of the
Prospectus.
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Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and save for their respective interests
in our Group, none of the Directors was interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of our Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

From time to time our non-executive Directors may serve on the boards
of both private and public companies within the broader healthcare
and biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these non-executive
Directors are neither our Controlling Shareholders nor members of our
executive management team, we do not believe that their interests in
such companies as directors would render us incapable of carrying on our
business independently from the other companies in which they may hold
directorships from time to time.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of our Company was entered or
existed during the year ended December 31, 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 27 to the Financial
Statements, the following transactions constitute connected transactions
for our Company under Rule 14A.23 of the Listing Rules and are required
to be disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of
the Listing Rules. Our Company confirmed that the other related party
transactions do not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or
“continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please see below the
information required to be disclosed in compliance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

One-off Connected Transactions

(1) Lease Agreement

Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Lee’s Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules,
Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou is regarded as our connected person.
Pursuant to the lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) entered
into between Zhaoke Guangzhou (as lessee) and Lee’s Pharm
Guangzhou (as lessor) on March 1, 2022, Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou
agreed to lease to our Group the premises consists of seven plots
with a total gross area of approximately 11,258 sq.m., which
located at Zhujiang Industrial Park, Nansha District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, PRC, for our uses as office, production plant
and warehouse. The terms of the Lease Agreement will expire on
January 1, 2025, with a piece of plot lease from August 1, 2022.
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The total rental fee under the Lease Agreement amount to
approximately RMB599,323 per month (inclusive of maintenance
fee) to be paid monthly. The transaction amount incurred under the
Lease Agreement during the Reporting Period was approximately
RMB7.2 million.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the common
industry practice and long-term lease relationship between Zhaoke
Guangzhou and Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou, we believe it is cost
efficient and beneficial to our operations to continue to lease the
premises from Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou. For further details, see our
announcements published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and our Company dated March 1, 2022.

Assets Transfer Agreement

Lee’s Pharm Hefei is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, our Substantial Shareholder. Under the Listing Rules, Lee’s
Pharm Hefei is regarded as our connected person. Pursuant to the
assets transfer agreement (the “Assets Transfer Agreement”)
entered into between Zhaoke Guangzhou (as transferee) and
Lee’s Pharm Hefei (as transferor) on November 13, 2023, Zhaoke
Guangzhou agreed to acquire, and Lee’s Pharm Hefei agreed to
transfer, among others, (i) the MAH and global distribution rights
therefor, (ii) all intellectual property rights relating thereto, including
all technologies and process relating to the R&D, registration and
commercialization, (iii) contractual interests associated therewith,
(iv) trademarks employed thereby, and (v) the remaining inventory
thereof, as held by Lee’s Pharm Hefei (the “Target Assets”),
relating to Eyprotor.

The total consideration under the Assets Transfer Agreement is
RMB60 million (subject to the Price Adjustment Mechanism as
defined in the Assets Transfer Agreement), which shall be payable
by Zhaoke HK to Lee’s Pharm Hefei by installment according to
milestones set out therein. If the Assets Transfer is not completed by
June 30, 2024 (the “Long Stop Date”), each of Zhaoke Guangzhou
and Zhaoke HK reserves the right to either extend the Long Stop
Date to continue negotiations regarding the closing conditions and
payment terms, or to terminate the Assets Transfer Agreement and
demand a refund of the consideration already paid.

The transaction amount incurred under the Assets Transfer
Agreement during the Reporting Period was RMB18.9 million.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the common industry
practice and long-term relationship between Zhaoke Guangzhou
and Lee’s Pharm Hefei, we believe the Assets Transfer Agreement is
entered into in the ordinary course of business of our Company and
on normal commercial terms, which are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of our Company and our Shareholders as a whole. For
further details, see our announcements published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and our Company dated November 13, 2023.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

(1) Procurement of CMO Services

Pursuant to the master CMO service agreement entered into
between Zhaoke Guangzhou (as purchaser) and Lee’s Pharm Hefei
(as supplier) on November 13, 2023 (the “Master CMO Service
Agreement”), our Group agreed to engage Lee’s Pharm Hefei as
a CMO service provider to manufacture and supply Eyprotor for
the commercial sale in compliance with GMP and relevant laws and
regulations, at a pre-determined supply price per unit, subject to
the relevant individual agreement or purchase order in the form and
substance agreed by both parties from time to time. The Master
CMO Service Agreement is set to take effect from the date when
the Target Assets have been transferred from Lee’s Pharm Hefei
to Zhaoke Guangzhou and the relevant filing and registration with
the regulatory authority in relation to such transfer have been
completed, and will remain in force until December 31, 2025. Upon
the expiration of such terms, in compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations (including the Listing Rules), it will automatically
renew for an additional term of three years, unless either party
raises an objection in writing to terminate it within 30 days prior to
the expiration date.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the R&D capabilities
and dedication proposed by Lee’s Pharm Hefei and its relevant
industry knowledge and experience, we believe engaging Lee’s
Pharm Hefei as our CMO service provider to provide the service
contemplated under the Master CMO Service Agreement is
commercially beneficial to the business of our Group. For further
details, see our announcements published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and our Company dated November 13, 2023.

Historical transaction amounts

The transaction amount incurred under the Master CMO Service
Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2023 was RMB2.0
million.

Caps on future transaction amounts

The proposed annual caps for each of the two months ended
December 31, 2023 and the two years ending December 31, 2024
and 2025 is RMB2.0 million, RMB16.0 million and RMB21.0 million,
respectively.
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(2) Procurement of CRO Services for NVK0O02

Pursuant to the CRO service agreements (the “NVKOO2 Service
Agreements”) entered into between Zhaoke Guangzhou and Lee’s
Pharm Hefei on April 8, 2022, our Group agreed to engage Lee’s
Pharm Hefei as a CRO service provider to provide relevant CRO
services for developing NVKO0O0O2 for myopia. Each of the NVK002
Service Agreements has a term commencing from April 8, 2022 to
December 31, 2024.

Based on our independent assessment and commercial judgement,
and considering the overall commercial terms, the R&D capabilities
and dedication proposed by Lee’s Pharm Hefei, its relevant industry
knowledge and experience and its familiarness with our Company’s
needs and requirements, we believe engaging Lee’s Pharm Hefei as
our CRO service provider to provide the services contemplated under
the NVKOO2 Service Agreements is commercially beneficial to the
business of our Group. For further details, see our announcements
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and our Company
dated April 8, 2022.

Historical transaction amounts

The transaction amount incurred under the NVKOO2 Service
Agreements during the Reporting Period was RMB18.1 million.

Caps on future transaction amounts

The proposed annual caps for each of the year ended December 31,
2023 and the year ending December 31, 2024 is RMB18.1 million
and RMB18.1 million, respectively.

Our Company’s auditors were engaged to report on our Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter of Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an unqualified letter
containing their responsibilities and conclusions in respect of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the Master CMO Service Agreement and NVKOO02 Service
Agreements as disclosed by our Group in this report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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(3) Product Licensing

Lee’s Pharm International is our Substantial Shareholder. Under the
Listing Rules, Lee’s Pharm International is regarded as our connected
person. Our Company and Zhaoke Guangzhou, as licensors, entered
into the license agreement with Lee’s Pharm International and
Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou (together, the “Licensees”) on October 2,
2020 (the “License Agreement”), pursuant to which we agreed
to grant exclusive license rights to the Licensees to promote and
commercialize the adapalene/clindamycin hydrochloride compound
gel (the “Licensed Product”) in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan. In consideration, the Licensees agreed to pay an upfront
payment of US$10,000,000 within 30 days after the signing of the
agreement and a milestone payment of US$5,000,000 within 14
days after obtaining the relevant regulatory approval for the new
drug registration of the Licensed Product in PRC, and to share with
us the profit derived from the sale of Licensed Product (the “Profit
Sharing”). In addition, pursuant to the License Agreement, we were
engaged by the Licensees to exclusively manufacture the Licensed
Product, and shall supply the Licensed Products to the Licensees
in the PRC (the “Licensed Product Supply”) at a determined
supply price per unit. The License Agreement has an initial term
commencing on the date of the agreement and continue to be in
force and effect until the date of the tenth anniversary of the initial
sale of the Licensed Product, and can be automatically extended
for additional consecutive renewal terms of five years each, unless
terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the License
Agreement. The License Agreement was entered into by our Group
and the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group out of independent commercial
considerations since we expect to focus our resources on the R&D
of ophthalmic pharmaceutical products, while the Retained Lee’s
Pharm Group has a developed business in dermatology field. It is
natural and commercially beneficial for both groups to enter into the
License Agreement so that both groups will be able to stick to their
respective business plans and development paths. For further details
on the procurement of CRO services, please refer to “Connected
Transactions — Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions —
Product Licensing” of the Prospectus.

Historical transaction amount

We have not received any payment under the License Agreement
for the year ended December 31, 2023 since the next payment
milestone under the License Agreement has yet been achieved as of
the end of the Reporting Period and there was no Licensed Products
supplied or net sales revenue incurred for the year ended December
31, 2023 under the License Agreement.
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Caps on future transaction amounts

We have set the annual caps for the Licensed Product Supply and
the Profit Sharing as formulas (the “Formulas”) below:

(i) Licensed Product Supply

The payment to be received by us from the Retained Lee’s
Pharm Group for supplying the Licensed Products will be
determined in accordance with the following formula:

Amount receivable by us under Licensed Product Supply =
Unit supply price® amount of Licensed Product supplied

(i) Profit Sharing

The payment receivable by us from the Retained Lee’s Pharm
Group for Profit Sharing pursuant to the License Agreement
will be determined in accordance with the following formula:

Amount of profit receivable by us under Profit Sharing? = (net
sales revenue® X 55%) — amount receivable by our Group
under Licensed Product Supply (net of tax)

There was no Licensed Products supplied or net sales revenue incurred
for the year ended December 31, 2023 under the License Agreement.
Therefore, the auditor of our Company has not reported on the above
continuing connected transactions contemplated under the License
Agreement pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Notes:

1 The unit supply price is determined by taking into consideration the cost
expected to be incurred by us for the manufacturing of Licensed Products and
a gross profit margin of approximately 60% for such manufacturing.

2 Net sales revenue shall be net of value-added taxes and sales commissions
paid to distributors.

3 If the formula produces negative results, we are not obligated to pay any
amount to the Retained Lee’s Pharm Group.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that: (i) the continuing
connected transactions as set out above have been and will be entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, on normal
commercial terms or terms better to us, that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of us and our Shareholders as a whole; and (ii) the
proposed annual caps and the alternative cap (as applicable) for the non-
exempt continuing connected transactions described in this section are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of our Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of our Company in any of the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of our Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which have been
notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including any interest or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to our Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of our Company

EERBSITHRAERARFEH
HAEBEB R - BRI UK
EREENERENAR

RERERAITEY  ARREEHRBTHRAEBRAE
RAREREEE (EE BRSNS RIIEXVED) N E
G - AR RERETHEE L RIEE S S
WEPIEXVERSE 7 80 BB A& AN 1 ] K B 52 i ey i i e
#E(BREESRIEES RAEGPIBREESORE (FR
REENEAEESAR)  KECHRRIBEFLAE
GPIF 32 A ARAFEN B MR RE » &
RBRETRID MG AR R R TS SOARIAT

RAE L ARG HIEBR G BIFE

Approximate

Number percentage in

Name of Director Nature of interest of Shares shareholding®
EEHE EmnE RHHE HREBNB DO
Dr. Li Xiaoyi® @ ® Beneficial owner 14,702,800® 2.69%
=/ \BELOOO i E=t/ 2N

Interest in controlled corporation 2,187,600® 0.40%

R EE R

Interest of spouse 166,666 0.03%

BoiBiEs
Mr. Dai Xiangrong® Beneficial owner 1,461,200 0.27%
B LE® BERMEAA
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee® Beneficial owner 223,5570 0.04%
TR+ ® BRHAA
Ms. Tiantian Zhang® Beneficial owner 200,000® 0.04%
REHEH 22 = ® E=BAA
Mr. Wong Hin Wing® Beneficial owner 200,000® 0.04%
ERRR S E® BERMEAA
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam® Beneficial owner 200,000® 0.04%
BRI ©® BRHAA
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang® Beneficial owner 200,000® 0.04%
2l@ERE® E=mBAA

Remark: The letter “L” denotes long position in such securities.
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Notes:
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®)

6)

(@)

Save

Referring to the (i) 14,022,800 Shares underlying the options granted to Dr.
Li Xiaoyi under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme; and (ii) 680,000 Shares
underlying the options granted to Dr. Li Xiaoyi under the Post-1PO Share
Option Scheme on December 15, 2022.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds 65% of the equity interest of Lee’s Healthcare Industry
Investments Limited, which in turn is the general partner of Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Fund L.P. For the purpose of the SFO, Dr. Li is deemed to have an
interest in the 2,187,600 Shares held by Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P..

Referring to the 166,666 Shares held by Dr. Li Xiaoyi's spouse.

Referring to the (i) 1,261,200 Shares underlying the options granted to Mr. Dai
Xiangrong under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme; and (ii) 200,000 Shares
underlying the options granted to Mr. Dai Xiangrong under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme on December 15, 2022.

Referring to the (i) 23,557 Shares subscribed trough preferential offering (as
defined in the Prospectus); and (ii) 200,000 Shares underlying the options
granted to Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme on December 15, 2022.

Referring to the respective 200,000 Share underlying the options granted to Ms.
Zhang Tiantian, Mr. Wong Hin Wing, Prof. Lo Yuk Lam and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang

under the Post-1PO Share Option Scheme on December 15, 2022.

Calculated based on the number of the total issued share capital of our
Company as of the Latest Practicable Date, being 546,139,172.

as disclosed above, as of the Latest Practicable Date, to the best

knowledge of the Directors or chief executive of our Company, none of
the Directors or chief executive of our Company had interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of our Company
or any of its associated corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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F12 A15AREF A AR B EERERETERE/\RIG
% B A FE BB 0680, 000H% AR 1)
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EERWE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® FTERRARKRG RAABRGHER
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN E#XE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, so far as the Directors are aware, RHREEERATHE  MEZAH - U TAL(RARE
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of  FHESTTERA BERIN RAR BIEAD sk B8R (D
our Company) had or were deemed or taken to have interests or short AW RANEEHEBIRIEEF L EEHEXVEIE2
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of our Company which K37 &8 E AR A QT ME LTI EMERSUAR
would fall to be disclosed to our Company and the Stock Exchange under (28 BIEES MG 5F 53361 AR TIAGFE
the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were  BEGMAERSAR ¢

recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to

Section 336 of the SFO:

RER ARG EIEBER G HIIFE

Long positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of our Company

Total number Approximate

of Shares/ percentage in

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest underlying Shares shareholding®
RERE ERME B3 AEBARR 17 A2 R EBAN T DO
Lee’s Pharm® Interest in controlled corporation 140,379,600® 25.70%
FRABEHD R EE R
Lee’s Pharm International® Beneficial owner 138,192,000® 25.30%
FRAREEREIRO E=BEAA
GIC Private Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 33,049,8800 6.05%
GIC Private Limited® R AR

Investment manager 5,125,500® 0.94%

BB
GIC Special Investment Private Investment manager 33,049,880 6.05%

Ltd.®
GIC Special Investment Private REKIR
Ltd.®

GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd.® Interest in controlled corporation 33,049,880 6.05%
GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd.® Ry LB
Apstar Investment Pte Ltd® Interest in controlled corporation 33,049,880 6.05%
Apstar Investment Pte Ltd® Sk E
Coyote Investment Pte Ltd® Beneficial owner 33,049,880 6.05%
Coyote Investment Pte Ltd® BEREAA
Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola® Interest in controlled corporation 40,341,100® 7.39%
BDREZ+® Ry LB
VMS Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 35,747,100 6.55%
VMS Holdings Limited® S EEES
Pandanus Associates Inc.® Interest in controlled corporation 32,974,000 6.03%
Pandanus Associates Inc.® S EE
Pandanus Partners L.P.® Interest in controlled corporation 32,974,000 6.03%
Pandanus Partners L.P.® S A E
FIL Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 32,974,000 6.03%
FIL Limited® X HLER
FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL Beneficial owner 32,974,000 6.03%

SITUATIONS PLC®
FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL
SITUATIONS PLC®

EmfEA A
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Name of Shareholder

Nature of interest

underlying Shares

Report of Directors
EEEWRE

Total number
of Shares/

Approximate
percentage in
shareholding®

RRER ERtE B3 AHEARR AR E HRESNB DO
Hillhouse Capital Management, Investment manager 30,627,200® 5.61%
Ltd.®
Hillhouse Capital Management, REKE
Ltd.®
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P.® Interest in controlled corporation 30,627,200® 5.61%
Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P.®  S4EkBRER
COFL Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner 30,627,200® 5.61%
COFL Holdings Limited® BEHEAA
TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd.® Beneficial owner 30,627,200 5.61%
TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd.® EREBA

Remark: The Letter “L” denotes long position in such securities. * refers the
percentage less than 0.01%.

Notes:

Q) Lee’s Pharm International is wholly owned by Lee’s Pharm. Therefore, Lee’s

Pharm is deemed to be interested in the 138,192,000 Shares held by Lee’s
Pharm International under the SFO. Approximately 43.16% of the partnership
interest in Lee’s Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P. is held by Lee’s Pharm. Therefore,
Lee’s Pharm is deemed to be interested in the 2,187,600 Shares held by Lee’s
Pharm Healthcare Fund L.P. under the SFO.

Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apstar Investment
Pte Ltd., which is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of GIC (Ventures) Pte.
Ltd. Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. is managed by GIC Special Investments Pte.
Ltd., which is wholly owned by GIC Private Limited. Therefore, each of Apstar
Investment Pte Ltd., GIC (Ventures) Pte. Ltd., GIC Special Investments Pte.
Ltd. and GIC Private Limited is deemed to be interested in the 37,803,200

(@)
Shares held by Coyote Investment Pte. Ltd. under the SFO.
(©)]

Each of Smart Rocket Limited, VMS Zhaoke Investment Fund SP and Bio
Success Investment Limited holds 26,742,400, 4,629,500 and 4,375,200
Shares, respectively. Smart Rocket Limited, VMS Zhaoke Investment Fund
SP and Bio Success Investments Limited are all indirect subsidiaries of VMS
Holdings Limited, the ultimated beneficial owner of which is by Ms. Mak
Siu Hang Viola (% ##). Therefore, each of Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola and VMS
Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 26,742,400 Shares held by
Smart Rocket Limited, the 4,629,500 Shares held by VMS Zhaoke Investment
Fund SP and the 4,375,200 Shares held by Bio Success Investment Limited
under the SFO. VMS Investment Group Limited is a company in turn controlled
by Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola. Therefore, Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola is also deemed
to be interested in the 4,594,000 Shares held by VMS Investment Group
Limited under the SFO.
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Al MVMS Holdings Limited®) & E 5B A A%
DL o Ett - RIBES KBRS - BLBELT R
VMS Holdings Limited & B # 1% A& i Smart Rocket
Limited ¥5 /& #) 26,742,400 i f% 15 + VMS Zhaoke
Investment Fund SP#j4A #)4,629,5000% % 15 & Bio
Success Investment Limited £§ A #) 4,375,200 &
{7 o B 125 ° VMS Investment Group Limited
ThERB DB TG RE o Bt - BREESF RPEK
Bl - 25+ IR A8 A VMS Investment Group
Limited#74#14,594,0008 i 10 F i A 125
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“4) To the best knowledge of our Company, each of FIDELITY CHINA SPECIAL
SITUATIONS PLC, FIL Limited and Pandanus Partners L.P. is ultimately
controlled by Pandanus Associates Inc. through multiple intermediary
shareholding entities.

5) COFL Holdings Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hillhouse Venture
Fund V, L.P. Hillhouse Capital Management, Ltd. acts as the sole management
company of Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. Therefore, each Hillhouse Capital
Management, Ltd. and Hillhouse Venture Fund V, L.P. is deemed to be
interested in the 30,627,200 Shares held by COFL Holdings Limited under the
SFO.

(6) Each of TPG Asia VII Finance, Limited Partnership (as sole ordinary shareholder
of TPG Asia VIl SF Pte. Ltd.), TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P. (as a general partner
of TPG Asia VII Finance, Limited Partnership), TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors,
Inc. (as a general partner of TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P.), TPG Holdings III,
L.P. (as the sole ordinary shareholder of TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors, Inc.),
TPG Holdings I11-A, L.P. (as a general partner of TPG Holdings IlI, L.P.), TPG
Holdings I11-A, Inc. (as a general partner of TPG Holdings III-A, L.P.), TPG
Group Holdings (SBS), L.P. (as the sole ordinary shareholder of TPG Holdings
111-A, Inc.), TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC (as a general partner
of TPG Group Holdings (SBS), L.P.) and TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors,
Inc. (as the managing member of TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC) is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd. under
the SFO. TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, Inc. is controlled by Mr. David
Bonderman and Mr. James G. Coulter, who disclaim beneficial ownership of the
Shares held by TPG Asia VII SF Pte. Ltd. except to the extent of their pecuniary
interest therein.

@) Calculated based on the number of the total issued share capital of our
Company as of the Latest Practicable Date, being 546,139,172.

Save as disclosed above, our Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of our
Company, other than the Directors and chief executive of our Company, as
of the Latest Practicable Date, which would fall to be disclosed to us under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by us under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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Asia GenPar VII, L.P.H)E@EE#ZA) * TPG Holdings
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EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN

During the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we have adopted two share option schemes which was required to
be disclosed as below under the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme

The Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted pursuant to
the written resolutions of all Shareholders dated November 17, 2020.

Purpose

The purpose of Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to reward, retain and
motivate the eligible persons for their contribution to our Group.

Participants

The eligible persons under Per-1PO Share Option include our Group’s
employees, Directors, consultants and any other person the Board may in
its absolute discretion think fit.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares available for issue upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme is
45,732,000 Shares, representing approximately 8.37% of the total issued
share capital of our Company as of the Latest Practicable Date, being
546,139,172 Shares.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme contains no provisions on the maximum
entitlement of each participant.

Option period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the rules under Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme at any time during the option period as specified by
the Board in relation to each such option in its terms of grant. The Board
may provide restrictions on how and when an option during the period for
which an option must be held or a performance target, if any, which must
be achieved before an option can be exercised.

Vesting period

All of the options granted under the Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme are
exercisable upon vesting until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
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Acceptance of offers of options

Subject to the rules under Pre-1PO Option Scheme and such other
conditions as the Board may in its absolute and sole discretion sees fit,
offers of options shall be made by us to the eligible person within the
scheme period and shall be open for acceptance in writing and such notice
of acceptance must be duly received by the secretary of our Company on
or before 5:00 p.m. on the expiry date for acceptance of the offer specified
in the offer provided that an offer shall not be open for acceptance after
the expiry of 14 days from the date upon which the offer is made. Upon
acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to our Company as
consideration for the grant, and on the date of grant option certificate(s)
under the common seal of our Company shall be issued. Offers of options
not accepted within the option period shall lapse.

Basis of determining the consideration

The exercise price is determined by the Board on a fair and reasonable
basis with reference to the performance of our Company and the past or
potential contribution of the eligible persons to the business and operation
of our Company, and notified to each grantee but in any event will be no
less than the nominal value of the shares (if any) or (where applicable)
such price as from time to time adjusted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

Remaining life

The Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from November 17, 2020 to November 17,
2030. The remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is over six
years. No additional options shall be granted thereunder after the Listing
Date, but in all other respects the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the exercise of any options
granted.

Before Listing, our Company had conditionally granted all 45,732,000
options to 109 grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. No
further option has been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
subsequent to the Listing Date. The exercise price of all the options
granted under the Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme is between US$0.09
to US$1.14 per Share. The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is set out in “Appendix IV — Statutory and General Information
— D. Share Option Schemes — 1. Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” of the
Prospectus.
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The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options
granted to all grantees under the Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme during the
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TERFEREE2023F12A318IHFE » REEXA
P B BE AR AE AT B3R T AT B AR AR 1 R 1T E B AR

year ended December 31, 2023. B E
Number
Number Number Number of options
of options of Shares of options cancelled/ Number
granted underlying exercised lapsed of Shares
Vesting between options between between underlying Weighted
period January 1, outstanding January 1, January1,  outstanding average
Name and and 202310 as of 2023 t0 2023to  options as of closing
category Exercise performance December 31, January 1,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31, price per
of grantee Date of grant Option period price target 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 Share®
#2023% #2023
1#2023% 1#2023% 1A1BE 1A1R% 1#2023%
1A1R% 118 2023% 2023 128318
023F  HATRERE 12A318  12A31BHH AR ShRE
SE8 12A31R5H FRAER BEARN  ER/%M BRESRH i 357
REARZRER  RUAH BRESR fikE RREEE  REMEREHE Risa flied b BERGEE BiHEe
USS per share
e
Directors
43
Li Xiaoyi November 17, 2020 10 years commencing 0.0 Note 1 - 3,152,800 - - 3,152,800 -
e 20205117178 on the adoption i3l
December 9, 2020 date 114 Note 1 - 10,870,000 10,870,000 -
2020512798 ERABgE 105 a1
Dai Xiangrong November 17, 2020 10 years commencing  0.09 Note 1 - 1,261,200 - - 1,261,200 -
on the adoption
date
Frip 2020511A178 ERAAEE10F it
Other 107 Between November 17, 10 years commencing  Between 0.09to  Note 1 - 21,759,508 (2,151,680) (2,144,572) 17,463,256 4.02
grantees 2020 to March 2, 2021 on the adoption 1.14
in aggregate date
BHOTEREA  2020E117178% ERHAEETI0E 0007114 Kt
(&) 2021%3A28
- 37,043,508 (2,151,680) (2,144,572 32,747,256 -
Notes: Bff5E

Q) 20% of the options shall vest upon the completion of the Global Offering, 20%
of the options shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant, 20% of
the options shall vest on the second anniversary of the date of grant, 20% of
the options shall vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant, and the
remaining 20% of the options shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the date
of grant. No individual performance target was set under the Pre-IPO Share

Option Scheme.

2) Representing the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately

before the dates on which the options were exercised.

(1) 20%FEREENEIREETHIER © LARE20%HE
EESBAREBSHNEE S/ FoERENE
IRAFIEE AT AR ST BT 1 S8 E

BERARE-&

RIRBBRE -

(2) EREBREETER SRR I HKHE -
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Post-1PO Share Option Scheme

The Post-1PO Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved on April 1,
2021.

Purpose

The purpose of the Post-IPO Option Scheme is to provide incentive or
reward to “Eligible Persons” (as defined below) for their contribution
to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of our Group and to
incentivize them to remain within our Group, as well as for other purposes
as the Board may approve from time to time.

Participants

Subject to the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at its discretion, specify any conditions which must be satisfied
before the option(s) under the Post-1PO Option Scheme may be exercised.

Eligible persons (“Eligible Persons”) include:

- any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of our Company
or any of its subsidiaries who has contributed to our innovative
projects, including but not limited to innovation committee member,
project leader, engineer and technician;

- any person who, in the sole opinion of the Board, provides services
to any member of our Group on a continuing or recurring basis in
its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests
of the long term growth of our Group, excluding placing agents,
financial advisors and professional service providers who are
required to perform their services with impartiality and objectivity;
and

- any Director.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted under the Post-1PO Share Option Scheme,
all schemes existing at such time and any new share option scheme of
our Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as of the Listing Date, being 53,515,550 Shares,
representing approximately 9.80% of the total issued share capital of our
Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person if, at the relevant time of
grant, the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options and options under any other share option schemes of our
Company to the relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant would exceed 1% of the total number of
Shares in issue at such time, within any 12-month period unless certain
conditions are satisfied.

Option period

The period during which the option may be exercised is determined by the
Board at its discretion but shall expire in any event not later than the last
day of the 10-year period after the date of grant of the option.

Vesting period

The Board may specify any conditions which must be satisfied before the
option may be exercised, including without limitation, the purchase price,
performance targets (if any) and minimum periods for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised and any other terms in relation to
the exercise of the option, including without limitation such percentages
of the options that can be exercised during a certain period of time, as the
Board may determine from time to time.

Acceptance of offers of options

The Board shall specify a date by which the grantee must accept the offer
of option or be deemed to have declined it, being a date no later than 14
days after (i) the date on which the option is offered (the “Offer Date”),
or (ii) the date on which the conditions for the offer are satisfied, if any,
whichever is earlier.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The price at which each Share subject to an option may be subscribed
for shall be a price solely determined by the Board and shall be at least
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the Offer Date, which must be a
Business Day; (ii) the average of the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.
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Remaining life

The Post-1PO Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on April 1, 2021. The remaining life of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately six years. The principal
terms of the Post-1PO Share Option Scheme are set out in “Appendix IV —
Statutory and General Information — D. Share Option Schemes — 2. Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme” of the Prospectus.
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The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options
granted to all grantees under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during

Reporting Period.
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Number of Shares under the outstanding options

EREWwE

TREBRBENN  BEERAHESRBRE S
18T FTARE AR T R 2

HATRBRESRUBARE
Asa
Vesting Granted percent of Weighted
Exercise Period during Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Shares in average
price and As of the  duringthe  duringthe  during the Asof issue as of Closing closing
Category and Option per performance January  Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting  December ~ December  price per  price per
name of grantee Date of grant period share target 1,2023 Period Period Period Period 31,2023 31,2023 Share® Share®
#2023%
1283186
BEE #2023 Hoo23%  BEfRH  SRRH SERANE
RRARRIRER REAH BREEE  GREE RRRER 1A1R REEBARE REERATRE REEBREE  REERAKH 12A318 Bal YFES  FIRHES
(HKS) (HK$)
(A7) (37
Directors
i3
Dr. Li Xiaoyi December 15,2022 Note 1 3.26  Note 2/Note 5 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
P)RRT ANERABA M Wit/ Ms
December 15, 2022 Note 1 326 Note3 480,000 - - - - 480,000 0.09% - -
N2512R158 MR fit3
Mr. Dai Xiangrong December 15,2022 Note 1 3.26  Note 2/Note 5 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
FREEE A2512R158 MR Hit2/Mits
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun ~ December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26  Note 2/Note 5 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
Wanee
FERRL A2512R158 MR Wit/ Mits
Ms. Tiantian Zhang December 15,2022 Note 1 3.26 Note 2/Note 5 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
Fiiat A0EAA L it/ M5
Mr. Wong Hin Wing December 15, 2022 Note 1 3.26  Note 2/Note 5 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
AERRE A2F1R1E KL fit2/Hits
Prof. Lo Yuk Lam December 15,2022 Note 1 3.26  Note 2/Note 5 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
ERAR A2512R158 MR Wit/ M5
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang December 15,2022 Note 1 3.26  Note 2/Note 5 200,000 - - - - 200,000 0.04% - -
Yemrt AWEPAA FERL Wit/ Mis
Employees
8
110 employees in December 15,2022 Note 1 3.26 Note3/Noted/ 5,940,000 - (143,500) (839,750) (41,250) 4,915,500 0.90% - 3.9
aggregate Note 5
11048 (43) W0ERABE i Hsta/ Mt/
Hiit5
Total 7,820,000 - (143,500) (839,750) (41,250) 6,795,500 1.25%
&3t
Notes: Pff5E
(1) 10 years commencing on their respective date of grant. (1) BESEOERLBERTTEF -

2) 50% of the options shall vest on the date of grant; and 50% of the options 2)
shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant.

50%fFA N R H B HHE A R50%E BN B & iH
REREERFAERS -
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3) 10% of the options shall vest on each of the first, second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the date of grant, respectively; 20% of the options shall
vest upon achieving an R&D milestone for CsA ophthalmic gel milestones
and certain financial performance targets of our Group; 20% of the options
shall vest upon achieving an R&D milestone for NVKOO2 and certain financial
performance targets of our Group; and 10% of the options shall respectively
vest at the date when our market capitalization reaching certain targets,
respectively.

“4) The options granted will vest upon the achievement of various vesting
conditions as specified in the offer letter to each grantee, including certain
anniversaries of the date of grant, R&D milestones for our Group’s key products
as well as certain financial performance and market capitalization targets of
our Group.

5) No individual performance target was set under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

(6) Representing the closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on
which the options were granted.

@) Representing the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised.

We did not grant any options to any Eligible Persons for the year ended
December 31, 2023 according to Post-1PO Share Option Scheme.

As of December 31, 2023, the number of options available for future grant
under the mandate of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was 45,695,550.

During the Reporting Period, there was no option granted under the Share
schemes of the Company. Therefore, the number of options granted
during the year ended December 31, 2023 divided by weighted average
number of issued shares for the same year is not applicable.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme as set out in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in our Company issuing shares or that require
our Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in our
Company issuing shares were entered into by our Group, or existed from
the Listing Date till and up to December 31, 2023.

LAND AND PROPERTIES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we did not own any properties.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

We were not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during the
year ended December 31, 2023. The Directors are also not aware of any
material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against our
Group during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
OUR COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither our Company nor any of our subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of our Company’s listed securities during the Reporting
Period.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of our Company for the year
ended December 31, 2023 and details of the Shares issued during the
year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 24 to the Financial
Statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

We did not issue any debenture during the year ended December 31,
2023.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2023, we had a secured bank loan of RMB206.6
million which was repayable within one year or on demand, and details of
the bank loan is set out in Note 20 to the Financial Statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the Reporting Period, we did not issued any convertible bonds.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OF THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we did
not have any Controlling Shareholder.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2023.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of our Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices.

We have arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the Directors
and senior management of our Company for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual
basis.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

We may pay dividends out of the share premium account, retained
earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately following the
payment of such dividends, our Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As of December 31, 2023, our Company did not have any distributable
reserves.

Details of movements in the reserves of our Group and our Company

during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 121 of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we did not make any
charitable donations.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of our
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 12 to the Financial

Statements.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

Our Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on April 29,
2021 with a total of 123,567,500 offer Shares issued. The net proceeds
from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$1,932.3 million,
after deducting the underwriting fees, commissions and related listing
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expenses. As of December 31, 2023, such net proceeds were utilized as BEAWT ¢
follows:
Utilized net
proceeds from
Amount of Utilized net January 1, Unutilized net  Expected time
net proceeds Percentage proceeds as of 2023 to proceeds as of  frame for
for planned of total net December 31, December 31, December 31, unutilized
Use of proceeds from Listing applications proceeds 2023 2023 2023 amount
2023%
R2023F 1A1BZE2023% R2023%F
(g Jiiked: EF85%E 12A31AEHA 12A31AEHA 12A31AKBA RAHADAXHA
LTHfERERE FERERE  FEAREIL FERERE FRERERE FERERE  RENEH
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BEAT) (BBET) (BEETL) (BEATL)
For the clinical development and 618.34 32.00% 270.37 36.80 347.97
commercialization of our two Core
Products
BMMIREGOE RO RRAE S REXL
1. Allocated to CsA Ophthalmic Gel 438.64 22.70% 182.93 21.76 255.71 By the end of
2025
1. PERTREZARER 20255 K5 2 7l
2. Allocated to ZKY001 179.70 9.30% 87.44 15.04 92.26 By the end of
2025
2. PEFZKY001 20255 & 5,2 Bl
The continuing R&D activities as well as 888.86 46.00% 557.73 252.71 331.13
commercialization of the other drug
candidates in our pipeline
EMNEST HREEYNSEMREBREXL
1. The continuing R&D activities of other key 579.69 30.00% 342.05 183.70 237.64 By the end of
drug candidates 2025
1. EpTERERELYHHFENLEY 2025FE 57 Al
2. The continuing R&D activities of other 57.97 3.00% 57.97 - - -
innovative and generic drug candidates
2. EtAmRHREEENNRERRED -
3. The milestone payments of our other in- 96.62 5.00% 94.02 37.05 2.6 By the end of
licensed drug candidate 2025
3. BEMSEREREEYHERENT 2025 K57 Al
4. The further expansion of our sales and 154.58 8.00% 63.69 31.96 90.89 By the end of

marketing team in anticipation of new
product launches in the coming year

4. FEERREHELFER  BmE-SREREE
RaHEn

2025
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Utilized net
proceeds from
Amount of Utilized net January 1, Unutilized net  Expected time
net proceeds Percentage proceeds as of 2023 to proceeds as of  frame for
for planned of total net December 31, December 31, December 31, unutilized
Use of proceeds from Listing applications proceeds 2023 2023 2023 amount
2023%
R2023F 1R1HBZE2023% R2023%F
iz Jiked:l EFE%E 12A31AEEHA 12A31ACEHA 12R31AAEA HEHBAXRHA
LHAERERR FERERE  FREAYEIH FREREER FERERE FERERE  RENEH
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BBET) (B&ET) (B&BT) (B&BT)
Carrying out the production line 135.27 7.00% 135.27 - - -
expansion of our advanced Nansha
manufacturing facility in anticipation
of our product launches in the coming
years
REMUREAINCEEERBETEE -
BRIER UBEARFENERLT
Our business development activities and 96.62 5.00% 96.62 - - -
the expansion of drug pipelines
XBBRETHRERELER -
Working capital and other general 193.23 10.00% 193.23 89.45 - -
corporate purposes
EEESRAEM—REOERR -
1,932.32 100.00% 1,253.22 378.96 679.1

As at December 31, 2023, all the unused net proceeds are held by
our Company in short-term deposits with licensed banks or authorized
financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The expected timeline for utilizing the net proceeds from the Global
Offering is based on the best estimation of future market conditions made
by our Company and subject to changes in accordance with our actual
business operation. Going forward, the net proceeds will be applied in the
manner as set out in “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus
and there is no change in the intended use of net proceeds as previously
disclosed in the Prospectus.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of our Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to the
Financial Statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no material subsequent
events undertaken by our Group after December 31, 2023 and up to the
Latest Practicable Date.

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The AGM is scheduled to be held on May 17, 2024. A notice convening the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders of our Company
in the manner required by the Listing Rules in due course.

The register of members of our Company will be closed from May 13, 2024
to May 17, 2024, both days inclusive, in order to determine the identity
of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the AGM, during which
period no share transfers will be registered. To be eligible to attend the
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with our Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on May
10, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by our
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 49 to 75
of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available and within the knowledge
of the Directors, our Company maintained the prescribed public float as
required under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of our Company’s listed
securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman lIslands where our
Company is incorporated which would oblige our Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITORS

Our Company has no change in auditors in any of the preceding three
years. The Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2023
have been audited by KPMG, the auditor of our Company, who will retire
at the conclusion of the AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of by KPMG as auditor
of our Company will be proposed at the AGM.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

We do not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21
and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this report of
Directors form part of this annual report.

By Order of the Board
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited
Dr. Li Xiaoyi
Chairman of the Board and executive Director

Hong Kong, March 27, 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhaoke
Ophthalmology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 118 to 210, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December
31, 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of impairment of in-licensed rights in intangible assets

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting

policies in notes 2(f) and 2(h)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

BREEFTEEH(E)

AR EEF SRR HE
FREEE I BHEN 3R I3 RN F2(0 R 2(h) i) F Ay 251

B

MREEE

BENETONEERSE

As at December 31, 2023, the
Group’s in-licensed rights in intangible
assets, which were not ready for use,
amounted to RMB317.3 million.

These intangible assets are subject
to impairment assessment annually
even if there is no indication of
impairment. The impairment
assessment is performed at the
product level by comparing its
carrying value with its recoverable
amounts, which is the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and value
in use based on discounted cash flow
forecasts.

We identified the assessment of
impairment of in-licensed rights
in intangible assets as a key audit
matter because of the significance of
the carrying value of such assets to
the consolidated financial statements
and because the preparation of
discounted cash flow forecasts for the
purpose of impairment assessments
involves estimating revenue growth
rate and discount rates, which are
subject to a significant degree of
judgement and could be subject to
management bias.

Our audit procedures to assess impairment of
in-licensed rights in intangible assets included
the following:

. understanding and evaluating the
design and implementation of key
internal controls over the impairment
assessment;

. with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
methodology adopted by management
in its preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

. evaluating the key assumptions
adopted in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts,
including revenue growth rate with
reference to our understanding of the
business, historical trends and available
industry information and market data;

. with the assistance of our internal
valuation specialists, assessing the
discount rates used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts by benchmarking
against other companies in the same
industry;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of impairment of in-licensed rights in intangible assets

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting
policies in notes 2(f) and 2(h)(ii).

How the matter was addressed in
The Key Audit Matter our audit

B AR
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. comparing the key assumptions
included in the discounted cash flows
forecasts prepared by management in
the prior year with the current year’s
performance to assess the accuracy
of the prior year’s forecast, making
enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations
identified and whether these had
been considered in the current year
discounted cash flow forecasts and
considering if there was any indication
of management bias;

. performing a sensitivity analysis of key
assumptions in the discounted cash
flow forecasts and considering the
resulting impact on the impairment
charge for the year and whether there
were any indication of management
bias; and

. assessing the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Accruals for services fees to outsourced service providers

Refer to the accounting policies in note 2(f)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in
our audit
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BRETER
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During the year ended December 31,
2023, the Group incurred significant
research and development (“R&D™)
expenses of RMB333.1 million, of
which service fees paid to contract
research organizations (“CROs”)
and clinical site management
operators (“SMOs”) (collectively the
“outsourced service providers”)
amounted to RMB161.0 million.

We identified accruals for service fees
for the outsourced service providers
as a key audit matter because clinical
trials are core part of the Group's
R&D activities and there is a risk of
under/over accruals of R&D expenses
at the end of the reporting period
given the significance of the Group's
R&D expenses to the consolidated
financial statements.

Our audit procedures to assess accruals for
service fees to outsourced service providers
included the following:

understanding and evaluating the
design and implementation of key
internal controls over:

u the engagement of CROs and
SMOs;

u the oversight and management
of the progress of the underlying
clinical trials;

u the accounting for related
expenses;

inquiring management and project
managers about the progress of clinical
trials;

examining, on a sample basis, the
service fees to outsourced service
providers recorded during the year,
agreeing them to the relevant service
agreements, outsourced service
providers’ acknowledgement of
milestones achieved, invoices and bank
payment advices for settled balances
and assessing whether the related
service fees have been recognized in
accordance with the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

re-calculating the accruals for service
fees to the outsourced service providers
and comparing the recalculated amount
with the recorded amount, on a sample
basis, based on the progress of related
clinical trial activities/milestones
achieved and the terms stated in the
underlying service agreements;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Accruals for services fees to outsourced service providers

Refer to the accounting policies in note 2(f)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in
our audit
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sending confirmations to major
outsourced service providers to confirm
the service fees, progress/milestones
achieved, on a sample basis. For
unreturned confirmations, comparing
service fees paid and payable to
outsourced service providers with
the underlying service agreements,
outsourced service providers’
acknowledgement of milestones
achieved and invoices;

comparing actual service fee payments
during the current year with the
accrued service fees to outsourced
service providers at the last reporting
date to assess the accuracy of accruals
of R&D expenses; and

comparing actual service fee payments
made subsequent to the reporting
date with the accrued service fees
to outsourced service providers at
the reporting date to assess whether
there were any significant under/over-
accrued balances.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AV A EE S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AV A EE S

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lau Tai Cheong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

March 27, 2024

B AR

HAAB T ZBMRENETREABARRIKRE -

EERE BB
HESH AT

BEBHR
EITE 105
ANFRESHE

202443 H27H

Annual Report 2023 iR

117



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

For the year ended December 31, 2023

HZE2023F12A31H LFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT ARET AREFT
Revenue Wz 4 18,750 -
Cost of sales SHE R A (4,503) -
Gross profit ER 14,247 —
Other income EAbUA 5 82,044 38,041
Other net loss Efb e FRE 6 (3,515) (29,731)
Research and development expenses e (333,050) (296,430)
General and administrative expenses — M RATEE A (84,404) (86,109)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAX (51,889) (29,946)
Loss from operations REBE (376,567) (404,175)
Finance costs BATS R AN 7(a) (7,921) (3,142)
Loss before taxation MREBLAIEE 7 (384,488) (407,317)
Income tax Fr1SHt 8 (550) =
Loss for the year FAEBAR (385,038) (407,317)

Loss per share (RMB) FREB(ARYET) 11
Basic EHAK (0.71) (0.75)
Diluted e (0.71) (0.75)

The notes on pages 124 to 210 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBEaREMAEEERER

For the year ended December 31, 2023
H%E2023F12H310 5%

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Loss for the year FRER (385,038) (407,317)
Other comprehensive income for the FREMZEKE
year

Item that may be reclassified subsequently — E& e EH D HAZIBLEMIER -
to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of BREREEEIWIEARKNER

financial statements of entities with WIS Rk M E R AR

functional currencies other than Renminbi

(“RMB”) 61,107 210,902
Total comprehensive income for the FAZHEREEHE

year (323,931) (196,415)
The notes on pages 124 to 210 form part of these financial statements. HF124E 2108 MM BRI REZA—E D ©
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BEIR R

At December 31, 2023
®2023F12A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T AREETTT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB RE 12(a) 223,648 233,743
Intangible assets mAE 13 392,463 334,623
Prepayments on purchases of property, plant E¥% « BE MR EHIBN KA
and equipment 9,658 29,510
625,769 597,876
Current assets REEE
Inventories & 6,141 -
Trade and other receivables E 5 MEMEUGRIE 15 61,147 75,457
Pledged bank balances EEPIRI T4 16(a) 265,658 172,066
Time deposits with original maturity over REEAREB=1E AT HTFR
three months 16(a) — 8,873
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEEY 16(a) 1,461,623 1,716,351
1,794,569 1,972,747
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REA IR 18 116,637 83,418
Contract liabilities AHBE 17 1,179 =
Amounts due to related companies FEA BEES A~ B FUE 19 2,473 6,897
Bank loans RITER 20 206,577 94,500
Lease liabilities HEBRE 21 9,585 9,725
. 336,451 194,540
Netcurrentassets = +"&BXE®E = 1,458,118 [ 1,778,207
Total assets less current liabilities BEABRARBEE 2,083,887 2,376,083
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 21 21,864 27,703
Contract liabilities aHaE 17 12,956 =
Deferred income TRIEWA 22 749 7
. 35,569 . 27,710 _
Net assets EEFE 2,048,318 2,348,373
Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital % 24(b) —* —
Reserves & 2,048,318 2,348,373
Total equity S BRE 2,048,318 2,348,373
= The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * #he oM AREL,0007T ©

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on March 27,

2024.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi
ZTNREL
Director

EF

The notes on pages 124 to 210 form part of these financial statements.
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Mr. Dai Xiangrong
BmsisE
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERRBER

For the year ended December 31, 2023
H%E2023F12H310 5%

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FOAERRREL
Share Share Other Capital Merger Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
e RAEE Hfbfs B5RE i1 EXRE 2R h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL AREFT NRETT ARETT ANREFT NRETT ARETTL NREFT
Balance at January 1, 2022 #2022 1 1RAMER -* 5,413,964 4,358 86,759 2,411 9,953 (3,021,958) 2,495,487
Changes in equity for 2022: 2022 HE#EE :
Loss for the year FRBR - - - - - - (407,317) (407,317)
Other comprehensive income ~ Zt2EME - - - - - 210,902 - 210,902
Total comprehensive income 2 EUEEE - - - - - 210,902 (407,317) (196,415)
Equity-settled share-based ~ MEZEELRH
payment expenses BERONTRR = = = 48,051 = = = 48,051
Shares issued under share  BEERIEEIZRE
option schemes -* 13,547 - (12,297) - - - 1,250
Balance at December 31,  #2022%12A318H
2022 3 5,427,511 122,513 220,855 (3,429,275) 2,348,373
Changes in equity for 2023: 2023 HEXEE :
Loss for the year FRER - (385,038)  (385,038)
Other comprehensive income ~ Zt2EME 61,107 = 61,107
Total comprehensive income  2ENEEE 61,107 (385,038)  (323,931)
Equity-settled share-based ~ UERZENR(
payment expenses BEROITRR 22,023 22,023
Shares issued under share  BEERIEEIZRE
option schemes 16,125 (14,272) - 1,853
Lapsed share options BRMERE - (7,457) 7,457 -
Balance at December 31,  #2023%12B31RK
2023 3 5,443,636 122,807 2,411 281,962  (3,806,856) 2,048,318
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. & #EHSEONARKL,0007T »

The notes on pages 124 to 210 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁéi

For the year ended December 31, 2023
H%E2023F12A31B L FE

Notes
BT

Operating activities BT
Loss before taxation BBt AT E B
Adjustments for: AT EBEEFE -
Depreciation e 7(c)
Amortization of intangible assets T B S 7(c)
Finance costs BATSBC AR 7()
Equity-settled share-based payment LARESR S E UARR (D AETEH)

expenses R 23
Bank interest income ERITHABMA 5
Gain on lease termination KLIFRE W 6
Net foreign exchange loss SNE 51T RE
Changes in working capital: SEEEE) -
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K E At FE WRIB I N
Increase in inventories FEIEM
Increase in trade and other payables and B REMEMNFERENAE

contract liabilities 10
Decrease in amounts due to related FESERESE A RIFIE R

companies
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income B AL I, CRid)
Tax paid: [RENE I
— Withholding tax paid —BAEIH
Net cash used in operating activities RETHTARSFE
Investing activities REFE
Increase in pledged deposits BEEMIFRIE M
Decrease in time deposits with original REEAR BB =18 A ERFR

maturity over three months Ve
Decrease in prepayment on purchase of BEWZE - BEREEOENFIE

property, plant and equipment e
Payment for purchase of property, plant and BEEW¥ - BE MREHR R

equipment
Payment for purchase of intangible assets BEEFEAENNR
Interest received BEUAILE
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFTARSFE
Financing activities AEEE
Proceeds from bank loans RITE R ETERIE 16(b)
Repayment of bank loans EBRITER 16(b)
Proceeds from shares issued under share BEREREA S BITRO BTG

option schemes I
Capital element of lease rentals paid EfNHENAS IS 16(b)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BNHESHF L5 16(b)
Interest paid EAFLE
Net cash generated from financing activities  B&EENFTISIHEFHE

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHERIAGRE A A

2023

2023%F
RMB’000
ARETT

(384,488)
40,044
8,660
7,921
22,023

(77,399)

(132)
905

14,763
(6,141)

54,413

(4,424)
741

(550)
(323,664)

(88,178)

9,784

20,494

(36,467)
(58,800)
77,399

(75,768)

120,821
(8,744)

1,853

(CRD))
(1,756)
(4,120)

99,294

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARETT

(407,317)

32,825
2,249
3,142

46,684
(30,415)

21,136

(27,661)

35,138

(6,787)
44)

(331,050)

(140,212)

23,781

(78,652)
(159,900)
30,415

(324,568)

93,811
(9,600)

1,250
(6,089)
(1,783)
(1,359)

76,230



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
TERERER

For the year ended December 31, 2023
H%E2023F12H310 5%

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT ARET AREFT
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRRSEEYRD FHE
equivalents (300,138) puu— (':'3?9388)7
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERELEEY
beginning of the year 1,716,351 2,128,429
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /NEEZRZETE 45,410 167,310
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of HXREERBESZEEY
the year 16(a) 1,461,623 1,716,351
The notes on pages 124 to 210 form part of these financial statements. F124E 2108 MM BRI HREAN—E D ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR ERARMIEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) on January 20, 2017. On
April 29, 2020, the Company was redomiciled to the Cayman Islands
with its registered office at Vistra (Cayman) Limited, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, George Town, Grand Cayman
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands (the “Cayman Companies Act”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) are principally engaged in
the development, manufacturing and marketing of ophthalmic drugs
and products.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
Group’s consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

©

Statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS and certain amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group. The HKICPA also published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides guidance on
the accounting consideration relating to the offsetting
mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism. None of these
developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s
results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. ERSFTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(d) Subsidiaries (d) HE 4 a]

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and cash flows and any unrealized
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interest within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
the resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is recognized at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(h)(ii)).

126 Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEIEERIGR AT

MBARAZAEEZHOELRE - KEH
FEAYE S SR 48 P AR A # T 5 [ S e L e
HFHSEE G PTE TR R 20 RA R
WA BBHZERMBEENEITZE
ZEDMEEHIZER - EFEAREE
BHRAZENR  BEEREEREMT
FrEsBEEERER -

BN R Rk B IEHIF G A B E 2
HER A ARAMBEHRE - KER
AEEEER  RHERERENREER
NRIER 5 PTE £ E A RS RFEER
WAV BRREBTHESE - FEARF]
fE132 5 P EE A WO R B IR B 1R IR B R IR IR
AR I - EEARERREE
BRR -

REENHE A RSB I TR
REEIE  AEARER S AR XHE
ARSI RIFERESSRIEY
HE - ARRBLHESEE - ETSHE
BRI ERY SIS -

BEARRBEKREHME R R M EEE - B
BHENZMB A RN 2R AR
AR RSB IEINME R - RKE
IS B AT B A BIR B (AT
SR AHEER - 22 RERIEV SR
ERMEENATE  H(WEE)NTHER
REFERRHA ERENRENRA -

RARBIRNEFERART - RIBARE
& B ARUR B I 1851 IR (R KT sE2(h)
(ii)) °



2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

2. EXSTEEE)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note

2(h)(iD).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of an asset.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the estimated net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognized in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if
any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Estimated useful life

Properties leased for Over the unexpired periods of the

own use leases and their estimated useful
lives
Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or remaining
lease term
Machinery and 3-10 years
equipment
Furniture, fixture and 3-10 years
office equipment
Motor vehicle 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents machinery and equipment
pending installation and is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(h)(ii)). Cost comprises the purchase costs
of the asset and the related construction and installation costs.

Construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment when the asset is substantially ready for
its intended use and depreciation will be provided at the
appropriate rates in accordance with the depreciation policies
specified above.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Intangible assets

O

Patents

Patents are capitalized on the basis of the cost incurred
to acquire and bring to use the specific patent. These
costs are amortized over the estimated useful life of 10
to 17 years. The Group should assess whether there is
any indication that patent is impaired at the end of each
reporting period.

The patents relate to therapeutic technologies developed
by the Group. The useful lives of the patents were
estimated by the Group based on the respective
periods over which economic benefits are expected
to be derived from the underlying technologies. The
estimation of the useful lives has taken into account
the expected period required for the development of an
innovative biopharmaceutical drug from its discovery
to commercialization, the patent protection period, the
historical life of similar products, the characteristics of
such technologies, their update frequency and market
requirement and competition. Based on the different
commercialization commencement dates and the
expected lifespan of economic benefits of individual
technologies, the useful lives of the Group’s patents
have been assessed to range from 10 to 17 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. EXSTEEE)

() Intangible assets (Continued) (D ZBEEE (&)

(i) WrEH

(ii) Research and development expenditures

The Group incurs significant costs and efforts on
research and development activities, which include
expenditures on drug products. Research expenditures
are charged to the profit or loss as an expense in the
period the expenditures are incurred. Development
costs are recognized as assets if they can be directly
attributable to a newly developed drug products and all
the following can be demonstrated:

(0] the technical feasibility of completing the
development project so that it will be available for
use or sale;

(i)  the Group’s intention to complete the development
project to use or sell it;

(iii)  the Group’s ability to use or sell the development
project;

(iv) how the development project will generate
probable future economic benefits for the Group;

(v) the Group’s availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the development
project; and

(vi) the ability to measure reliably the expenditures
attributable to the development project.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is the
sum of the expenditures incurred from the date the asset
meets the recognition criteria above to the date when it
is available for use. The costs capitalized in connection
with the intangible asset include costs of materials and
services used or consumed, employee costs incurred
in the creation of the asset and an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads. The Group generally considers
capitalization criteria for internally generated intangible
assets are met when obtaining regulatory approval of
new drug license.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)

Gii)

Research and development expenditures
(Continued)

Capitalized development expenditures are amortized
using the straight-line method over the life of the related
drug products. Amortization shall begin when the asset
is available for use. Subsequent to initial recognition,
internally generated intangible assets are reported as
cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(h)(ii)) (if any).

Development expenditures not satisfying the above
criteria are recognized in the profit or loss as incurred
and development expenditures previously recognized
as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a
subsequent period.

In-licenses

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost.

Certain intangible assets are for licenses of intellectual
properties in development, with non-refundable upfront
payment, milestone payment and royalty payment.
Upfront payment is capitalized when paid. The
milestone payment is capitalized as intangible assets
when incurred, unless the payment is for outsourced
research and development work which would follow the
capitalization policy in note 2(f)(ii). Royalty payment
would be accrued for in line with the underlying sales
and recognized as a cost of sales.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B H5 sk M et

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. ERSFTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)
PEE (&)

() Intangible assets (Continued) (N #&

(iii) In-licenses (Continued)

The intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortized when ready for use and over
the economic useful life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortization period and
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the amortization method for an intangible asset with FOREBRERREE K- AR
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of 5&7@5%5%@3@@*7@%@5%9@%
each reporting period. Intangible assets with indefinite FHEERTSH®E  HEFEBEN

useful lives or not ready for use will not be amortized
but tested for impairment annually either individually
or at the cash generating unit level. The impairment
test would compare the recoverable amount of the in-
licenses asset to its carrying value. The useful life of
an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

In-licenses with finite useful life are amortized using
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial production.

In-licensed technologies acquired from third parties.
The useful lives of the in-licensed technologies were
estimated by the Group based on the respective
periods over which economic benefits are expected
to be derived from the underlying technologies. The
estimation of the useful lives has taken into account
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the expected period required for the development of an AR B AR - AUERD
innovative biopharmaceutical drug from its discovery FELFH - BRARMOSHREN
to commercialization, the exclusive rights period of ARARTIZERRBE - ERE

in-licensed technologies, the historical life of similar
products, the characteristics of such technologies,
their update frequency and market requirement and
competition. Based on the different commercialization
commencement dates and the expected lifespan of
economic benefits of individual technologies, the useful
lives of the Group’s in-licensed technologies have been
assessed to range from 5 to 15 years.

Both the period and method of amortization are
reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Intangible assets (Continued)

(iv) Software

)

Computer software which is recognized at historical
cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses (see
note 2(h)(ii)). The Group amortized on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years based
on the current functionalities and the daily operation
needs of the software.

IT applications development in progress represents IT
applications pending execution and is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(h)). Cost comprises the
purchase costs of the asset and the related set up and
installation costs.

Both the period and method of amortization are
reviewed annually.

Distribution rights

Distribution rights are capitalized on the basis of the
cost incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
rights. These costs are amortized over the estimated
useful life range from 10 to 17 years. The Group should
assess whether there is any indication that the rights are
impaired at the end of each reporting period.

The rights relate to exclusive rights to register, import,
promote, distribute, market and sell certain medical
devices and ophthalmic drug. The useful lives of the
rights were estimated by the Group based on the
respective periods over which economic benefits are
expected to be derived from the underlying rights.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(9) Leased assets

Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

2. EXSTEEE)

(9) HEEZE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalized are recognized as an expense on a systematic basis
is over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. ERSFTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(9) Leased assets (Continued) (g) HEZLE (&)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease is capitalized is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(e) and 2(h)(ii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets and measured
at amortized cost (see notes 2(r)(ii)(a) and 2(h)(i)). Any
difference between the initial fair value and the nominal value
of the deposits is accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the
present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment” and presents “lease liabilities” separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured at
amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents, as
well as trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject
to the ECLs assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BA %5 R T ot

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the
12 months after the end of reporting period; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECLs
model applies.

Loss allowances for receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
end of reporting period with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
(ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXSHBEE)

(CONTINUED)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets (h) EEEBREERE &)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () EMIANEEEEE)

(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued) EEREANE LA (E)

In particular, the following information is taken into AEms  SHMEEERBEVISHE

account when assessing whether credit risk has RARBEARELARSERUT

increased significantly since initial recognition: Er}

- failure to make payments of principal or interest - REEIRA KD E A AR
on their contractually due dates; DS

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in - SRIENFHRBEERT
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit (B ERSTEHEER
rating (if available); 1t

BEHAREREERKTED

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in -

the operating results of the debtor; and BEZRLE: &
= existing or forecast changes in the technological, = B - Mm% KBEICERIR

He B R RANEBEER
ARAREEBETEEENRE
NBEERTHZE -

market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

EREARARE LA EE TSR
IQE’JIEE&M%\J%/&‘X LR A2
HET o WP R AT - Al

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective

basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective SR ARAR E!‘M*%H % R
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on (ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁf ERBTR)#TT
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due D o

status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at end of each reporting period AEBRSRENRENTEELD
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit FEEE URBEMIANEE

risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLs
amount is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXSHBEE)

(CONTINUED)
(h) GEEBRREERIEE)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
() EWMIANEEEERGE

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with note 2(r)
(i) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(i)

(Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the asset becomes 90 days past due or
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or an impairment loss previously recognized no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- intangible assets;
- other non-current assets; and

- investment in a subsidiary in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets
that are not yet available for use and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of non-current assets
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(for example, head office building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation
can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis,
or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use (if
determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2. EXEFEEE)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(ii) Impairment of non-current assets
(Continued)

— Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favorable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognized.

(i) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Costs of raw materials and finished goods are calculated
using the weighted average cost formula. Costs comprises
all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realizable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

When the inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognized as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognized. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realizable value and all losses of
inventories are recognized as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognized as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognized as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

a)

Receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

Receivables are subsequently stated at amortized cost, using
the effective interest method and including an allowance for
credit losses (see note 2(h)(i)).

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

a

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(h)(i).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue (see note 2(r)(i)). A contract liability is also
recognized if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognizes
the related revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding
receivable is also recognized (see note 2(j)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see note 2(r)(ii)).

(m) Payables

(n)

Payables are initially recognized at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortized cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognized and redemption value being recognized in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o) Employee benefits

O

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant
to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the
jurisdictions in which the Group’s subsidiaries located are
recognized as an expense in profit or loss as incurred,
except to the extent that they are included in the cost of
inventories not yet recognized as an expense.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees,
directors or consultants is recognized as an expense
with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity over the period that the individuals become
unconditionally entitled to the options. Share options
granted to employees, directors or consultants, are
measured at grant date using the binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted.

The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the number of share options for which the related
service and non-market vesting conditions are expected
to be met, such that amount ultimately recognized as
an expense is based on the number of awards that do
meet the related service and non-market performance
conditions at the vesting date.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

2. EXSTEEE)

(o) EEEF(HE)

(ii) Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognized in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. The equity amount is
recognized in the capital reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount recognized
in share capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to equity).

(p) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

(i) URGOHREBRNLTRE)

REBHA - AEEER
BENBRERE - BULEBESF
EEWR R AT EMENERT
B HERSFEANGREFTA
B BRIFRAXTEERERR
BE ITHEAREHELHEESR
B RIBOIS - RS TR AN
R EEBRRETE(ERS
AR EITRORRAERN S
B)RBEREER(EFSERBA

) Rk -

(p) Friz#

RERH RSB 2R ERIE MRELER IR
EESEAENED - BIEHIAKEERIEA
AEESEAENESHERRDER
8 B EL At 2 T W o o B S O A e P AR
MR - RIRERBRSETOBEREE

E sk B RN s R o

BV R DR IBEF NERTIUA - AR
BREPRDHEXEEMHENTE - I
BEFEENRMNTAARTENENE

iR -

BERBRAERRESHIREEERAE
R BEHREANEESRERE 2 MNE
BREENAHRRERHEREZR - &
R IRE B 75 A [ 18 R B R M R IR B 1R e

i ARE) AR B IR R AL

Annual Report 2023 iR

145



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. ERSFTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(p) Income tax (Continued) (p) FriZ# (&)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized, are recognized. Future taxable
profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilized.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured based
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilized.
Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. ERSFTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(p) Income tax (Continued) (p) FriZH (&)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognized when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognized.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realize the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realize and settle simultaneously.

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. ERSFTBE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(r) Revenue and other income (r) U@ REMPA

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sales of goods or provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognizes revenue on a gross basis, including the sales of
ophthalmic drugs and products. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether
it obtains control of the products before they are transferred
to the customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability to
direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies are
as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.

(a) Sales of ophthalmic drugs and products

Revenue is recognized when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the goods. Payment
terms and conditions vary by customers and are
based on the billing schedule established in the
contracts or purchase orders with customers,
but the Group generally provides credit terms
to customers within 60 days upon customer
acceptance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXSHBEE)

(CONTINUED)
(r) BaEREMKA (&)

(r) Revenue and other income
(Continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers () EFE&HWE(E)
(Continued)

(b) Royalty income and income from exclusive FETIE(E B INA R

distribution rights

Royalty income earned through a license is
recognized as the underlying sales are recorded by
the licensee.

Income from exclusive distribution rights arises
from the receipt of upfront, milestones and
other similar payments in respect of granting
of exclusive distribution rights of the Group’s
products to third parties. These payments are
generally recognized as income over time over the
contract period.

(b)

F 2 HERA

7B — TRET O] RNV R AT A
EABERARET A 7815
BRAHEFISRER

BERDHRRARE AL
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. EXSTEEE)

(r) Kz REAMKA (&)

(r) Revenue and other income

(Continued)
(ii) Other income

(a) Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

(b) Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognized as
income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are recognized initially as
deferred income and amortized to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset
by way of being recognized in other income.

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Company
initially recognizes such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies
(Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

(t) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

(u) Related parties

(&) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(0} has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(0} The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or a joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or a joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes

to the Financial Statements

BA %5 R T ot

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u) Related parties (Continued)

)

(b) (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 25 contains information about the assumptions and their risk
factors relating to financial instruments.

Other key sources of estimation uncertainty is as follows:

Impairment assessment of intangible assets not
ready for use

Intangible assets not ready for use are tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. In-licensed rights acquired by
the Group that are subject to continuing research and development
work prior to commercialisation of products are classified as
intangible assets not ready for use.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the
intangible asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. Depending on the Group’s assessment of the overall
materiality of the asset under review and complexity of deriving
reasonable estimates of the recoverable amount, the Group may
perform such assessments utilizing internal resources or the Group
may engage external advisors to counsel the Group. Regardless
of the resources utilized, the Group is required to make many
assumptions to make these assessments, including revenue growth
rate and discount rates. Changes in any of these assumptions could
result in a material change to future estimates of the recoverable
amount of any asset. Details of the impairment assessment are
disclosed in note 13.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4.
(a) Revenue
The principal activities of the Group are development,
manufacturing and marketing of ophthalmic drugs and
products.
(i) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products or service lines is as follows:
Revenue from contracts with BBVBREERFELSH
customers within the scope of HEANEFSHWE
HKFRS 15
Point in time: RE—RE
Sales of ophthalmic drugs SHERRIEEY)
Sales of ophthalmic products HERBIER
Over time: BERF R
Income from exclusive distribution BR D SHERA
rights

(i)

Wz} 7 ARER &

(a) Uz

REBEN T EEBRBEMEY RERNF

O)

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
two customers (2022: Nil) with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. In 2023, income
from exclusive distribution rights and sales of ophthalmic
products to these customers, amounted to approximately
RMB5,600,000 (2022: Nil) and RMB2,600,000 (2022:
Nil) respectively, and arose in South Korea and Mainland
China respectively. Details of concentration of credit risk
arising from these customers are set out in note 25(a).

Revenue expected to be recognized in
the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting
date

As at December 31, 2023, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts is
RMB14,135,000 (2022: Nil). This amount represents
income from granting of exclusive distribution rights
of the Group’s products under distribution and supply
agreements entered into between the Group and its
customers, and will be recognized as income over the
remaining contractual period.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(CONTINUED)

Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

4. WmkoabmRE (&)

(b) Segment reporting

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports that the Group’s most senior executive management
reviews regularly in allocating resources to segments and in
assessing their performances.

The Group’s most senior executive management makes
resources allocation decisions based on internal management
functions and assess the Group’s business performance as
one integrated business instead of by separate business lines
or geographical regions. Accordingly, the Group has only one
operating segment and therefore, no segment information is
presented.

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of customers is based on their operating
location. The geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in the
case of property, plant and equipment, and the location of the
operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible
assets.

2023%F
RMB’000
ARETT

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BA(FTE)
Mainland China R ARE
South Korea 2k

Revenues from
external customers

RESHNBEF Y

12,381

7 EBER &

BIOREAEESSTHERER
B BB IR M ATl 3 B R B E i
ERIREEE -

A
7]
v
;:|

Ly
EP2R:
BIRA

REEHZSTRE R BRE AN E 2
BEERERDEAR UHAKRERA—
A (MIFRBLEBRIGIER
H)FHEEBRE - Bt - ARERE—E
KEDE - TR 2D D BEF -

it & &

TERHEHNGEO)AEEREIMNBRE AU
@ ROANAEENYE - BERZREAR
BREAE((BEERBDEE ) HLENE
B BEEMMIBMERNELE LS, -
HE  BELZENS  FEERBE
ENIBNEERNEEMTEERME M
REFEENS  HEFRBEENHIE
EENHEESEEBAEMNE -

Specified
non-current assets

BEFRBEE
2022 2023 2022

20224 2023% 20228
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR

306,662 269,948
309,449 298,418

18,750 | 616,111 568,366
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

5. OTHER INCOME

HApWg A

2023 2022

2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARETT

77,399 30,415

303 544
3,084 6,935
1,258 147

82,044 38,041

Bank interest income RITALELA

Government grants B B

— Employment support grants (note (i)) —SEEIEMB (ME3))

— Other government grants (note (ii)) — H o BURT 4 B (BT (i) )

Others Hh

Notes: 5T
(i) The amount represents government grants received from various

PRC government authorities in connection with the fiscal subsidies
for providing financial support to enterprises and paying wages to the
employees.

(i) The amount represents subsidies received from government for

encouragement of technology research and development and
compensation on the capital expenditure of production lines.

6. OTHER NET LOSS

()  ZERENSPEBTHE RS OBATHD) - 82
ARMEREHEB S RAREEXN TAENHY
B ER

(i)  ZEBIEWBUTREIMAE - SR RTATE A
RBEEERAARIE -

Hitb B8 55

2023 2022

2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

Net foreign exchange loss SNEE B 18 R
Gain on lease termination LI ERE

(3.647) (29,731)
132 =

(3,515) (29,731)
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a) Finance costs

Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

7. BRBIRIEIR

(a) FBELK

B 75 B S 1R T AR H0RR DA T S TR B

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 6,165 1,359
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 1,756 1,783
7,921 3,142
(b) Staff costs (b) ETHZK
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TAREMETR 100,232 85,163
Contribution to defined benefit M A ERFRRETEIED AR
retirement plans 6,291 5,590
Equity-settled share-based payment DAz #EE RN AERA MBS
expenses 20,321 41,362
126,844 132,115
Notes: Pff5E

(i) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident

Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

and not previously covered by the defined benefit retirement

plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF

scheme, the employer and its employees are each required

to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(i) Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the
PRC, the Group in the PRC participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organized by the
local government authorities whereby the Company and its

subsidiaries in the PRC are required to make contributions to the
Schemes based on certain percentages of the eligible employee’s
salaries. The local government authorities are responsible for the

entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

(iii)  Staff costs includes remuneration of directors and senior

management (notes 9 and 10).

()  AREREFTERGIEDES B E
RREBERBGOIRZEEREENZ
BT 2 B RS ERFIR KA BIRIEHY
EEERRHMEAESHE([BRET
8] BREEFHBR—RABIZEA
EEHREHKRAE - RIEBRESD
R BEXREEEARERESAH
WA RIS BIEH 3K - & AAERIK
A LR %30,000/ 7T © &t &K HFRENE
B -

(i) REFENAELSBRENE  ~5EH
B2 E i 7 AT RPN RE
HFCRAABFIG I ([HE]) - e - &
RAEIRERH BB ARAZEER
BEHFESHETEDLAFBIH - it
TBFHBMEERTXNRARETINS
MELEET -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
(CONTINUED)

(c) Other items

7. BREAER(R)

(c) BEftiEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT

Amortization of intangible assets EmREESH

Depreciation charge HEER

— owned property, plant and —BEYE - BEREE
equipment

— right-of-use assets —FRAEEE

Auditors’ remuneration BRI &

— audit services — B2k

— other services — HAth PR

8,660 2,249

25,740

7,085

2,150
1,077

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the
Group are domiciled and operated.

(a) Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman
Companies Act.

There is no income tax in the Cayman Islands and accordingly,
the operating results reported by the Company, is not subject
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

(b) Hong Kong income tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for
at the rate of 16.5% as the Group has no estimated assessable
profits.

(c) The PRC corporate income tax

No provision for Mainland China income tax has been provided
for at a rate of 25% pursuant to the Corporate Income
Tax Law of the PRC (the “CIT Law”) and the respective
regulations, as the Group’s PRC entities have no estimated
assessable profits.
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8.

Notes to the Financial Statements

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Withholding tax

The Group is subject to withholding tax on income from
exclusive distribution rights granted to a customer based on a
withholding tax rate of 10% under the tax law in Korea.

(e) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

8.

BA %5 SR T ot

mEBERPHMES (&)

(d) AHH

REEERE—BELPRHBRD HEN
WAIR 5588 B BUA R TR R 1096414
TEHIL ©

(&) BaBsRF B -

2023 2022

2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

Current tax — Overseas BNEAR IE— 85

550 -

(f) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at
applicable tax rates:

() wEmxEesBRREARETE0Y
B :

2023 2022

2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT

Loss before taxation BREIRIEE

Notional tax on loss before taxation, BRERIBENBETIEGEEBAE

calculated at the rates applicable to EREBENBERTENE)

losses in jurisdictions concerned
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A HIRIF ST WA 7§ /22

(Bt5E)

Tax effect of non-taxable income FEFERTIMA RS E

Tax effect of tax losses not recognized KRIERTIEE BT ST L

Tax effect of deductible temporary RIERZ ARG R M= R
differences not recognized

Tax effect of super deduction for R R AT IR MR 2 2
research and development expenses
(note)

Withholding tax BT

=00

E

(384,488) (407,317)

(90,000)
9,083

(1,155)
119,411

€3]

(37,338)

Note: According to the CIT Law, an additional 100% of qualified
research and development expenses incurred is allowed to be
deducted from taxable income effective from January 1, 2021.

MGk RIBCEMSHE - H2021F181R
#B -+ FERRA UL A T BB SN BR 100% HY 15
BIRHFTEAMRERY -

Annual Report 2023 iR

159



Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. MEBBERTWIEH(E)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(CONTINUED)

(9) Deferred tax assets not recognized (Q) FERRELS EEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(p), RRBMIE2(p) T &SR - RSB K
the Group has not recognized any deferred tax assets in BUATIE B EREMBEERIBE E ¢

respect of the following items:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFT
Tax losses TIEEE 1,456,638 940,805
Deductible temporary differences AR E R 2 58 4,248 3,578
1,460,886 944,383
It is not probable that future taxable profits against which the ARG EEERNER IAAEEL
tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilized RIRFERF A E A B AR IBEE LA
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. LR ERE o
(1) Deductible losses that are not recognized as deferred tax assets (h) KR ABEEHBEEOTNRAEEE
will be expired as follows: HAanR -
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREBFIT
2025 2025%F 119,002 119,002
2026 20264 294,696 294,695
2027 20274 400,263 400,263
2028 2028%F 419,927 -
Do not expire under current tax RITBBEGI T & 5
legislation 222,750 126,845

1,456,638 940,805
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

Notes to the Financial Statements

BA %5 SR T ot

9. EEME

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation

are as follows:

Executive directors
— Dr. Li Xiaoyi
— Mr. Dai Xiangrong

Non-executive Directors

— Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Wanee

— Ms. Cai Li (resigned on
November 27, 2023)

— Mr. Chen Yu

— Ms. Tiantian Zhang

Independent Non-
executive Directors

— Mr. Wong Hin Wing

— Prof. Lo Yuk Lam

— Mr. Liew Fui Kiang

YiTES
3Bt
g

FHUTES
—FERLL

— &Mzt (720235
11727 8HT)

~RFEE

— et

BUFHTES
—BEREE

—EFMAER
—BlEErt

Directors’
fees

Eshg
RMB’000
ARETR

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind

e 2ER
BNEH
RMB’000
AR%T T

6,980
653

2023
2023%F

Discretionary
bonuses

BRERAL
RMB’000
ARBTR

3,072
163

Retirement
scheme
contributions

BARTRIER
RMB’000
AR®T T

584

Share-based
EVINES
D33
REBHAR
RMB’000
AR%T T

6,718
1,001

Annual Report 2023
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Total

b
RMB’000
ARETR

17,354
1,817
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements

BA %5 R T ot

9. EEM= (&)

(CONTINUED)
2022
2022%
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme  Share-based
fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments Total
e 2R VAR {7
BEEE BN BBRA  RIGHIER  AERSONK st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBFT ARBFT AEETT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
Executive directors HTER
— Dr. Li Xiaoyi —F\REL - 6,491 2,933 541 11,260 21,225
— Mr. Dai Xiangrong —-BRREE - 621 103 - 1,597 2,321
Non-executive Directors #H{TEE
— Ms. Leelalertsuphakun —FER LT
Wanee 259 - - - 155 414
— Ms. Cai Li (resigned on  — £ 2+ (120234
November 27, 2023) 1152788/(F) - - - - - -
— Mr. Chen Yu —BRFEE - - - - - -
— Ms. Tiantian Zhang —RatE L 259 - - - 155 414
Independent Non- BIFHTES
executive Directors
— Mr. Wong Hin Wing -BRRRE 259 - — — 155 414
— Prof. Lo Yuk Lam —ESHHER 259 - - - 155 414
— Dr. Tam Lai Fan Gloria -BEABE
(resigned on April 11, (A2022%F
2022) 4A11RE(T) 73 = = = = 73
— Mr. Liew Fui Kiang -8R RA
(appointed on June 6, (A2022%
2022) 6A6HEZRIT) 147 — — — 155 302
1,256 7,112 3,036 541 13,632 25,577

MiaE : AEE2023% &2022F12A318IEEFE - I
ERAEAEESNEEME AT (HTFELOMEE)
SAHEMFRIE « ERINA S AN A S E 6 #) 5%
BN e AR o

Note: There was no payment to any of the directors or the individuals with
highest emoluments (as disclosed in note 10) as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any office
during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

10.INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10.E5ME AL

EMOLUMENTS

ThEsEaMe ATH - —H(2022F : —F)
BREE  HMESRWToRE - HermmE (2022
F BN SRR -

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2022:
one) of them is a director whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other four (2022:
four) individuals are as follows:

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFT

Salaries and other emoluments e RHAMME 9,994 8,000
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAT 1,949 1,665
Share-based payments LARRR BB HE R 15 3R 6,355 12,842
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIH IR 16 64
18,314 22,571

The emoluments of the four (2022: four) individuals with the highest M4 (2022%F : MZ) & HE A TS ERIA

emoluments are within the following bands: T&E :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
N
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 7C£4,000,000/5 7T =
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001/ 7T £4,500,000/5 T 1
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,500,001/%C%5,000,000/%5 7T -
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7L£5,500,000/% 7T 1
HK$7,000,001 — HK$7,500,000 7,000,001E7C£7,500,000/8 7T 1
HK$8,000,001 — HK$8,500,000 8,000,001/% 7T £8,500,000/8 7T —
HK$9,500,001 — HK$10,000,000 9,500,001/ 210,000,000/ T 1

Annual Report 2023 iR

163



Notes to the Financial Statements
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11.LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB385,038,000 (2022: RMB407,317,000) and the weighted
average of 543,922,707 ordinary shares (2022: 542,172,689
ordinary shares) in issue during the year calculated as follows:

@

Issued ordinary shares at the FUEBTTAR
beginning of the year

Effect of shares issued related to
equity-settled share-based

transactions

BinrR &

AR EEARND BERNRZ HET

Weighted average number of ordinary 45 & @ INHE 19 &
shares at the end of the year

(b) Diluted loss per share
Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for

the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, as all of the
potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive.

164 Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEIEERIBGR AT

(b)

11. BREE

BREXER

BRERNEEDIEFRANRNAR L @EE
25 1% B JE {5 B 1B A R 385,038,000 7T
(2022% : AR#407,317,0007C) %2
17 % i A% N4 T 19 £543,922,707 B
(20224 : 542,172,689/ )stE T :

2023 2022

20234 20224

Number of Number of

shares shares

RHEE &t B

543,843,992 541,946,928

78,715 225,761

543,922,707 542,172,689
FREEE R

HRAEECE BRI AEREBERE -
WA E 20234 2022412 A31 8 IF4F
EmEREEEERgRELRGIERR -



Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 9% - BERSRE

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) REZHEHPE K
Furniture,
Properties Machinery fixture and
leased for Leasehold and office Motor  Construction
own use improvements equipment equipment vehicle in progress Total
HE EEZE
BREENE HEMRER BRRRE RBAZRE KBEH TEIR b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARBTT
Cost: A
At January 1, 2022 1202241818 38,623 7,118 178,728 6,621 978 18,331 250,399
Exchange adjustments 5 A% 214 242 - 129 33 - 618
Additions AE 16,999 17 341 833 - 63,976 82,166
Transfer from construction EEEEETR

in progress - - 20,890 - - (20,890) -
Lease modification HEBYN (383) - - - - = (383)
Disposals HE () - - - - = (77
At December 31, 2022 and 72022128318 %

January 1, 2023 2023F1A1R 55,376 7,377 199,959 7,583 1,011 61,417 332,723
Exchange adjustments B 5 A 67 84 - 45 12 - 208
Additions RE 3,742 - 1,701 579 395 24,279 30,696
Transfer from construction EZEERIE

in progress - - 52,996 318 - (53,314) -
Disposals e (1,227) - - - - = (1,227)
At December 31, 2023 "2023F12A318 57,958 7,461 254,656 8,525 1,418 32,382 362,400
Accumulated 2ithE:

depreciation:

At January 1, 2022 "2022F1A18 16,314 1,834 44,961 2,762 210 - 66,081

Exchange adjustments B 5 R 81 41 - 23 6 - 151

Charge for the year FRAH 7,068 1,027 23,091 1,389 250 = 32,825

Written back on disposals 7 & (W) = = = = = (77
At December 31, 2022 and 1220225128318 [z

January 1, 2023 2023F1A1R 23,386 2,902 68,052 4,174 466 - 98,980
Exchange adjustments B 5 A% 48 29 - 15 4 = 9%
Charge for the year QL 8,406 1,058 29,084 1,167 329 - 40,044
Written back on disposals 7 & (368) — = = = = (368)
AtDecember 31,2023 ~~ M2023F12fi3A ahet gEsy L S ey - L
Net book value: REFE:

At December 31, 2023 1#2023%12A31H 26,486 3,472 157,520 3,169 619 32,382 223,648
At December 31, 2022 #2022412R31H 31,990 4,475 131,907 3,409 545 61,417 233,743
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 9% - BMERRZRE(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EFEEE

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by RIEEEERE S MERELEERTDF
class of underlying asset is as follows: BT -
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Pt s ARET T AREFT
Properties leased for own use, carried HRAHEEYME @ EWITERA
at depreciated cost 2l 0] 26,486 31,990
Furniture, fixture and office equipment, X8 + EEEE RPFAE
carried at depreciated cost Bl RITER AR (i) 5
31,995
Notes: Bt &
(i) Properties leased for own use (i) BREEYE
The Group has obtained the right to use properties as its AEBEFZBEEHRADNESKEBYMER
buildings for its research and development, offices and staff EEME  PAERBIBEEEFHE
quarters through tenancy agreements. The leases typically F o MEMNVLHERBE A2E10F -
run for an initial period of two to ten years. None of the leases HERTREATZHENK -
includes variable lease payments.
(i) Furniture, fixture and office equipment (i) BRE BErEERPLERE
The Group leases furniture, fixture and office equipment for an AEEHERE  ETERERNAER
initial period of five years. None of the leases includes variable BEHNL R R5F - HEH T RS
lease payments. BEMK -
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognized HEEN BRI HBESTAT -
in profit or loss is as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use RREBEERREISNFEREEE
assets by class of underlying asset EERMFE7(C)) :
(note 7(c)):
Properties leased for own use EREEmE 7,068
Furniture, fixture and office equipment XE - EFEERFAERE 17
7,085
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7(a)) MEAEFE (7)) 1,783

Expenses relating to short-term lease ARG HHENES
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M5

12.9% - BERRE(E)

(b) BRAEEZE (&)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
RMB3,742,000 (2022: RMB16,999,000). This amount primarily
related to the capitalized lease payments payable under new
tenancy agreements.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the total
cash outflow for leases were RMB11,102,000 (2022:
RMB7,872,000).

Details of the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
note 21.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment including right-
of-use assets has been charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as follow:

FAREFEAREEARES, 742,000
(20224 + AR¥16,999,0007T) ° &
FEXZHRREBEFAEHEEMNNENHE
EfTER -

HZE2023F12F31HIHFE - AEHE S
i 4a%E A AR 11,102,0007T (2022
F: AR¥7,872,0007T) °
HEBENEEB S ITFBERK 21 -

BREEREEEEANYE  BHERERE
FEERERBEERMBOT

HEE R

Research and development expenses

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
35,332 29,581
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

13. B EE

In-licensed Distribution
Patents rights Software rights Total
£ SRR 4eS DEHRE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(Note (b)) (Note (c))
GEO) (FzE(c))
Cost: BA:
At January 1, 2022 #2022F1A1H 25,652 132,954 12,547 - 171,153
Exchange adjustments i 5 A% - 12,718 1,841 39 14,598
Additions NE - 131,428 27,127 1,345 159,900
At December 31, 2022 and R2022F12A318 K

January 1, 2023 2023%1A1H 25,652 277,100 41,515 1,384 345,651
Exchange adjustments [k - 6,564 1,141 39 7,744
Additions NE - 33,597 6,335 18,868 58,800
At December 31, 2023 #2023F12A31H 25,652 317,261 48,991 20,291 412,195
Accumulated amortization: EYs i
At January 1, 2022 20221811 8,688 - 82 - 8,770
Exchange adjustments Rk - - 9 - 9
Charge for the year FRZM 2,044 = 205 = 2,249
At December 31, 2022 and 2022512318 %

January 1, 2023 20231818 10,732 = 296 = 11,028
Exchange adjustments B 51 % = = 44 - 44
Charge for the year FRZMH 2,044 = 6,616 = 8,660
At December 31, 2023 #2023F12A31H 12,776 - 6,956 - 19,732
Net book value: BREFE
At December 31, 2023 #®2023F12A31H 12,876 317,261 42,035 20,291 392,463
At December 31, 2022 #2022%12A31H 14,920 277,100 41,219 1,384 334,623
(a) Amortization of intangible assets has been charged to the (a) EREEHECNGEAEERNBNT ¢

consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

Research and development expenses

HEEFL

2,292
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(b) In-licensed rights

Notes to the Financial Statements
IR R M5

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEHFE

BRIMOCHOL™

PFand
TAB014 1C-265 NVK002 PAN-90806 NTCO14 NTC010 ResolvER  Carbachol PF Total

BRIMOCHOL™

PFR
TABO14 1C-265 NVK002 PAN-90806 NTCO14 NTC010 ResolvER  Carbachol PF it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AEETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Note (i) Note (i) Note (iii) Note (iv) Note (v) Note (v) Note (vi) Note (vii)

FK(G) () i i) Q) F(v) E(0) Hk(vi) Tk vil)

Cost of in-license rights ~ &5 A

At January 1, 2022 202251418 21,192 9,540 63,214 22,135 3,061 6,801 6,321 - 132,954
Additions #m 30,566 - - - - - - 100,862 131,428
Exchange adjustments ~ EXEE - 838 5,553 1,944 269 605 556 2,953 12,718
At December 31, 2022 #2022F12A31A 52,358 10,378 68,767 24,079 7,496 103,815 277,100
At January 1, 2023 #2023F1A1A 24,079 103,815 277,100
Additions #n 12,378 - - 33,597
Exchange adjustments ~ EXiE% 758 193 2,937 6,564
At December 31, 2023 #2023F1231A 37,215 7,070 106,752 317,261

The balance of in-licensed rights represent payments made
to acquire development and commercialization rights of
ophthalmic drugs and products from third parties and are
not available for use. Due to the inherent uncertainties in
the research and development processes, these assets are
particularly at risk of impairment if the project is not expected
to result in a commercialized product. Key terms of these
licenses are set out below:

®

License agreements with TOT BIOPHARM
International Company Limited (“TOT
BIOPHARM™)

On January 5, 2017, Zhaoke Guangzhou entered into a
license agreement with TOT BIOPHARM, a China-based
biopharmaceutical company dedicated to developing and
commercializing innovative biological drugs and therapies
and listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
for licensing TABO14 bio-pharmaceutical know-how for
development and commercialization for a period of 10
years in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. TABO14
is an ophthalmic formulation of bevacizumab for the
treatment of retinal neovascularisation, such as wet age-
related macular degeneration (“wAMD?”).

SHERFHENESRIERNE =T SR
B o E O B R B e P SR AL AR R AR
B EARRHEER - ARAEBRTES
NHEEN - BB R EELRE

LER  ARSEELRSERERRY
€ o RSHANTERRBIIMT -

() HERBHEERMERAAE
(MERMBZEE )T M HFFA
&

H2017%1 858 © KEIEMER
REE(—BRNRHEREFEY
By REAVEERELRERE
BHMAERSMERAR ETHFE
N ELEEN ) BT AT A] sk A
BEEPEAL - B8RRI
R L TABO14E YR BB A
fir - AHA104F - TABO14 2 BfKE
MERREIRE - BRAAE SRR
EHFA - PRt EE SRS
(TwWAMD ) °
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

O)

License agreements with TOT BIOPHARM
International Company Limited (“TOT
BIOPHARM™) (Continued)

Zhaoke Guangzhou made the non-refundable upfront
payment of RMB8,400,000 and the first milestone
payment of RMB8,400,000 upon signing of the
license agreement and obtaining Investigational New
Drug approval respectively during the year ended
December 31, 2017. Zhaoke Guangzhou made the
second milestone payment of RMB6,300,000 for
execution of Phase Il clinical trial during the year ended
December 31, 2020. Zhaoke Guangzhou made the first
development milestone payment of RMB8,400,000 upon
first patient enrollment of Phase Il clinical trial and
the first and second commercial milestone payment
of RMB16,000,000 and RMB8,000,000 upon signing
of the supplemental license agreement and obtaining
the National Medical Products Administration approval
respectively during the year ended December 31, 2022.
Zhaoke Guangzhou is also obliged to make certain
payments upon the achievement of certain development
milestones, certain commercial milestones and royalty
payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net
sales of the products in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Macau.

On March 1, 2022, Zhaoke Guangzhou finalized a
supplemental license agreement with TOT BIOPHARM,
pursuant to which Zhaoke Guangzhou will have full
control and responsibility in the execution of clinical
trials and the ultimate decision-making power in
the development and commercialization of TABO14
in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. Zhaoke
Guangzhou is also given the right of developing TABO14
for other ophthalmic indications besides wAMD or novel
formulations for ophthalmic indications. Pursuant to the
supplemental agreement, in light of the adjustment to
the mode of collaboration, the payment schedule of the
commercialization milestone payments has also been
adjusted accordingly such that it is primarily linked to
the regulatory approval progress of TABO14, while the
total milestone payment amount remains the same as
that in the original agreement signed on January 5,
2017.
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13. B EE (&)
(b) 5IE%HFEE)

®

HERBHEERDARAF
([REBZEZE ) RT M FFA
i % ()

HE2017F12A31HIEFE - Kk
BEMN D BIEZ T3 ol hhag R IES
FEERABRRBILERI AT
RETERM K ARYS,400,0007T &
HEEREMNRARKS,400,000
JC ° HiE 20205612 A31H IFF
& KBIEMNAETENEBRRR
BRXNE-ZERBARARYE
6,300,000 7T ° & Z 2022 F 12
A31BIEFE - KBEMREIN
HEAdBrneaaEs AEEX
NE—SHEERBARARE
8,400,0007T * LA MO BIERRET#
AR ESERERERE
EREEINEERE-EmE
HEEHRARY16,000,0007T
* AR#8,000,0007T © JKEEM
MERBEERE THZEERERERR
PMEERBESNETRIE UKk
BEEHEREFBREAM BER
SRR F S I RIE AR
FRBESFEERE -

H202243H818 © JKEIEMER
BEXZE—NERTIHE
Bt - KRLEMN A5 E T TABOL14
WERSABBEEE2mIEHERE
T - WHTABOLAWFIEE R AEHR B
SR ELA SRR - KRHE
] IR T 15 5E WAMD BA SN E b AR R
EEAE R TABOL4L SR BLE e
AEBABE BI85 5 M RER| - IRIBFH TS
e - AR A EERXEL A
MU BB RN MK
INEAREAZE  HERFEREEE
TABO14M EE R EEH - M
BEBIRREEEN 20171 A5
AERIMRIBZEYIE B -



Notes to the Financial Statements

13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(i)

(i)

License agreement with 1ACTA
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (*“1ACTA”)

On July 24, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with IACTA, a US-based
ophthalmology-focused pharmaceutical company
developing drugs with novel mechanisms of action that
treat diseases in areas of significant unmet medical
need, to acquire the exclusive rights to I1C-265 for dry
eye and IC-270 for allergic conjunctivitis (i.e. “Licensed
know-how”) for development and commercialization
for a period of 10 years in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable
upfront payment of US$1,500,000 (equivalent to
RMB10,391,000) during the year ended December 31,
2020. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also obliged to make certain
payments upon the achievement of specific development
milestones, commercial milestones and royalty payments
based on net sales of the products in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and the South East Asian
countries.

License agreement with Nevakar, Inc.
(“Nevakar™)

On October 19, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with Nevakar, a US-based
biopharmaceutical company developing multiple
innovative medications in the ophthalmic and hospital
injectable areas, for the exclusive rights to develop,
manufacture and commercialize NVK002, a novel topical
eye treatment for slowing the progression of myopia
in children, for a period of 15 years in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South
East Asian countries.

BT ERR o

13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEFFEE

(ii) EIACTA

Pharmaceuticals Inc.
(TTACTAD T WEF AT &

H2020F7 F248 - kRIFHH
IACTA(— I E xR YA EH
BBNF AREERERERROE
R B J7 7 B EL ST 70 P A4 ) )
W) RIS RF Al e - IR AR &
ARIEAII1C-265 & AR BEIE B A
HIIC-270K B RIER (BN EHiEEA
BKr)) » MR ERR - F8 8
P - AERERMERRARREE
1t BHI10% -

HZE2020F12A31HIFFE -
KEEBEINTARBEMNK
1,500,000 % T (HHE R AR
10,391,0007T) ° KEIEHEII B E
BEERETABAEERERSE
¥ERBESNETHRE  URR
BEBERETEAN - B R
Pl AEREEEERAFHES
SFEEERE -

BNevakar, Inc.
(TNevakar )T Z BV EF A
&

H2020F10 A19H @ KEIEH
B Nevakar (— A PR MR EEH -
HEZERM LB AL A
EEREY RSN R]) TS FF Al 1
o UARBRPEAN B R
P ZEKEEDERMA
- B R (ENVK002 (—7&
18 R E AR IR A FE SN AR 20
BR)WEREN - BHIL15F -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

@iiD)

@(iv)

License agreement with Nevakar, Inc.
(**“Nevakar”) (Continued)

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable
upfront payment of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB68,828,000) during the year ended December
31, 2020. Zhaoke Hong Kong made the contribution
milestone payment of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB21,219,000) during the year ended December 31,
2023. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also obliged to make certain
payments upon the achievement of specific development
milestones, commercial milestones and royalty payments
based on net sales of the products in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South
East Asian countries.

License agreement with PanOptica, Inc.
(“PAN™)

On December 15, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered
into a license agreement with PAN, a US-based
ophthalmology-focused pharmaceutical company
developing a topical eye drop for the treatment of
sight-threatening eye diseases caused by abnormal or
leaky blood vessels, for the exclusive rights to develop,
manufacture and commercialize PAN-90806, a wAMD
solution, for a period of 10 years in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South
East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made an upfront payment of
US$3,500,000 (equivalent to RMB24,101,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2020. Zhaoke Hong
Kong made the first development milestone payment of
US$1,750,000 (equivalent to RMB12,378,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2023. Zhaoke Hong
Kong is also obliged to make certain payments upon
the achievement of specific development milestones,
commercial milestones and royalty payments based on
net sales of the products in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the South East Asian
countries.

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHERIARE A A

13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEFFEE

(iii) ENevakar, Inc.

Q%)

(TNevakar]) 8T BYRFH
s (48)

HZE2020F12A31HIEFE -
KB BB N TARERMNK
10,000,000% T (fHE R AR
68,828,0007T) ° #ZE2023%F12
A31BILFE - kRBEAE IR
6k 2 72 78 1+ 33,000,000 % 7t (18
TR ARK21,219,0007T) ° ¥k
MEATAERBEERETRER
REREREEEREEAINET
B - U RIBIEEBEMET A
o HA R A8 BEEKR
M B RAFIHEE S ST
AE -

BPanOptica, Inc.
(TPAN 1) 8T 3 B9 55 7T 15 5%

H2020F12 A15H @ KEIEB
EPAN(— PSRN ER « F)x
REEEYMSRENE - EARER
1% £ 5 sk 5| BEE R B AR
Z MY BR 505 s m 51 3 — TN R
) ETSLRF AT #pad » AEEREF B A
B/ R A8 BERER
TR - Bk R E(LPAN-
90806 (—TEWAMDf#R 5 %) K 58
RAEF) © AHL0F -

HZE2020F12 8318 ILFE » kK
B & BB X 7781 5£3,500,000
E7t(HE R ARK24,101,000
JC) ° B E2023F12A31H ILF
B kBEBEBEINEEREER
214 51,750,000 7T (HHE R A
R#12,378,0007T) ° KEHH
NBEBEERS TABHAEER
BREEEREEINETRE
ARIBIEEBERTTEAM - &
&R A EREKREDE
RAFHERE T RrrERE -
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13. B EE (&)
(b) 5IE%HFEE)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(v) License agreements with NTC S.r.l. (v) ENTC S.r.l.([NTCJ)

(*NTC™)

Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into a license agreement
with NTC, an ltaly-based pharmaceutical company
specialized in developing innovative therapeutic solutions
in the areas of drugs, nutraceuticals and medical
devices, to acquire the exclusive rights to NTC014
for the indication of moderate-to-severe bacterial
conjunctivitis and NTCO10 for the prevention and
treatment of inflammation and inflection associated with
cataract surgery for development and commercialization
in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and the
South East Asian countries.

NTCO14

On December 31, 2020, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a license agreement with NTC for licensing NTCO014 for
development and commercialization for a period of 12
years in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and
the South East Asian countries.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable upfront
payment of EUR400,000 (equivalent to RMB3,109,000)
during the year ended December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong
Kong is also obliged to make certain payments upon the
achievement of specific development milestones and
commercial milestones.

NTCO10

On February 15, 2021, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a license agreement with NTC for licensing NTCO10 for
development and commercialization in Mainland China.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made the non-refundable upfront
payment of EUR300,000 (equivalent to RMB2,333,000)
and the first milestone payment of EUR600,000
(equivalent to RMB4,666,000) upon signing of the
license agreement and obtaining Investigational New
Drug approval respectively during the year ended
December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also obliged
to make certain payments upon the achievement
of specific development milestones and commercial
milestones.

EIVA: BN

KRB EBENTC(— AR E
AMBLENR] - EFIRELEY)
EEREDREEERBENAI
BRF R )T F A HhaE - A
EREREARM - B8 RS A
ERREEERAEEEE AR
SAETREEAEEAEAEEEN
NTCO014 &k AR B ke BEH ANE
F BB R IE &R EHNTCOL08)
BRIER o

NTCO14

H2020%F 128318 © kR EHH
NTCHI M FF Al #p ik + IAZEERAE AP
A - A R AEERERE
BHRFAE & EF{ENTCOL4K) 7 7]
1 BHI124F -

HE2021F12A31BILFE -
KkBREAEINTAARERN
X 400,000 7T (FHE R AR
3,109,0007T) ° KEIEB B &
BHEBERETABRAEERERYS
¥XERMEINETRE-

NTCO10

R202142H158 » kB EFEE
NTCET L FF Al ek + AEERIEH B
A 5 3 R B S {ENTCOL10/Y T AT
o

HE2021F12A31HIEFE © Kk
RIEB D BIFE R ATl et R ES
EERIR A R R BB AT A
iR E T84 300,000 7T (A E H
AR#2,333,000T) R EEBR
814 51600,000BU T (FHHERA AR
#4,666,0007T) ° KEIEBINE
ESEERETAEHEREREER
REBREBEBINETIE -
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(vi) License agreement with KATO

(vii)

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (*KATO”)

On May 31, 2021, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a license agreement with KATO, a US-based clinical
stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to the
development of novel therapies for pathologies of
the eye with an emphasis on unmet medical needs,
for licensing KATO patent rights for development and
commercialization in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau
and the South East Asian countries. KATO patent rights is
an intravitreal injection of liposome-loaded urea for the
treatment of vitreomacular traction.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made the non-refundable upfront
payment of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB6,421,000)
upon signing of the license agreement during the year
ended December 31, 2021. Zhaoke Hong Kong is also
obliged to make certain payments upon the achievement
of certain development milestones, certain commercial
milestones and royalty payments at the applicable
royalty rates based on net sales of the products in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and the South East
Asian countries.

License agreement with Visus
Therapeutics, Inc. (*Visus™)

On May 6, 2022, the Company entered into a license
agreement with Visus, a US-based clinical-stage
pharmaceutical company focused on developing
innovative ophthalmic therapies to improve vision,
to acquire the exclusive rights to BRIMOCHOL™ PF
and Carbachol PF for correction of the loss of near
vision associated with presbyopia for development and
commercialization for a period of 10 years in Mainland
China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South Korea and the
South East Asian countries.
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13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEHFEE

(vi) EEKATO

(vii)

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(TKATO) RT3 By Al 15 5%

R2021F5A318 © JkRIFHH
KATO(— B A B R ER 2B &
MEENT IR EWHEEFE
22 2% T SRR O /O BR B0 AE #E0K )
RIN A paE  AEEEFRER
BB RFIRREEERMAE
M AEEKATOE A4 -
KATOZ R B —TE A B AR E IR
ERIEE RIS Y - BRA
BN ENAE -

HZE2021F12831HILFE » kK
MEBERBH A HREIAT
Al 3R 38 ¥8 5 01,000,000 3% 7t (48
BN ARY6,421,0007T) © JKE
BERENBEBEERE THEER
MR EERREREINETHE -
NERBBEEHRERTTFEAM &
BRI RREEERNFEEE
RREANFFEEABRIMAE
FTEEAE -

BVisus Therapeutics,
Inc.([Visus )& 3 f&F ]
&

H202265H86H © AQFEHVisus
(—HERBREEHERREN
A EERFARRER AT R
BHEE)FTALFT I ek LAJEERIEH
E A - FE RF] - &% - B
ERmTRRAZEKEE ARG
EAZERMERATIERSE N
BRIMOCHOL™ PF } Carbachol
PFEVEZRIER] - /HIL0EF -
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13. B EE (&)
(b) 5IE%HFEE)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(vii) License agreement with Visus (vii) B2Visus Therapeutics,

Therapeutics, Inc. (*Visus™) (Continued)

The Company made a non-refundable upfront payment
of US$15,000,000 (equivalent to RMB100,862,000)
during the year ended December 31, 2022. The
Company is also obliged to make certain payments
upon the achievement of specific regulatory milestones,
commercial milestones, sales-driven milestones and
royalty payments based on net sales of the products
in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan, South
Korea and the South East Asian countries.

Inc.([Visus |)§T M BI&F ]
s (48)

HZE2022%12A831HIEFE -
ARBEXFHTAREEMNK
15,000,000% T (fHE R AR
100,862,0007T) ° AR FIEFE
BEERETABREERER -5
*ERRBEHEREERERINET
HIB - ARIBRBEBEREREA
i BE R BB BEBERR
I E R F SR TR
RE -

(viii) Impairment test (viii) RERIR
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, all in-licensed A 20234F % 20226F12 831 H -

rights were not ready for use and the Group continues
the underlying research and development activities.
As such, they are subject to annual impairment tests
based on the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the intangible assets are related, which is at the
product level. Management determined the recoverable
amount of the relevant CGU using the value in use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on management’s expectations of timing of
commercialization and revenue growth rates of the
drugs over the license period of individual in-licensed
rights. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the
fair value measurement hierarchy due to unobservable
inputs used in the valuation.

With the assistance of an external appraiser,
management determined the recoverable amount of the
in-licensed rights based on the following approach and
the key assumptions:

- The revenue growth rates were based on the
expected market penetration rate and selling
conditions considering the features of marketing
and technology development; and

- The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

FrE Bl M R AT E A - K
SEEEREABMEES - &
It HAREBREVEELERE
EHENRSELSSEMNN KD
SHEETEERENR - EBER
AEREBETEAECHERSE
EBAIMAIKESEE - REBER
BIREUEERREE RER S #
Frr S Al iR R IR s 1B R R KT8
B ERBRSREBUTEFERE
8 - ANEEEAT A BRE AR
B HZAERRAATEFERE
BANE=MR -

ESMNBHEMNBT - ERER
ATRTT7A R £ RIRRE TE Sl AT
R AU S5

— EHWEIERERTDREES
ME2EXRHEERRE
H - B EEEE R
FIZEESE &

—  FERHRREATA - i

[RERAERAIR A A B AL R
TERR
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(viii) Impairment test (Continued)

13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEHFEE)

(viii) RERE (&)

The key assumptions used for calculation of value-in-use M 20234F K 2022F 12 A31H -
of individual in-licensed rights as at December 31, 2023 RRETHEERI S ERFEATFEYN
and 2022 are as follows: FERROT
TABO14 TABO14
2023 2022
20234 20224
Pre-tax discount rate FBAIRLIR = 28% 28%
Expected revenue growth rate FAA G R 0%—~274% 0%~274%
Recoverable amount of CGU ReEEBMNMATIKRESEE
(in RMB’000) (ARBFT) 283,879 196,218
Carrying amount of CGU ReELEMNNEDESHE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥ETFT) 52,358 52,358
I1C-265 I1C-265
2023 2022
20234 20224
Pre-tax discount rate FRATALIA &= 29% 28%
Expected revenue growth rate TEHR U A I R 0%—~877% 0%—~848%
Recoverable amount of CGU REELEBMMATIRE S
(in RMB’000) (AR®ETT) 81,397 35,055
Carrying amount of CGU ReELEBMNERESE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥%TT) 10,672 10,378
NVKO002 NVKO002
2023 2022
20234 20224
Pre-tax discount rate FHATBLER = 27% 25%
Expected revenue growth rate TE B R 1 R R -5%6~81% -5%~84%
Recoverable amount of CGU ReEEBMNAINEETE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥%TT) 1,155,183 829,267
Carrying amount of CGU ReEFBEMNERESE
(in RMB’000) (AREETFT) 92,062 68,767
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13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEHFEE)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(viii) RERE (&)

(viii) Impairment test (Continued)

PAN-90806 PAN-90806
2023 2022
20234 20224
Pre-tax discount rate TR ATALIR & 31% 29%
Expected revenue growth rate TEHR U a1 R -4%—~281% -5%~291%
Recoverable amount of CGU REELBEMMATRESEHE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥%TT) 397,017 413,496
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBMNERESE
(in RMB’000) (ARBFT) 37,215 24,079
NTCO14 NTCO14
2023 2022
20234 20224
Pre-tax discount rate FBLATRLIR = 27% 27%
Expected revenue growth rate FAR R R R 0%—82% 0%—~82%
Recoverable amount of CGU BEELBEMMATRESE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥EFT) 44,585 27,808
Carrying amount of CGU ReELBMNRESE
(in RMB’000) (AR%TT) 3,424 3,330
NTCO10 NTCO10
2023 2022
20234 20224
Pre-tax discount rate FHATERIR R 26% 26%
Expected revenue growth rate TEHA U A I R 8%6—140% 8% ~140%
Recoverable amount of CGU REELEBEMMATRE S
(in RMB’000) (AR¥%TT) 42,848 54,436
Carrying amount of CGU ReEEBMNERESHE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥EFT) 7,708 7,496
Resolv ER Resolv ER
2023 2022
20234 20224
Pre-tax discount rate FHATBLER = 30% 28%
Expected revenue growth rate TE B R 1 R R -4%—~24% -4%~24%
Recoverable amount of CGU ReEEBMNAIKREESTE
(in RMB’000) (ARETT) 23,601 23,442
Carrying amount of CGU ReEFBEUNERESHE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥ETT) 7,070 6,877
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)
(viii) Impairment test (Continued)

BRIMOCHOL ™ PF and Carbachol PF

Pre-tax discount rate FAIRLIR R

Expected revenue growth rate TEE AR I R K

Recoverable amount of CGU ReELEBMMAIKRESE
(in RMB’000) (AR¥®TT)

Carrying amount of CGU REEABUNRMSHE
(in RMB’000) (ARBFT)

Based on the result of impairment assessments, there
was no impairment as at December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Impairment test — sensitivity

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 5% of
expected revenue, which are the key assumptions for
determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
assets, with all other variables held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the intangible asset’s
recoverable amount above their carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

TABO14

Headroom o<l

Impact by increasing pre-tax RERATANR RN E
discount rate

Impact by decreasing expected FETE AR 2
revenue
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13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEHFEE)

(viii) RERE (&)

BRIMOCHOL ™ PF
Carbachol PF
2023 2022
20234 20224
27% 27%

196~234% 1%—~234%

143,294 120,040

106,752 103,815

ERBEFHENER - HR2023F
N 2022412 A318 » LI
(=

IRIERH — SRR

AEEBBEMAEMEIRE
BHBERT - RSB RIRE R K12
= 1% 2k T B a8 PR 5% (R &
EEEVAERNKRESENEIER
RIETBRRENR - HEVAE
A Yol & B H H R T 2 B RO B
(EEWTENT

TABO14

2023 2022

2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
231,521 143,860

(21,783) (19,363)

(15,322) (12,401)
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13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEHFEE)

(viii) RERE (&)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(viii) Impairment test (Continued)

IC-265 IC-265
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Headroom &E 70,725 24,677
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHARENTE
discount rate (8,377) (7,637)
Impact by decreasing expected FRETE R &
revenue (4,180) (2,965)
NVKO002 NVKO002
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Headroom EE 1,063,121 760,500
Impact by increasing pre-tax RERARE RS
discount rate (89,189) (76,970)
Impact by decreasing expected FETER R E
revenue (70,829) (55,862)
PAN-90806 PAN-90806
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ANEEBFIT
Headroom & 359,802 389,417
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHAIBR RN TE
discount rate (42,456) (45,723)
Impact by decreasing expected P ETEE = 2
revenue (26,586) (27,959)
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13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEHFEE)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(viii) RERE (&)

(viii) Impairment test (Continued)

NTCO14 NTCO14
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Headroom &E 41,161 24,478
Impact by increasing pre-tax REHARENTE
discount rate (9,028) (4,214)
Impact by decreasing expected [ 78 BRIz ) R 2
revenue (8,484) (3,238)
NTCO10 NTCO10
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Headroom o<l 35,140 46,940
Impact by increasing pre-tax RERAREERNTE
discount rate (8,112) (5,558)
Impact by decreasing expected FETER R E
revenue (7,803) (4,415)
Resolv ER Resolv ER
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ANEEBFIT
Headroom & 16,531 16,565
Impact by increasing pre-tax RETRABR RN TE
discount rate (3,409) (3,616)
Impact by decreasing expected [ ETEE = 2
revenue (2,167) (2,200)
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13.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) In-licensed rights (Continued)

(viii) Impairment test (Continued)

BRIMOCHOL ™ PF and Carbachol PF

BT ERR o

13. B EE (&)
(b) SIEHFEE)

(viii) RERR (&)

&
RERARRENLE

Headroom

Impact by increasing pre-tax
discount rate

Impact by decreasing expected
revenue

FEFRERENTE

Considering there were still sufficient headroom based
on the assessments, management believes that a
reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions
on which management has based its determination of
the CGUs’ recoverable amount would not cause their
carrying amount to exceed their recoverable amount.

(c) Distribution rights

O

Distribution agreement with C&V Tech,
Inc.

On October 4, 2022, Zhaoke Hong Kong entered into
a distribution and supply agreement with C&V Tech,
Inc., a Korea-based medical device manufacturer
developing medical devices for the diagnosis, treatment,
and prevention of glaucoma, to acquire the exclusive
rights to TONO-i, an innovative tonometer designed
to be contactless, portable and self-measuring, for
registration, import, promotion, distribution, marketing
and selling for a period of 10 years in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

Zhaoke Hong Kong made a non-refundable distribution
fee of US$200,000 (equivalent to RMB1,345,000) during
the year ended December 31, 2022.

As at December 31, 2023, the distribution rights were
still under preparation stage and were not ready for use.

BRIMOCHOL ™ PF )z
Carbachol PF
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
36,542 16,225
(15,091) (14,312)
(11,390) (15,348)

ZEIEFERDERRNES -
ERERSEETRSELEMA
Yo [m) & BE P AR IR Y 1) £ B RAR A
BIERREEE NS EERE D RS
BRKROISHE

(c) D’

O

BAC&V Tech, Inc.:TZHY

R2022F10848 © JkERIFHH
C&V Tech, Inc. (—E R FHEZ
B AEKRTEMN S KRN EREE
BERMEERE) o R EEER
o LERERBEAN - B R
FARAEERD - #O - HE - - »
8 B R HETONO-IRBRE
F - AHI10%F - TONO-iZ — KAl
MRRELT - [t ARBER -
FERATE/THEZ -

HZE2022F12 A31 B ILFE -
KB BEBELZIMFTATREDH
# 200,000 T (HHE R ARK
1,345,0007T) °

H2023F12 8318 @ D HENE
YEMEPEER - BRATRER o
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(c) Distribution rights (Continued)

(ii) Distribution agreement with Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Company Limited
(“Lee’s Pharm Hefei™)

On November 13, 2023, Zhaoke Guangzhou entered
into a distribution and assets transfer agreement with
Lee’s Pharm Hefei, to acquire the distribution right and
associated assets of Eyprotor, a ophthalmology drug for
promoting the replacement and utilization of glucose and
oxygen by eye tissues and cells.

Zhaoke Guangzhou made the first consideration
installment of RMB20,000,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2023. Zhaoke Guangzhou is also obliged
to make further consideration installments upon
approval of product registration and achievement of
specific sales milestones.

14.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The
class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

13. B EE (&)
(c) ZHEE

(i) BEEREE(SR)RBER

AR FRAER(SR) D)

RT3 2 $K thh =

H2023411 5138 © JKEIE/N
TRREEM(AIE)FTL D R EE
e - DB AR (BERER
HEERABEEEEREROER
R ABREIZEY) ) B D 8HE R AE
HEE -

HZE2023612A31B L& E -
KEEMNE ZHE—REARE
20,000,0007T ° toh + JREHE M
BEEREMEMERE RER S
TEHEBRRBERE—FTINIHR
E °

14. AMB A RNKRE

TREJHEAKERE  BEXBREKTE
FENMBARE - RIERHIIA - TRIFTE
Bein S8R5 A gk o

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation/ interest
establishment Particulars of FARERLA
Name of company and business issued and paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
EMREL/ BILR
RNEAER EEHH BERTRARRAFE B M TEER
Zhaoke Hong Kong Hong Kong Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) 100% —  Development of
10,000 ophthalmology products
KRIEE &g 10,000/ 7T RN ERFE
Zhaoke Guangzhou**@ The PRC US$80,000,000 (note) - 100%  Development and
manufacturing of
ophthalmology drugs and
products
KRB N2 i 80,000,000 7 ([fizE) F% MBS R Y R E

Note: During the year ended December 31, 2023, Zhaoke Hong Kong injected
capital of US$30,000,000 for strengthening the capital base of Zhaoke

Guangzhou.
* KPMG are not the statutory auditors of this company.
i The company name in English is a direct translation of the registered

Chinese name for the purpose of identification.

@ Registered under the laws of the PRC as a foreign investment enterprise.
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=%
15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15. EZ R H WA
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARETT
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance & 5 EMRIE (F5 F i8R E) 3,710 -
Value-added tax recoverable ALY EEERL 643 31,140
Prepayments to suppliers TR R R IE 38,605 27,383
Other receivables H b U GRIE 18,189 16,934
61,147 75,457
All trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or FTE B 5 I H o JE W sk T8 18 BB 6 7 — S i Bl =
recognized as expenses within one year. ERBMAX
Ageing analysis R 7
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade RERR - B HRWFIEENEE B B RARk
receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as EIaRHEERRROITT ¢
follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Within 1 month 1EAR 1,381 =
1 to 2 months 1ZE2{@ A 667 =
2 to 3 months 2Z3{E A -
Over 3 months but within 6 months wHBiE3@AEeE AR -
= The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. & #wHem IR AR 0005
Trade receivables are due within 30—90 days from the date of billing. B HRUFTERFAZEH%30E90RAEH - B
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising BAERZE S EKRFEEERRENEERRAE
from trade receivables are set out in note 25(a). —SRHEERKIEE25() °
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16.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

(a) Cash and bank balances comprise:

16. RERRITHEER

Cash at banks RITHRS

Cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows

Pledged bank balances (note)

Time deposits with original maturity
over three months

BHEARIRTTA SR (HTRD)

REFERERERNAR LIREHEY

[REIHR B R ® = (B A A9 E BT K

(a) Bz RRITHEGEH .
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
1,461,623 1,716,351
1,461,623 1,716,351
265,658 172,066
— 8,873
1,727,281 1,897,290

Note: As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, these bank balances were
pledged to banks for a banking facility and letter of credit
facilities.
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16.CASH AND BANK BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising
from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

BA %5 SR T ot

16. RERRITHEER(E)

(b) BEZEFIELEEHE K

TRAMARERETDFELABNE
B BRERSKIFRSEE) - QAR
ELRERRERELRRADRERAK
KESARERERTORARAEER
ERENEME -

Lease
Bank loans liabilities Total
BITER HEAE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
(note 20) (note 21)
GEZ) (Fiz£21)
At January 1, 2022 W2022%1A1A 10,289 26,743 37,032
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREHEEE :
Proceeds from bank loans BITEFRFEE 93,811 = 93,811
Repayment from bank loans BEBITER (9,600) - (9,600)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BRESRHRSHS - (6,089) (6,089)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERRSOFMEHS - (1,783) (1,783)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERERELHAE 84,211 (7,872) 76,339
Exchange adjustments R - 158 158
Other changes: Hit#5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering  HARETS ¥ EFFE£H)
into new leases during the period HESELM - 16,999 16,999
Decrease in lease liabilities from lease ~ FAEEXHELNREEERD
modification - (383) (383)
Interest expenses (note 7(a)) FIBBAZ (ME7(a)) = 1,783 1,783
Total other changes Hi B gHags = 18,399 18,399
At December 31, 2022 and W2022%12A318%
January 1, 2023 2023%181H 94,500 37,428 131,928
Changes from financing cash flows: HWEREFEEE :
Proceeds from bank loans RITERMFEHE 120,821 - 120,821
Repayment from bank loans BEFITER (8,744) = (8,744)
Capital element of lease rentals paid [EARE A N v - (8,760) (8,760)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERAESOFEHD = (1,756) (1,756)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~BERERELHEE 112,077 (10,516) 101,561
Exchange adjustments B 5 A% - 30 30
Other changes: Hit#5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering  HiRETS ¥ EFFE£H)
into new leases during the period HESELM 3,742 3,742
Decrease in lease liabilities from lease ~ #KIHRAEMELNREE EHD
termination (991) (991)
Interest expenses (note 7(a)) FIEHAZ (ME7(a)) 1,756 1,756
Total other changes Hih B EHass = 4,507 4,507
At December 31, 2023 M2023%F128318 206,577 31,449 238,026
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16.CASH AND BANK BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases
comprise the following:

16. RERRITHEER(E)

(c) BEHZRHEE

RenexrmiIEESEBETIIAER ¢

2023 2022

20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT

Within operating cash flows WETEREITE
Within financing cash flows REEBRESRE

[53:19) .
10,516 7,872

11,102 7,872

These amounts relate to the followings:

ZECHETIIHEER

2023 2022

2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

Lease rentals paid BEAERE

11,102
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17.CONTRACT LIABILITIES 17. 608 E
2023 2022
Contract liabilities aBHaE 2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Granting of exclusive distribution rights RIEBRD
— Upfront payments —TER R 14,135 -
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract HAERA N B ES AR EN—BNTIER
liabilities recognized are as follows: N
The Group receives upfront payments in respect of granting of REEZAZEFHHERHNBR D iEKETE
exclusive distribution rights of its products to customers. The upfront N BRFEMNFERASNARE  UERBT
payments received are recognized as contract liabilities and will be AHEAREZR BIA

recognized as income over the remaining contract period.

2023 2022
Movements in contract liabilities EHEERE 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Balance at January 1 R1ALB/&H = =
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of A% & &R UKETER X
receipt of upfront payments MmN 14,135 =
Balance at December 31 R12 A31HK &% 14,135 =
The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognized as EHR—FRERAVANGHNABESEAAR
income after more than one year is RMB12,956,000 (2022: RMB Nil). #12,956,0007T(20224F : ARBEZ L) - T8HA
All of the other contract liabilities are expected to be recognized as FrEEMENBEISN —FRERBIA -

income within one year.
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=]
18.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18. B 5 R HAENRIE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Trade payables & S EN0E 1,166 -
Payables for purchase of property, plant and BEE%E - F/E MR EREMNF0E
equipment 6,775 16,252
Payroll payables EEHe 16,383 16,474
Accrued costs for research and development #13[ sx lE5HAC A
expenses 74,656 36,921
Payables for purchase of materials (note (i)) FREEM A A FER FRIE (HFEG)) 8,101 4,154
Accrued office expenses and others FERTR A =R READ 7,954 8,414
Other taxes payables (note (ii)) E o JE AT R IE (P RE (i) 1,602 1,203
116,637 83,418
Notes: PHEE -
(i) As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, all payables for purchase of (i) 20234 K% 2022412 8318 « FrEREM R
materials are aged within one year, based on invoice date. HENFRIRERBER A MNRR A —F -
(i)  Accrued withholding taxes on the acquisitions of development and (i)  AE=TTUEEREIEY R E M B L E R
commercialization rights of ophthalmic drugs and products from third HEA RIS N RERR BRI EEBRNES
parties based on appropriate withholding tax rates applicable to the MBI RAEH -

relevant jurisdictions.

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within FIEE S REMENFUEERER —FREEK
one year or are repayable on demand. REREE -
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade RMEHR - BSENFBERNEE A HERR
payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: AT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Within 1 month LEAR 433 =
1 to 3 months 1Z 3R 137 =
Over 3 months but within 6 months HRA3ME AE61E A A 596 =
1,166 -
=] =%
19. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED 19. BT RREE 2 B RIE
COMPANIES
Amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free and ERNBREARRIBELAEER 28  EEHEER
repayable with a maximum credit terms of 30 days or on demand. S0KRSFHREKEE -
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BANK LOANS

20.

BA %5 SR T ot

Secured and repayable within 1 year or
on demand

BEMERIFARILERKEER

4= =%
BITER
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARETT
206,577 94,500

The bank loans were obtained by the Group’s subsidiary, Zhaoke
Guangzhou.

At December 31, 2023, Zhaoke Guangzhou had banking facilities of
RMB230,000,000 (2022: RMB130,000,000) and utilized to an extent
of RMB206,577,000 (2022: RMB94,500,000), and the respective
bank loan was secured by the Group’s pledged bank balances (note
16(a)).

LEASE LIABILITIES

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the lease liabilities were repayable
as follows:

21.

RITER A A S EATE R RRBEMNIS -

M2023F 12 A31 8 © kBREMAE AR
¥ 230,000,000 jt ( 2022 % AR
130,000,00070) WIRTTELE © WEBAARKE
206,577,0007C (20224 : AR#¥ 94,500,000
70) o HEERITERBARENERIFRITE S
(KMtz16(a)) KA -

HESE

R2023F 20226 12A31H r HEEBEE
EFREINT ¢

Within 1 year or on demand R—FARATIRER

After 1 year but within 2 years —FIRERWFA
After 2 year but within 5 years MERERAFA
After 5 years AFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
9,585 9,725
7,533 7,591
14,331 18,480
— 1,632
21,864 27,703
31,449 37,428

DEFERRED INCOME

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, deferred income of the Group
represented grants received from the government to compensate
the capital expenditure on production lines. Government grants
are recognized as other income over the useful lives of relevant
machinery.

The amount of government grants recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss is disclosed in note 5.

EFEWA

R2023F K 202261283108 » AEEKIELT
WAEBBNRBRUAREEEREAT HAMH
B o BT Bh A AERAME 2R B0 R (5 R SR BRIV FERR A
HAWA o

WERE BERERNBRITHB RN E -
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

(i) Pre-IPO Scheme

On November 17, 2020, the shareholders of the Company
approved the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-1PO
Scheme”) which is a share-based incentive plan to reward,
retain and motivate the Group’s employees, directors and
consultants (collectively, “eligible persons™). Under the Pre-IPO
Scheme, the directors of the Company are authorized, at their
discretion, to grant share options to acquire ordinary shares
of the Company to eligible persons on a fair and reasonable
basis with reference to the performance of the Company and
contribution of the individuals.

(a) The terms and conditions of the share options granted
are as follows:

23. UEREEURD BERDN

X5

O

BEXAFERER &

H2020F 11 A17H - RARQEREHE
BAAFREERIERET S ([ERDMER
ERsTEl]) - 1ERER  RBRIEASE
EES - EFKEM(HBIEERALD
IR B EET B - BB ERRFAEERIET
g ARPEFEERRATFTEENE
A DERRNFNRARBEANER - B
BRAGEABATREBEAARLAEBREN
FERRHE -

(2) BELBRBOERRIEHDT -

Number of  Contractual Vesting
options life of options conditions
BREHE BRENSHH BEGRY

Options granted to directors: RESEHNERE

— On November 17, 2020 —72020%11A17H 4,414,000 10 years Note a
104 Mizta

— On December 9, 2020 —A2020F12 A9H 10,870,000 10 years Note a
104 fisa

Options granted to employees:  [A{ES & MEEMRE :

— On November 17, 2020 —72020%11A17H 12,927,600 10 years Note a
104 Mizta

— On December 9, 2020 —A2020F12 59H 4,148,000 10 years Note a
104 fifsta

— On December 9, 2020 — 1202012 A9H 5,716,400 10 years Note b
105 fiztb

— On March 2, 2021 —MR2021%3A2H 3,430,400 9.7 years Note a
9.7% fista

Options granted to consultants: [R5 L REERRE -

— On November 17, 2020 —12020F11A17H 4,225,600 10 years Note a
10F fitita

45,732,000

(@ 20% upon completion of the Company’s IPO; 20% on
the first anniversary from the date of grant; 20% on the
second anniversary from the date of grant; 20% on the
third anniversary from the date of grant; and 20% on the
fourth anniversary from the date of grant.

(b) 20% upon completion of the Company’s IPO; 15% on
the first anniversary from the date of grant; 15% on the
second anniversary from the date of grant; 15% on the
third anniversary from the date of grant; 15% on the
fourth anniversary from the date of grant; 10% upon
meeting certain market conditions during the first and
second year from the date of the Company’s IPO; and
10% upon meeting certain market conditions during the
third and fourth year from the date of the Company’s IPO.
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) Pre-I1PO Scheme (Continued)

@

®)

(Continued)
The contractual life of the above options is ten years.

For accounting purposes, service condition is not
considered in the grant date fair value measurement of
the services received. The completion of the Company’s
IPO is considered a non-market performance vesting
condition which is taken into consideration in estimating
the number of options that are expected to vest. Market
conditions are reflected in the grant date fair value.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of
share options are as follows:

BA %5 SR T ot

23. ESEEE ARG RERD
X5 (&)

() BX

@

()

2023
2023

Weighted
average

exercise
price
METLETEE
US$0.74
0.74%7
US$0.09
0.09%7T
US$0.33
0.33%%
US$0.51
0.51%%

US$0.80
0.80% 7T

US$0.82
0.82%7

Outstanding at the beginning BRI
of the period

Exercised during the period BRTHE

Forfeited during the period HR UK

Lapsed during the period HRAR

Outstanding at the end HARBITE
of the period

Exercisable at the end HRAT7(E

of the period

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for shares options exercised during the year was
US$0.52 (2022: US$0.33).

The options outstanding at December 31, 2023 had an
exercise price of US$0.09 or US$1.14 (2022: US$0.09 or
US$1.14) and a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 6.88 years (2022: 7.88).

Number of
options

BRESE

37,043,508

(2,151,680)

(676,320)

(1,468,252)

32,747,256

20,360,508

RFIRERI AT & (&)
()
AR A K083 A0 ©

REFREME - SEMRERYE
R BB QFERILREER
R o« KRR ERDFEETK
HERE GBI HERNERE
HERZEENIETSRERTB K
o REH BN AFED RRT
BIRM o

AR ROV TRENT

2022
2022%
Weighted
average
exercise Number of
price options
MET9TEE BREHE
US$0.71
0.71%% 38,940,572
US$0.09
0.09%7 (1,897,064)
US$0.74
0.74% 7 37,043,508
US$0.80
0.80%TT 16,943,382

FREITEBERERITE B8
T PE 50.52 7T (20224 -
0.33%7T) ©

H2023412 531 BB 1TEINER
HEMTTEE A0.095k T8k 1.143
JT (20224 : 0.09% 7Tk 1.143
TT) T FESHE L A6.88
(20224 : 7.88%F) °
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(i) Pre-I1PO Scheme (Continued)

(c) Fair value of share options and

23. NERGEEURD BERDN
X5 (&)

() BXABBERHEE)

(c) BRENAFERRBR

assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair
value of the share options granted is measured based on
a binomial model. The contractual life of the share option
is used as an input into this model. Expectations of early
exercise are incorporated into the binomial model.

November 17,

2020
2020%
118178

LA 5% i AR SR LA B BUS AR 7%
HAFEZERRHBEREND
FEFE - IREERENAFE
BEtRIE BB 2 - Bk
HI& KB (ERZ AR A M 8 A B -
RAMTTENBHEFA B E

Al o
December 9, March 2,
2020 2021

2020% 2021%
12A9H 3A2H

US$0.91-US$0.92

0.91%7TZ£0.92% T

Grant date

Rt AH

Fair value at measurement date R ERENATE
Share price RADEHE

Exercise price 1B

Expected volatility BEKE

Option life BIRERR
Expected dividend yield HEREE
Risk-free interest rate BRI

US$1.00
1.00%7T
US$0.09
0.09%7T
43.93%
10 years
104
0.00%
0.86%

US$0.38-US$0.48  US$0.46-US$0.54
0.38%7%0.48%T  0.46%7TZ0.54%TT

Us$1.01 US$1.14
1.01%1 1.14=71
US$1.14 US$1.14
1.14%7T 11457
43.23% 43.21%
10 years 9.7 years
10% 9.7F
0.00% 0.00%
0.94% 1.43%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining
life of the share options), adjusted for any expected
changes to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 23. UEREEURGHERDN
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) R5 (&)
(i) Pre-1PO Scheme (Continued) () BEXLFERERGE (&)
(d) Equity-settled share-based payment expenses (d) TEREBERPERNUESEE
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss AR BERE AT

are as follows:

2023 2022
2023% 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
Research and development expenses #1232 281 10,609
General and administrative expenses — B &ITHER 15,891 32,439
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RO HFAX 1,192 2,633
17,364 45,681
During the year, the expenses include equity-settled FRMNAS BERER TR
share-based payment to consultants of RMB1,702,000 mEE RN AERNNRARE
(2022: RMB5,322,000). 1,702,000 7T (2022 F : ARM

5,322,0007T) °

(ii) Post-1PO Scheme (i) EX2HREEE

On April 1, 2021, the shareholders of the Company approved MR2021F4[18 AR BIREIEE X
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Post-1PO Scheme”) ARAEEEERESE(BERAMRER
which is a share-based incentive plan to reward, retain and sTElD - (EREE - BB RABEERA
motivate the eligible persons. Under the Post-IPO Scheme, the THRMD BB E - BEBEEXAAREERE
directors of the Company are authorized, at their discretion, to T8 ARAEFERERATEENE
grant share options to acquire ordinary shares of the Company £ 2ERRRNRBREANTE - B
to eligible persons on a fair and reasonable basis with BEREERATREBEARARERERE
reference to the performance of the Company and contribution REARHE -

of the individuals.
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(ii) Post-1PO Scheme (Continued)

(a) The terms and conditions of the share options granted
are as follows:

23. NERGEEURD BERDN

R (&)
(i) BEXAFARERE(HF)

(a) CEOBEENERRRGHDT

Number of Contractual life  Vesting
options  of options conditions
BRESE BRENSHH BERS
Options granted to directors: REEFLMERE
— On 15 December 2022 —2022F12A15H 1,000,000 10 years Note a
10F MiTa
— On 15 December 2022 —12022F12A15H 880,000 10 years Note b
105 H&Eb
Options granted to employees: ES XL MERE :
— On 15 December 2022 —1R2022%12A15H 1,440,000 10 years Note b
105 Kb
— On 15 December 2022 — 12022 12A15H 840,000 10 years Note ¢
10F MiEc
— On 15 December 2022 —M2022%12A15H 3,660,000 10 years Note d
10F Kzt
7,820,000

@

(b)

©

50% on the date of grant; and 50% on the first
anniversary from the date of grant.

10% on the first anniversary from the date of
grant; 10% on the second anniversary from the
date of grant; 10% on the third anniversary from
the date of grant; 10% on the fourth anniversary
from the date of grant; 40% upon meeting certain
research and development as well as financial
performance milestones; and 20% upon meeting
certain market conditions.

10% on the first anniversary from the date of
grant; 10% on the second anniversary from the
date of grant; 10% on the third anniversary from
the date of grant; 10% on the fourth anniversary
from the date of grant; and 60% upon meeting
certain research and development as well as
financial performance milestones.
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50% A B B R & @R
FERE -

() 10% A F T HER-ER & (EE
FHRE  10%NRE A
HENE _FARFARE
10% A%t B HI#EM E =1
AERARE  10%RE B
HEMENEAFARR
40% NS T 2 R B 7S
RIRBRERRE 0 k20%
RERE T T B IEHERR
%o
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 23. U EREEURDAERY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) R5 (&)
(ii) Post-1PO Scheme (Continued) (i) BEX2FREEE (&)
(a) (Continued) (a) #&

(d) 25% on the first anniversary from the date of (d) 25% T HEREE R & (EE
grant; 25% on the second anniversary from the FAHBB 250K EEA
date of grant; 25% on the third anniversary HREME_ERAFERE
from the date of grant; and 25% on the fourth 250 R H B BRI E =
anniversary from the date of grant. BERFAERE : R25%RNE

i A AR Y LA A F B 55
B o

The contractual life of the above options is ten years. BRSNS O RL10EF o

For accounting purposes, service and performance MEFEREMS - 2GRS

conditions are not considered in the grant date fair RFTERKRBRELE B HN A TE

value measurement of the services received and I R E AR R R BRIEM o TR
performance met. The completion of certain research ETHERMBREBRBERR

and development as well as financial performance AR B E B B RES A

milestones are considered non-market performance ZERMIFMBRIBBIGME - KE

vesting conditions which are taken into consideration in B EIR QA FER R M5 G o

estimating the number of options that are expected to
vest. Market conditions are reflected in the grant date

fair value.
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) MERIERNZE RnEFEITEER
share options are as follows: T:
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
pilik: hnsE
FIGTHEME BRESE FH9FTEE(E FEAREEE
Outstanding at the beginning Ei#31 751
of the period HK$3.26 7,820,000 — —
3.26% T
Granted during the period R HK$3.26 7,820,000
3.26/87T
Exercised during the period HiR77{E HK$3.26 (143,500) = =
3.26% 7T
Forfeited during the period  HiRRUL HK$3.26 (839,750) = =
3.26% T
Lapsed during the period BB HK$3.26 (41,250) = =
3.26% T
Outstanding at the end of AR BTSN HK$3.26 6,795,500 HK3.26 7,820,000
the period 3.268T 3.26/57T
Exercisable at the end of HIRAI T HK$3.26 1,497,250 HK3.26 500,000
the period 3.26#ET 3.26/87C
The options outstanding at December 31, 2023 had 2023912 A31 HEITEINERR
an exercise price of HK$3.26 and a weighted average HERTTEER3.26/87T » MiET
remaining contractual life of 8.96 years. Fleh & #EA/38.965F °
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23.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(ii) Post-1PO Scheme (Continued)

©

(@

23. NERGEEURD BERDN
X5 (&)

(i) BEXRFIRERE(E)

Fair value of share options and (c) BRENATERER
assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share LA % H B AR A MR ER ) B BUVAS AR TS
options granted is measured by reference to the fair WATEDZ2EMEEBRENR
value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair FEETE o FTRHEREN D TE
value of the share options granted is measured based on BEHRIE —HARE G 8 - Bk
a binomial model. The contractual life of the share option KA #HA B ERZ B AL iy 8 A B -
is used as an input into this model. Expectations of early RAMMTENBEHEFAZENE
exercise are incorporated into the binomial model. Bl o
December 15,
Grant date 2022
RHAH 2022%12A15H
Fair value at measurement date =i Eo/NS | HK$1.44 — HK$1.84
1.44%8tE1.84% T
Share price IRAD(EHE HK$3.23
3.23% 7T
Exercise price fT6EfE HK$3.26
3.26/8 7T
Expected volatility TEER &) 47.19%
Option life RERR 2 HARR 10 years
10%
Expected dividend yield THAAAR B & 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate R = 3.65%
The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility T8 HR)K B T B IR SR B (IR R AR A
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining IiEEIOFIAEARETE) - WRER
life of the share options), adjusted for any expected DFE R TE B R A R AOR B
changes to future volatility based on publicly available {ELH A% - HHIRE I ERE LR
information. Expected dividends are based on historical BISH - THHABBRIENES
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions AR AT EMATEEEATE -
could materially affect the fair value estimate.
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses (d) TEREBERPERNUEREE

recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
are as follows:

Research and development expenses  ffZ5Fs2
General and administrative expenses  —f& M{TEE
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R HFAX

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JkRHERIGRR A A

VAR TR N RBA X

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
1,661 88
2,309 878
689 37
4,659 1,003



equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of

24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Movement in components of the

Notes to the Financial Statements

BT ERR o

24 . EXK #E
(a) Bz E 5

REBFA RS ERBY FINRFRE
REEmEHER o ANFE
sfER AR AR ERE MY RHR 2

BREERF N AR

the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity HEBFIEHNTX
between the beginning and the end of the reporting period are
set out below:
Company ARF]
Share Share Other Capital Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
B REEE Hibfate BhGEE EXffE RitHR &3t
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
i3 ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT AREBTTR ARET
Balance at January 1,2022  R2022%1A1AM%S 5,413,964 (129,033) 86,759 (8898)  (2542,628) 2,820,164
Changes in equity for 2022: 20225 HEXEE :
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (12,369) (12,369)
Other comprehensive income  Efti 2 EE - - - - 247,341 = 247,341
Equity-settled share-based MR EAR A A
payment expenses EROAFRR - - - 48,051 - = 48,051
Shares issued under share REBRE 2R T0RN
option schemes —* 13,547 - (12,297) - - 1,250
Balance at December 31, 2022 12022512318 &
and January 1, 2023 2023F1A1BMER —* 5427511 (129,033) 122,513 238,443 (2,554,997) 3,104,437
Changes in equity for 2023: 20235 MEHSH :
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - 26,495 26,495
Other comprehensive income  Eft 2 - - - - 88,107 - 88,107
Equity-settled share-based IWREEENRAA
payment expenses ARMAREY - = = 22,023 = = 22,023
Shares issued under share REBREEIETRD
option schemes —* 16,125 - (14,272) - - 1,853
Lapsed share options BRHmRE - - - (7,457) - 7,457 -
Balance at December 31, 2023  12023F 12318 /45 —* 5,443,636 (129,033) 122,807 326,550 (2,521,045) 3,242,915
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. B @ IR ARKL0007T
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24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24 BXR f#i& (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Share capital (b) BRZ&
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
2023 2022
2023% 20228
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RHEE &8 RH#A S8
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFT AREFR
Ordinary shares, issued and ERTRMREER
fully paid
At the beginning of the year F4 543,843,992 541,946,928 =+
Shares issued under share option BB RE B TR
schemes 2,295,180 1,897,064 —*
At the end of the year FX 546,139,172 543,843,992 —*
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. < @R ARKL 0007
(c) Issued ordinary shares (c) ERITEBER
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends LBRHA ABRKRTRERNRE
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per WRARBAE ERERBRHEE —FN
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank BEE - IALTBRNAARFBREES
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. ZHEHENRER
(d) Dividends @) KRE
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend BETEFRNEZE2023F12A318 1t
for the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022: Nil). FEMEMRE (20225 : ) ©
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24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Nature and purpose of reserves

O

(i)

GiiD)

(iv)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the ordinary shares of the Company and
proceeds received from the issue of the ordinary shares
of the Company. Under the Cayman Companies Act, the
share premium account of the Company is distributable
to the ordinary shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
would be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of the business.

Other reserves

Other reserves represent (i) the waiver of the amount
from a shareholder arising from the issue of the
Company’s ordinary shares to a shareholder as deemed
distribution to a shareholder; and (ii) the waiver of the
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries arising from research
and development activities as capital contribution to
the Group, pursuant to instructions from the then
ultimate holding company in July 2020 and August 2020
respectively.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the portion of the grant
date fair value of unexercised share options granted to
employees, directors and consultants of the Group that
has been recognized in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments in note 2(0)(ii).

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition
of Zhaoke Guangzhou from Zhaoke PHK and the
investment cost as originally contributed by Zhaoke
PHK.

BT ERR o

24 B R ikt (&)

(e) FEMHERBH

O

(i)

@iiD)

Q%)

R4 E

Wi s B R A A R &R E A
NAVEITE BB PTIS RIBZ
MHZH - REREQRDE AR
AR BERAT DK FARAE
BRR - EEREEE D IRE Z
A& - ARRABEINATER
TBERIEE o

Hith it 5

Hih B ERBEERSEERAR
1412202097 A % 202048 A
HRETR - (YRERARQBR—Z
P& PR B 1T 2 AR i B Uk — Z IR R Y
FIE - AEARER—BREDIE
R (i) B4 S0 R A 25 V8 0 1 A~ 1R) 2R B
BARIMNIE - (EAEASEND
g °

—ENE

BARBEERETALEERE
B EFRERMATENER
EREEAHNAFES 2R
B 5E2(0) (i) F BLIARR (5 A A
NN S 5T BER RS ©

Ot
B EEERAIR X T RS
JERHEMN 2 S B RE 2 A FESK

MEXRENTHERERAZMH
HZERE °
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24.CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(CONTINUED)

24 B R ikt (&)

(e) EHEMHER B (&)

(e) Nature and purpose of reserves

(Continued)

(v) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations with functional currency other
than RMB. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 2(s).

() Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholders return, taking into consideration the future of
the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows and projected
capital expenditures.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares, new debt financing or the
redemption of existing debt. The Group made no changes to
its capital management objectives, policies or processes during
the current and prior years.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks, for which the Group
considered to have insignificant credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group has assessed that during the year, trade and other
receivables has not had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Thus, a 12-month expected credit
loss approach that results from possible default event within
12 months of the end of the reporting period is adopted
by the Group. The Group assesses the credit quality of the
counterparties by taking into account their financial position,
the past loss experience, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking information at the end of the reporting period.
Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables
is set out in note 15.

(b) Ligquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
Company’s shareholders when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

B H5 sk M et

25. ¢AKMEEREMIT A
NFE

$EIEH%%%¢Eh% CRBES - FIE

HEER - NEBEERZSRAROM O KRS
laﬁ%%ﬂ % BT A B2 BhJEL R B 3R BUR AE )
T
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25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

25. cRiEREENR SR T E
DNEE(E)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) nEEZ/EE (&)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest

TRIRAEEFTESBREBENREH
ROBTROHR - HREAHARBIRER
ERE(BREERRONEFENFEN
o RMAFEFIE - AIRBRBER
EERTT M RETE) A R AN E B AT B8 N A
R AHGE

date the Group can be required to pay:

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ANRERRE R
Within ~ More than ~ More than
lyear  1lyearbut 2 yearsbut

oron less than lessthan ~ More than Carrying

demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
R-FRg BB-F BBmE

RER BORME BOYREE fichhik:3 E ik

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT  ARBTT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR

As at December 31, 2023 12023%12A31H
Trade and other payables ZAREMENTE 116,637 116,637 116,637
Amounts due to related companies  JEMEIBARIZIE 2,473 2,473 2,473
Bank loans FITER 206,577 206,577 206,577
Lease liabilities HERR 9,859 34,599 31,449
335,546 360,286 357,136
As at December 31, 2022 120225128318
Trade and other payables ZAREMENTE 83,418 - - - 83,418 83,418
Amounts due to related companies  JEMERARZE 6,897 - - - 6,897 6,897
Bank loans HATEH 94,500 = = = 94,500 94,500
Lease liabilities HERRE 9,899 8,166 21,883 2,193 42,141 37,428

194,714 8,166 21,883 2,193 226,956 222,243

(c) FIERE

REERBERRNZBFI R ZAOER
BERRITER - M2 HABIEM AR
EiSM RS e mELNESRERNEE
BREGERTERN - ARERREBRNAE
EMEFEHN TR A ARREEKAGE
MEERE  MHEFEEPHrEcRE
EERRSRENERER - BERNE 0 K
SEHEBENFRRBITERK ©

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-bearing financial liabilities at variable
rate at the end of the reporting period are bank loans, and
the cash flow interest risk arising from the change of market
interest rate on the balance of relatively short maturity is not
considered significant. The Group’s interest-bearing financial
liabilities at fixed interest rates at the end of the reporting
period are lease liabilities that are measured at amortized
cost, and the change of market interest rate does not expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Overall, the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk is not significant.
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25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25. 2RERBEEREHMIA

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL DNFEGE)

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (d) E¥EfE
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through AEEEBENEERBREERGSHER
different functional currency in different subsidiaries which AITENEER  ZEWBARELINA
give rise to cash and bank balances and payables that are RBEITHFENNEEE LMY EREFHE
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency IR S RIRTTAEBRIA R ERFIE - EAL
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The BRI EEEERRITERET

currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily EUR and US$.

(i) Exposure to currency risk () HEEYRE

The following table details the Group’s exposure at TRAMAEERREARAC
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising REEXBBEUNEAERBEMSE
from recognized assets or liabilities denominated in a BEIRE BB AINE B EHE) M E £
currency other than the functional currency of the entity BEERER - REREH - BERK
to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the SEIAAREIIR - ERAFLEB
amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated RIBNERRE RIRE o BN TSR
using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences MBBRMERAEEZ BB
resulting from the translation of the financial statements EAENERTESELERN -

of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation
currency is excluded.

Exposure to foreign currencies

SMERER
2023 2022
2023% 20225

US$ EUR USss$ EUR

EY BT ES B

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETR AR®T T AR®F T

Cash and cash equivalents & NBELEEY 28,564 5,145 689

Trade and other payables B 5 REMERTIE - - (1,733)
Net exposures arising from  CHEREEEBEELN

recognized assets and R F R
liabilities 5,145 (1,044)
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25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25. cREREEREMTA

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL DNFEGE)

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) BE¥Efz (&)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) HBESW

The following table indicates the instantaneous change TR BURMEFT A H R B EUR
in the Group’s loss after tax (and accumulated losses) TEMERT - MRBRERARSKE
and other components of consolidated equity that would SEMERS KRR INEEERRZ

arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period

AHREE  KNEBERBRER
(RRFHER) RirA R LA

had changed at that date, assuming all other risk oG IR R BN S E o

variables remained constant.

plopic
2023%
(Decrease)/
Increase/  increase on
(decrease) loss after
in foreign tax and
exchanges accumulated
rates losses
REBEER
SMEER RitEE
EF/(TH) (R2),/ 1
RMB’000
ARBT T
uss$ I (1,428)
1,428
EUR BT
* The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000.

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ loss after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into RMB at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.
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2022
20224

(Decrease)/

Increase/ increase on
(decrease) loss after
in foreign tax and
exchanges accumulated
rates losses

BB EEBER

SNEEER RitEE
£7/(TH) (R2),/#m
RMB’000

AREF T
5% (257)

(5%) 257

5% 52
(5%) (52)

* BHeEIRAREL 0007 ©
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25.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25. 2RERBEEREHMIA
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL DNFEGE)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(e) Fair value measurements (e) AFEE
All other financial instruments are carried at amortized costs M2023F 2022612 A31H * fTEH
not materially different from their fair values as at December heEMmIAKEEATFTETEEAEZRN
31, 2023 and 2022. BIHRARTER
26.COMMITMENT 26. &R
Commitments outstanding at December 31, 2023 not provided for in BIISHER AR 2023412 A31 A WA B BN RE
the financial statements were as follows: TTAREWT -
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Contracted for research and development PR ETH
expenses 9,841 239,027
Contracted for acquisition of machinery and M EREE RRETN
equipment 13,637 13,441
Contracted for purchase of materials BB EMRETL 34,800 24,691
58,278 277,159
27.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 27. EXBEBE RS
TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel (a) TEEEBANSFH
remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, TEBEFEERREASFHM(BER AT
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as IOFfBEANBIEE KM F10FHEE T
disclosed in note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as e EERE)NT

disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREET T

Salaries and other emoluments He MEHMIME 26,491 25,430
Discretionary bonuses BIBTEAL 6,590 6,339
Share-based payments AR R B ERER S IR 16,080 33,917
Retirement scheme contributions RIREEIE TR 1,150 1,243

50,311 66,929

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 7(b)). Fol@EEst Al 8 TR [(RHTEE7 (b)) °
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27.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financing arrangements

Lease liabilities due to Zhaoke FERPIRRIEEZ (M) BIR

27 EXREB LR 5 (&)

(b) HELH

Amounts owed by
the Group to a related party  Related interest expense

FEEER—RBBERE HERFI X
As at December 31, Year ended December 31,
M12A31H HZ12A318LFE

2023 2022 2023 2022

2023 20224 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT AR¥ET T AREEFTT

28,520 33,957

Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) RAMEEEE
Limited
Note: The outstanding balances arising from the leasing arrangements

with Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited are included
in “Lease liabilities” (note 21). Further details of the lease
arrangements are set out in note 12(b)(i).

On March 1, 2022, Zhaoke Guangzhou renewed the leasing
arrangements in relation to the leased premises with Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (“Lee’s
Pharm”), a substantial shareholder of the Company. The
terms of the arrangements commenced on March 1, 2022 and
will expire on January 31, 2025.
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27.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 27. EXBAH AR S ()
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(c) Other significant related party (c) BEtEXEH XS
transactions
The Group had the following transactions with related parties: AEEEEESITENTRS -

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31HLFE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT
Purchase of goods BEER
Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian Fa Pharmaceutical &/ JKRIEE 3B LA 1R A7)
Limited (note (i)) CiEELO)) 162
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) JkRtEEZE (FEIN)BRAF)
Limited (note (ii)) (F3E(ii)) 735
Procurement of CRO Services BECROMRK
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. KB EE(AR)BRAA
Limited (note (iii)) (MSECii)) 15,124
Procurement of administrative services BEE{THR®E
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) JkRI B (BN AR AT
Limited (note (iv)) (MIRE@V)) 153
Procurement of CMO Services BECMOR
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. KB (AR)BRAR
Limited (note (v)) (HFEEV)) =
Acquisition of distribution rights Wi iE o S RE
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. KB B (AR)BRAR
Limited (note (vi)) CEICD)) =
Short-term lease of properties WEEHEE
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited  JKRIZ% (A HE)GR AT
(note (vii)) (BRECvii)) -
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27.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Other significant related party
transactions (Continued)

Notes:

(i) This represents purchase of goods from Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian
Fa Pharmaceutical Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of Lee’s Pharm, in respect of materials for research and
development.

(ii) This represents purchase of goods from Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Guangzhou) Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of Lee’s Pharm, in respect of equipment for research and
development.

(iii)  This represents CRO Service fee paid to Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, in relation to research and development.

(iv) This represents consultancy service fee paid to Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm, in relation to research and
development.

w) This represents CMO Service fee paid to Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s
Pharm, in relation to manufacture and supply of goods.

(vi)  This represents acquisition of distribution rights and associated
assets of a drug from Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited,
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm.

(vii) This represents short-term lease of properties from Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm.

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules
relating to connected transactions

The related party transactions disclosed in note 27(b) and
(c) above constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions. Among which, purchase of goods,
procurement of administrative services and short-term lease
of properties are exempt from the disclosure requirements
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as they are below the
de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1). The disclosures
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in
section headed “Connected Transactions” of the Report of
Directors.
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(c) RttEXBEH XS (&)

BiRE

0] LA M B R BRI R B AR
REAFRAEROEZZEMNBRF)
BEEM -

(i) ERMERBAAMEX(EMN)ERA
A(FRAREFNEZZ2EMNBAR)BE
58 .

g

(i) IERMBRKNEE(ER)ARAR(E
KAEBOEEZENBAR)ZMHH
CROMREEF -

(iv) ESFEEIERER (BRI BRAE(F
RAEBNMZE2EWEAF) AR
BRBER -

(v) ERREsEk#tEERRKHEZEER)
BRAF(ERAEROEEZ2EHRBA
Al HHICMOBRB & A ©

(vi) HERAMEX(SIE)ERAR(FEAE
BE R 2 E M A R) KB — e
D RAREE o

(viiy EREAMEXE(BR)BRAR(FEX
ZmOEE2ENBAR) MMEEHA

=

=3

(d) BEEXZEHLHAER

EXHFE27(0) R ) BENBE TS
BREER ST EBERS - HF - B
BEEW BETHREENERHHEER
BN EHRBIE14A.76(1) (EHIKEA R IK
o EHREET EMAAETHASZHE
BT o EARAE+OAZAETHE
BHNESSHRETHAERS | -
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28.COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 28. AT EH MBI AR RE

FINANCIAL POSITION

At December 31,

A12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T AREETTT
Non-current assets FREEE
Intangible assets mEAE 106,752 103,815
Investments in subsidiaries RETBARIMNEE 14 144,130 126,902
250,882 230,717
Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments i FEUCGRIE R IB A FOE 8,336 8,356
Amount due from a subsidiary FEU— P R B ZIE 1,827,903 1,530,923
Pledged bank balances BIRIRRITER 68,394 35,763
Time deposits with original maturity JREEA A BB =8 A 8 EBFER
over three months — 8,873
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 1,093,156 1,295,407
2,997,789 2,879,322
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals Hip e sE R EE R 5,756 5,602
5,756 5,602
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,992,033 2,873,720
Net assets EEFE 3,242,915 3,104,437
Capital and reserves ERREE 24
Share capital &R 24(b) = ==
Reserves & 3,242,915 3,104,437
Total equity iR 3,242,915 3,104,437
o The balance represents amount less than RMB1,000. * “HEBINAREL 0007 ©

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on

March 27, 2024.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi

=R
Director

EF

K2024F3 27 ACEE S LM RIFRETIEE -

Mr. Dai Xiangrong
L4
Director

2
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29.POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 29.
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not
yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2023 and which have
not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the followings which may be relevant to the Group:

REBZ2023F12H31H1E
FECEME S RERN
CHIRE R )52 N
EENEE

HEAVBHREATIZRAY  EASTHASEE
HREE2023F 12 A31 B ILFEHAEM B
ERARI SRR PR S IEH T SIS T H
Bl o AlRE A BMAEBNEHRIENTSIE -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or

after
RUTBE#Z2%
MM E R ER
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification of liabilities January 1, 2024
as current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)
ERGHERBLR (BRI BIHRENZES) - #EED B R RnE I wE ([ 2020FEFTZ]) 2024 1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Non-current liabilities with January 1, 2024
covenants (“2022 amendments”)
BEGTHERELR BRI HHZNZS - WERZMFnBE E ([ 2022F1857T 4 1) 2024%1A1H
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback January 1, 2024
BRI BMEERIEL6 (BRI R)HE - ERHEFHIHERE 2024 1H1R
Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: January 1, 2024

Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements

EEGHERBETR(BIR)HeREXRE B HHEERETH (BT X) 2@ ITA - #5E - HEBHELH 2024F1H1H
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: Lack of January 1, 2025

exchangeability
BB ERE 215 (BRI RN EXZ B2 - phZ Al AL

202591 H1H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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“AGM”
[ERAFAE ]

“ANDA”

[{cHEEmss

“Articles of Association”

A= R4mA]

“ASEAN”
[RE]

“Audit Committee”

[EREEE

“Board” or “Board of

Directors”

[E%2)

“Business Day”

[&%A)

“BVI”
[EBRLES]

“CBO”
[ERX%E]

“CDE”

“CEO”
[{TEAEE ]

“CFO”
[ERHMHE]

“CG Code”
[{bZEEA=FA

“China” or “the PRC”

[ B

Definitions

e

the annual general meeting of our Company
RRFBRRBEERE

abbreviated new drug application, an application for a generic drug to an approved drug in
China
LR EER TS - NP B DR SR (T B R 55

the articles of association of our Company conditionally adopted on April 1, 2021 and
affective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
RARR2021F4 A1 B B REEMIH T BB EREEBERMA - ETRERT

the Association of Southeast Asian Nations
R ERIRE R

the audit committee of the Board
EEEBRTHEZZEY

the board of directors of our Company
RARESE

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal banking business to the
public and which is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong
BRRITREMARFRIIE —RRBITEBNOEF - W2 - EHESEEARRE

the British Virgin Islands
RBELES

the chief business officer of our Company

ARREFEERE

the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (EIRZEREEETIEBEFEFF L), a division of the
NMPA mainly responsible for review and approval of IND and NDA
BHREREEETRRERENTL BREERN TENM - TEABNESARBBRTERFNEL

corneal epithelial defect

AR R

the chief executive officer of our Company
RNRRITHAE

the chief financial officer of our Company

ARAREENHE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
AR BIFSRCLETE i B AR A

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context requires otherwise, Hong Kong,
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

HEE NRHFE - RAFRM S REMIER2ERRXESEEIN - TEEES - RERPIRFRITTEE &

L\
(=W
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Definitions

“CMO”
[EFRESE]

“Companies Act of the
Cayman lIslands”

[FHERSRENE]

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”, “we”, or
“Zhaoke Ophthalmology”

[ARRA]]  [FAP Ik JERIER R

“connected person(s)”
[BEEAL]

“connected transaction(s)”
[RER 5]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[ ARARER

“Core Product(s)”
[z 0Em]

“CRO”

[CRO]

“CsA”
[BR7EZ=A

“CSo”
[EFMBE]

“DED”
[ ARE |

“Director(s)”
[E=%]

“DME”
[DME |

“EMA”
[EMA ]

U
e

“Executive Committee”
[FITEEE

the chief medical officer of our Company
ARTEFERE

the Companies Act Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
FHEHEEEF22ERANE(1961FANI3 « KRG RIEFT) - TRERT « W IIARA T gk

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited

KERMABR AT

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
R AR TR AR R

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
ERRRIE T & A RE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
R AR TR AR R

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules; for purposes of this
annual report, our Core Product refers to CsA ophthalmic gel and ZKY001
BEA LHRAE+N\ARE TZANESE  SIAFRNET - HANZOERERBEARER KZKY001

contract research organization, a company that provides support to pharmaceutical
companies by providing a range of professional research services on a contract basis
EHMERIE - DOREARUESEEERRRE - AREQATREIENLAF

a selective immuno-suppressant that inhibits calcineurin, an activator of T cells

5 TR B RS (TR MY BUE 32) HOB B I e R I

the chief science officer of our Company
KAREEREE

dry eye disease

FRRAE

the director(s) of our Company, including all executive directors, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors

ARAREE  BEEZENTES  FATEERBURTES

diabetic macular edema

KRR EHIK R

European Medicines Agency
BN ZEmER R

the European Union
BN S B

the executive committee of the Board

EEEBTHITEES

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHERIARE A A



“FDA”
[FDA]

“Financial Statements”

[Tk

“Global Offering”

[2EREE]

“GMP”
[GMP]

“Greater China”

PNGE

“Group”, “our Group”, “the
Group”, “we”

[AE @ sk F ]

“HK$” or “HKD”

(%l

“HKFRS”

[ BB BRG]

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“IND”

(e rs]

“Investment Committee”

[REZ 8]

“KOLS”

[KOL |

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ & BEERAITT A

“Lee’s Pharm”

[ 2R |

Definitions

the United States Food and Drug Administration
EEEREREEERR

the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 as
audited by KPMG
KESHRS M EHMBZNAEEH E2023F 12 A31 A I FELEEMHRE

the offer for subscription of the shares and placing of the shares as described in the
Prospectus
AR EIRFTA AR (D BB EL MO BECE

good manufacturing practice
EREELESERRE

the PRC, Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
PE B PERFIRAITRER S

our Company and its subsidiaries
RRABREME AR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREEERET

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

BRI E LR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEERERITTRE

investigational new drug, the application for which is the first step in the drug review process
by regulatory authorities to decide whether to permit clinical trials. Also known as clinical trial
application, or CTA, in China

MERRSREE  EREEURRERESAMETHRRAABRNEYELBENE - - EHETHELER
RSB

the investment committee of the Board
EEgE TREAZES

key opinion leaders, who are professionals that influence their peers’ medical practice,
including but not limited to prescribing behavior
MRS REn  HEENERER(BEETRRESTR)BFENNEXAL

April 19, 2024, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual report for
the purpose of ascertaining the information contained herein
202448198 - ANARERN AT ATETE H s &R 0 K% B A7 B H

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (2 X A % i % I 5 R 2 @), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 950)

FRAEBIZERERAF  —ERHSHSTMKZAERRERAR - EROPERZRAAER Em (ARG
§% 1 950)
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Definitions

“Lee’s Pharm Guangzhou”

[FRAZEm(EM) ]

“Lee’s Pharm Hefei”

[FERREERm (AR ]

“Lee’s Pharm International”

[ZFRARZERR B |

“Listing” or “IPO”

[ s R AREE]

“Listing Date”

[ LA

“Listing Rules”

[ LA

“MAH”

[ EWRFARAAL

“Main Board”

[ 1R

“MOA”
[VERH

“Model Code”

[&2EsT Al

“NDA”

[ e

“NMPA”

[

2

REES |

“Nomination Committee”

[fRaZAe]

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited (KRl 22 (E ) B R A 7)), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on March 3, 2011 and a subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm
KBIEZ(EM)BRAR - M2011F3A3BERBERIHAREET AR AFRASEEAIME QR

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Company Limited (k%222 (&) ERAF]), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on February 7, 1994 and a subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm
HKEIEEZE (RIE)BRAF - N1994F2 A7 ETBERINARBELRR - BERKEFNHE LR

Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the
BVI on August 1, 2001 and a subsidiary of Lee’s Pharm

Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited * —f/200148 A 1B REE Z S TMAIMERA
A - RERAREBHMEAT

the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PRI TRER R PR T

April 29, 2021, being the date on which dealings in our Shares first commence on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange
2021547290 - AIRMHRE R PAEIRE XM EE A H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended or
supplemented from time to time
Bz praE s EARAI - S TRHERT M T

Marketing Authorization Holder, an authorization acquired by the holder upon receipt of the
drug registration certificate granted by the NMPA, which allows the holder to partner with
contract manufacturing organizations to manufacture the drug concerned

BE EWRFAIRFAA - BEARKEIEREE BRI ERTMEBEGRGHTA - DHFEARSORE
WS ERLE R R

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the Stock Exchange
R ATEFRRES R (T RIERETS) - BIY XX IGEMIL 8 2 WITEE

mechanism of action

1ER# S

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
AR BIFSRCIFTE E M BEITAZ R EITE SRR HHIZESFA

new drug application, an application through which the drug sponsor formally proposes that
the relevant regulatory authority approve a new drug for sales and marketing
MELTRE  FEMBEIRARBZABEA RS AR MBI EHER LT

National Medical Products Administration, the institution that performs the functions of China
Food and Drug Administration instead according to the Institutional Reform Plan of the State
Council of the PRC

BEREMEEEER  BETEEERARENESR  RBERRMEMEEERAREITHANEE

the nomination committee of the Board
EEeRTHREEZEY

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited JKEHERIARE A A



“Post-1PO Share Option
Scheme”

[BRAMBERBRIEE]

“Pre-1PO Share Option

Scheme”

[BRAREERBRIER S]]

“Prospectus”

[HEE=EE]

“R&D”
[ ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[#iZz8e]

“Reporting Period”
[#RE 8

“Retained Lee’s Pharm Group”

[REFRALEREE ]

“RMB”
AR

“SFO”

[R5 R & 5]

“Share(s)”
A&7 |

“Shareholder(s)”
(AR R

“South Korea”

[F%2]

“Stock Exchange”

(B2 P

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[EZ2RE]

Definitions

the post-1PO share option scheme adopted by our Company on April 1, 2021, effective from
the Listing Date, as amended from time to time, the principal terms of which are set out in
“Appendix IV — Statutory and General Information — D. Share Option Schemes — 2. Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme” in the Prospectus

RAFR2021F4 B 1A B FH B HRERNERARAEEEERESS - CTRER] - HEEHRRK
HPN B EIR[ T8RN — A F R —RER —D.EREAE —2. R AREEEBERETE ]

the pre-IPO share option scheme adopted by our Company on November 17, 2020, the
principal terms of which are set out in “Appendix 1V — Statutory and General Information — D.
Share Option Schemes — 1. Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme” in the Prospectus
AATN2020F11 A 17 BERAM E R AR EERBRE S - KX 2EREANBRERPERM —EE &
—RRER —D. B S - LR ARSI ERERTE ]

the prospectus issued by our Company dated April 16, 2021
RRAN2021F4A16 A TN BRER

research and development
W aak S

the remuneration committee of the Board

EEgETHHMZES

the year ended December 31, 2023
HZE2023F12A31HILFE

Lee’s Pharm and its subsidiaries, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding our Group
FRRNEHREMBAR - AEERM - TEEREE

Renminbi

AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEREEDIESTIECGESF KRGS - KTRHER] - fFnsi A E M B

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company of US$0.00000025 each
A RIS G AR EE0.000000253 7T 1) & Ak

holder(s) of Shares
B FAA

the Republic of Korea, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its jurisdiction
AHERE - HE+T  BMEXHAEEENAE TR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited

BEMARSAARIE - AEERHREEMARARNZENE AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
AR BIRE T R R R R
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Definitions

“TOT BIOPHARM”

[TRAEZE |

“United States”, “U.S.” or

“Us”
[E ]

“US$” or “USD”
[

“VEGF”

[VEGF

“WAMD”

[WAMD |

“Zhaoke Guangzhou”

[JRFHEM ]

“Zhaoke HK”

[

TOT BIOPHARM International Company Limited (58 %% i&{p A R A /), formerly known as
TOT BIOPHARM International Company Limited ((RRE R & ZE% %5 BRAR]), a limited liability
company established under the laws of Hong Kong in 2009 and one of our licensing partners,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1875)

REBEXRMNBRAT - AIBRRERBERMNERRT - R2009F RIFEEEIKIHBERIF - /R
PIEETAl AR 2 — - ERHAEEAFT E (BRGHK5 - 1875)

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its
jurisdiction
ENBRERE  HELS -  HERZEAEZEENME R

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EBUEEEMEET

vascular endothelial growth factor, a signal protein produced by cells that stimulates the
formation of blood vessels
MEREERRET - @RFESMEENERKO—EEREDE

wet age-related macular degeneration
BRI ZFEIERE

Zhaoke (Guangzhou) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (JkKRIEM) BRRIZEY HR A 7)),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on June 16, 2016 and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

JEEHGEM) IRBIEYBR AR - K2016F6 A6 BETBRKIMNBREE AT - AEARRNEEZENE

AR

Zhaoke (Hong Kong) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Limited (JKRHFEE )RR AR AT, a
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on July 24, 2017 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company

KEHEB)REIZEYBR AR - R2017F7 A24BEBBFMKZHERAR] - BARFNEZEWB AR
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